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Sharla Dillon, Docket Manager VIA HAND DELIVERY
Tennessee Regulatory Authority
460 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37238

filed  electronically in docket office on 07/10/07

RE: Petition of Atmos Energy Corporation for Approval of Tariff Establishing
Environmental Cost Recovery Rider, TRA Docket No. 07-00081

Dear Ms. Dillon:

Enclosed for filing in the above-referenced matter is the Response of Atmos Energy
Corporation to First Discovery Requests of the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division. An
original and four copies are enclosed. In addition, an electronic copy has been forwarded to you
by e-mail.

With respect to Request Nos. 24 and 25, the CAPD has agreed to extend the deadline
through July 17, 2007. Atmos will supply a supplemental response to these two requests by that
date. 7
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BEFORE THE TENNESSEE REGULATORY AUTHORITY

NASHVILLE, TENNESSEE

IN RE: )

)
PETITION OF ATMOS ENERGY ) DOCKET NO. 07-00081
CORPORATION FOR APPROVAL )
OF TARIFF ESTABLISHING )
ENVIRONMENTAL COST RECOVERY )
RIDER )

RESPONSE OF ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION TO FIRST DISCOVERY
REQUESTS OF THE CONSUMER ADVOCATE AND PROTECTION DIVISION

Atmos Energy Corporation (“AEC”) respectfully submits these responses to the First

Discovery Requests of the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division (“CAPD”).

GENERAL OBJECTIONS

A. AEC objects to the definitions and instructions contained in the requests to the
extent that the definitions and instructions attempt to impose on AEC a burden or obligation
greater than that required by the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure and applicable statutes and
regulations governing contested case hearings.

B. AEC objects to the requests to the extent they call for information or documents
protected from disclosure by the attorney-client privilege, common interest privilege, work
product doctrine, or any other applicable privilege or protection. AEC objects to the requests to
the extent that the CAPD is attempting to impose on AEC obligations with regard to
identification of privileged documents beyond those required by the Tennessee Rules of Civil
Procedure and applicable statutes and regulations governing contested case hearings.

C. AEC objects to CAPD’s requests to the extent they seek information relating to



matters not at issue in this litigation or to the extent they are not reasonably calculated to lead to
the discovery of admissible evidence. By providing information in response to these requests,
AEC does not concede that such information is relevant, admissible, or discoverable, or that
other information on the same or similar subjects would be discoverable. AEC expressly
reserves the right to: (a) object to other discovery requests, despite their involving or relating to
the subject matter of any of the requests responded to here; and (b) object to the introduction into
evidence of any answer or produced document on relevancy or any other grounds.

D. AEC objects to CAPD’s requests to the extent that CAPD is attempting to require
AEC to provide information and produce documents beyond those in its possession, custody, or
control as that phrase is used in the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure and applicable statutes
and regulations governing contested case hearings.

E. AEC objects to CAPD’s requests to the extent they seek information and
documents that are available through public sources or are in CAPD’s own possession, custody
or control. It is unduly burdensome to require AEC to respond or produce documents that are
equally available to CAPD.

F. AEC’s objections and responses to these requests are and will be based on
information then known to it. AEC reserves the right to amend, modify or supplement its
objections and responses if it learns of new information.

G. AEC’s objections and responses to these requests are and will be made without
waiving or intending to waive the right to object to the use of any information provided in any
subsequent proceeding or trial of this or any other action. AEC’s responses to these requests are
also not a waiver of any of the foregoing objections or any objections it has made or may make

with respect to any similar, related, or future request, and AEC specifically reserves the right to



interpose any objection to further requests notwithstanding any response or lack of objection
made in this response.

H. AEC objects to requests that seek “all” documents pertaining to a certain issue or
falling into a certain category. Such requests by their nature are unduly burdensome, and
unreasonably cumulative and duplicative. When served on a corporate or other institutional
defendant, literal compliance with such a request is impossible to assure. Requiring a party to
produce “all” documents showing a certain fact when one document will do is, by its nature,
unreasonably cumulative and duplicative. And such requests are often vague and indefinite.
Where documents are produced in response to such a request, Atmos has interpreted the request
in light of reason and the matters at issue in this case, and has made a reasonable search for
responsive documents. In so doing, Atmos has complied with its discovery obligations.

1, AEC objects to any requests that it “detail” certain information on the grounds
that such requests are vague and indefinite. Atmos has interpreted such requests in light of
reason and the matters at issue in this case, and has made a reasonable effort to provide
responsive information at a reasonable level of detail. In so doing, Atmos has complied with its
discovery obligations.

J. AEC objects to any request seeking all documents reviewed by its witnesses over
an undefined time period. Such a request is ambiguous, overly broad, and unduly burdensome.

K. For the sake of brevity, AEC expressly incorporates these general objections in
response to each of the CAPD’s discovery requests in this case, whether or not separately listed

below.



RESPONSES TO SPECIFIC REQUESTS

1. Please identify each person whom you expect to call as an expert witness at the hearing
on the merits in this matter, and for each such expert witnesses:

(2)
(b)

(©

(d)

(¢)

(D

(g)

(h)

Identify the field in which the witness is to be offered as an expert;

Provide complete background information, including the witness’s current
employer, as well as his or her educational, professional and employment history,
and qualifications within the field in which the witness is expected to testify;

Identify all publications written or presentations presented in whole or in part by
the witness, including either a copy of all such publications and presentations or a
reference to where such publications and presentations may be publicly obtained;

Provide the grounds (including without limitation any factual bases) for the
opinions to which the witness is expected to testify, and provide a summary of the
grounds for each such opinion;

Identify any matter in which the expert has testified (through deposition or
otherwise) by specifying the name, docket number and forum of each case, the
dates of the prior testimony and the subject of the prior testimony, and identify the
transcripts of any such testimony;

Identify the terms of the retention or engagement of each expert including but not
limited to the terms of any retention or engagement letters or agreements relating
to his/her engagement, testimony, and opinions as well as the compensation to be
paid for the testimony and opinions;

Identify any exhibits to be used as a summary of or support for the testimony or
opinions provided by the expert; and

Please produce copies of all documents, summaries, charts, trade articles,
journals, treatises, publications, workpapers, file notes, chart notes, tests, test
results, interview notes, and consultation notes provided to, reviewed by, utilized
by, relied upon, created by, or produced by any proposed expert witness in
evaluating, reaching conclusions or formulating an opinion in this matter.

RESPONSE:

In addition to its General Objections, AEC objects to this request on the grounds that it

exceeds the permissible bounds of written expert discovery under Rule 26.02(4), which states

that a party may, through interrogatories, require any other party to identify each person whom



the other party expects to call as an expert witness at trial, to state the subject matter on which
the expert is expected to testify, and to state the substance of the facts and opinions to which the
expert is expected to testify and a summary of the grounds for each opinion. AEC further objects
to subpart (g) on the grounds that it is premature.

Subject to and without waiving these objections,

(a) AEC may call Stuart Schulz to testify at the hearing in this matter as an expert
witness. Mr. Schulz is an Environmental Specialist who has been employed by AEC
(and its predecessor, United Cities Gas Company) since 1994, Mr. Schulz’s contact
information is set forth in response to Question No. 2 below.

(b) Mr. Schulz is an Environmental Geologist and possesses the following environmental
certifications: Registered Professional Geologist (RPG) in Tennessee, Kentucky,
Missouri, and Illinois, and with the American Institute of Professional Geologists;
Certified Hazardous Materials Manager (CHMM) with The Institute of Hazardous
Materials Management. He graduated from the University of Tennessee, Knoxville
in 1987 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in geology, and from the University of
Maryland University College in 2003 with a Master of Science degree in
Environmental Management

(c) Mr. Schulz has the following written publications and presentations:
Publications

Schulz, S.P., Minnich, T.R., Scotto, R. L., Perry, S.P. ORS-Based Air Monitoring During
an MGP Site Cleanup: The Eye That Never Sleeps, Pipeline and Gas Journal, November
2005.

Presentations

Schulz, S.P. Advances in Optical Remote Sensing (ORS) at MGP Sites, presented at the
Southern Gas Association 2007 Environmental Roundtable, Colorado Springs, Colorado,
June 2007.

Schulz, S.P., Environmental Tales from Katrina, Keynote presentation at the Natural Gas
Technologies 2006 Conference, Orlando, Florida, October 2006.

Schulz, S.P., Luttinger, J. Innovative Application of Geophysical Techniques and Solid
Phase Micro Extraction Laboratory Analysis to Locate Buried Odorant Drums, presented
at the Natural Gas Technologies 2006 Conference, Orlando, Florida, October 2006.



Schulz, S.P. Bristol TN Case Study: How to Expedite Site Closure, presented at 2006
American Gas Association Manufactured Gas Plant Workshop, Chicago, Illinois, July
2006.

Schulz, S.P., Minnich, T.R., Scotto, R. L., Perry, S.P. Application of Open-Path Fourier-
Transform Infrared Spectroscopy for Ambient Air Monitoring at a Former Manufactured

Gas Plant Removal Action, presented at the Natural Gas Technologies 2005 Conference,
Orland, Florida, January 2005.

Schulz, S.P. Application of Open-Path Fourier-Transform Infrared Spectroscopy for
Ambient Air Monitoring at a Former Manufactured Gas Plant Removal Action, presented
at the Southern Gas Association 2005 Environmental Roundtable, Nashville, Tennessee,
June 2005.

Schulz, S.P., Page, G.B., Hughes II, C.T. Enhanced Natural Attenuation of BTEX and
PAH Compounds Using ORC*at a Former Manufactured Gas Plant Site, presented at the
14" International Symposium on Site Remediation & Environmental Management in the
Utility Industry, Orland, Florida, December 2001.

(d) Mr. Schulz is of the opinion that the environmental remediation work performed by
AEC was necessitated by applicable Tennessee laws and regulations and that the
costs incurred by AEC in connection with such remediation activities was both
reasonable and necessary. Mr. Schulz has been involved in these remediation
activities since they began in the early to mid-1990s and a complete recitation of the
facts known to him for this time period is both unreasonable and unduly burdensome.
Mr. Schulz prepared the environmental report that was filed with AEC’s petition in
this docket based upon the facts known to him and AEC would refer the CAPD
thereto.

(e) Mr. Schulz has not testified in any prior proceedings.

(f) Not applicable.

(g) Beyond the environmental summary report prepared by Mr. Schulz and filed with
AEC’s petition in this proceeding, AEC has not yet made any determination as to
what additional exhibits may be submitted at the hearing of this matter. This
response will be supplemented if any such additional exhibits are intended to be
submitted in connection with Mr. Schulz’s testimony.

(h) Documents responsive to this request will be made available for inspection and

copying in connection with the documents responsive to Question No. 14.

2, Please identify the name and location of all persons having knowledge of
discoverable matters in this case.



RESPONSE:

In addition to its General Objections, AEC objects to this request on the grounds that it is
vague and indefinite.

Subject to and without waiving these objections, AEC identifies the following current or
past Company employees:

a.

b.

Stuart Schulz, Environmental Geologist, Mid-States Division, Atmos Enecrgy
Corporation, 810 Crescent Centre Dr., Suite 600, Franklin, TN 37067-6226.

Douglas C. Walther, Associate General Counsel, Atmos Energy Corporation, 5430
LBJ Freeway, Suite 1800, Dallas, TX 75240.

Greg Waller, Vice President, Finance, Mid-States Division, Atmos Energy
Corporation, 810 Crescent Centre Dr., Suite 600, Franklin, TN 37067-6226.

Patricia Childers, Vice President, Rates and Regulatory Affairs, Mid-States Division,
Atmos Energy Corporation, 810 Crescent Centre Dr., Suite 600, Franklin, TN 37067-
6226.

Rad Cook, Vice President, Technical Services, Mid-States Division, Atmos Energy
Corporation, 2401 New Hartford Road, Owensboro, KY 42303.

Connie Fennell, Supply Chain Specialist, Mid-States Division, Atmos Energy
Corporation, 810 Crescent Centre Dr., Suite 600, Franklin, TN 37067-6226.

Heidi Corey (former Financial Analyst with Mid-States Division of Atmos Energy
Corporation),754 Overbrook Point, Brentwood, TN 37027 .

Dan Lindsey, (retired, former Vice President, Technical Services, Mid-States
Division, Atmos Energy Corporation), 3214 Elm Creek Court, Bryan, TX 77807.
Karol Sole (former Manager of Environmental Services, United Cities Gas Company
division of Atmos Energy Corporation), 1920 S. Highland Ave., Suite 113, Lombard,
IL 60148..

Jeff Lane (former Engineer with United Cities Gas Company), last known address is
9544 Secretariat Lane, Brentwood, TN 37027.

Gary Price (former Chief Engineer, United Cities Gas Company),410 Woodcrest
Lane, Franklin, TN 37067.

Thomas Upchurch (former Risk Manager, United Cities Gas Company, retired), 2109
Dearborn Drive, Nashville, TN 37214.

. Bryan Stroud, Lead Planning Analyst, Atmos Energy Corporation, 5430 LBJ

Freeway, Suite 160, Dallas, TX 75240.
Ray Hoover, Director of Risk Management, Atmos Energy Corporation, 5430 LBIJ
Freeway, Suite 700, Dallas, TX 75240.

Please produce copies of all documents referred to or relied upon in responding to these
discovery requests.



RESPONSE:

In addition to its General Objections, AEC objects to this request as vague and indefinite, overly
broad, and unduly burdensome. To the extent that it is meant to include documents containing
communications with counsel, or reflecting the advice of counsel, AEC objects on grounds of
attorney client privilege.

4. Please produce copies of all hearing exhibits that you plan to introduce, use, or reference
at the hearing on the merits in this matter.

RESPONSE:

In addition to its General Objections, AEC objects to this request as premature. Subject
to and without waiving this objection, AEC counsel will work cooperatively in an effort to assure
that neither party is unfairly surprised by the introduction of any document at the hearing of this
matter.

5 Please produce copies of all documents — including, without limitation, workpapers,
spreadsheets, summaries, charts, notes, exhibits, articles, journals, treatises, periodicals,
publications, reports, records, statements, Internet web pages, or financial information —
that you contend support the factual assertions, conclusions, or opinions of any of your
witnesses in this matter.

RESPONSE:

In addition to its General Objections, AEC objects to this request as vague and indefinite,
unreasonably cumulative and duplicative, and unduly burdensome. Subject to and without
waiving this objection, AEC believes that the documents principally relied upon by its witnesses
will be included among those that will be made available for inspection and copying in this
matter.

6. Please produce copies of all documents — including, without limitation, workpapers,
spreadsheets, summaries, charts, notes, exhibits, articles, journals, treatises, periodicals,
publications, reports, records, statements, Internet web pages, or financial information —
relied upon by any of your witnesses in evaluating, reaching conclusions, or formulating
an opinion in this matter.



RESPONSE:

In addition to its General Objections, AEC objects to this request as vague and indefinite,
unreasonably cumulative and duplicative, and unduly burdensome. Subject to and without
waiving this objection, AEC believes that the documents principally relied upon by its witnesses
will be included among those that will be made available for inspection and copying in this
matter.

T Please produce copies of all documents — including, without limitation, workpapers,
spreadsheets, summaries, charts, notes, and exhibits — created by or for or prepared by or
for any of your witnesses in evaluating, reaching conclusions, or formulating an opinion
in this matter.

RESPONSE:

In addition to its General Objections, AEC objects to this request as unreasonably
cumulative and duplicative, and unduly burdensome. To the extent that it is meant to include
documents containing communications with counsel, or reflecting the advice of counsel, AEC
objects on grounds of attorney client privilege. Subject to and without waiving this objection,
AEC believes that the documents principally relied upon by its witnesses will be included among
those that will be made available for inspection and copying in this matter.

8. Identify all information, documents and things filed in the present docket record,
including all responses to discovery of the parties and data request from the TRA Staff,
which Atmos produced in this docket and does not agree to stipulate to the authenticity of
such information, documents and things in this proceeding. For each separate piece of
information, documents and things which Atmos produced in this docket and Atmos
contends is not admissible as evidence describe in specific detail any objection(s) Atmos
claims as to admissibility into the evidentiary record in this matter.

RESPONSE:

In addition to its general objections, AEC objects to this request on the grounds that it is
vague and indefinite in its reference to “information, documents and things.” AEC further
objects to this request on the grounds that it is unduly burdensome. Compliance with this request
would involve a legal analysis of the admissibility of thousands of pages of documents and all of
the other “information” that may be produced in discovery, much of which may never be offered
into evidence. The legal cost of such an effort could be enormous, and largely unproductive.
Initial legal analysis of the admissibility of documents and other “information” that the CAPD
may wish to introduce into evidence should not be shifted onto counsel for AEC. Subject to and
without waiving these objections, at an appropriate time after the parties have narrowed the
documents they may actually offer at trial, AEC counsel will work with the CAPD in an effort to
stipulate the authenticity of such documents, and resolve other evidentiary questions.



9. Did the price that Atmos paid for the acquisition and merger of United Cities Gas
Company into Atmos take into consideration any discount for the environmental
liabilities of United Cities Gas Company? Please explain your answer in detail, including
but not confined to, the amount of and the procedures used to arrive at any such discount,
or the specific reasons why the environmental liabilities were not considered in the
business valuation of United Cities Gas Company.

RESPONSE:

In addition to its general objections, AEC objects on the grounds that this request seeks
information that is neither relevant, nor reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of
admissible evidence in this matter. Subject to and without waiving these objections, AEC
responds as follows:

In connection with its acquisition and merger of United Cities Gas Company (UCG),
Atmos conducted due diligence of UCG, including an evaluation of the environmental liabilities
that UCG had disclosed. However, considering the structure of the transaction, individual assets
or liabilities did not significantly factor into the valuation inasmuch as the value of UCG was
evaluated in terms of a viable enterprise. As a result, the transaction method selected by the
parties was a share exchange effected through a merger that was accounted for as a pooling of
interests, a financial accounting method for such transactions that was acceptable at that time.
Under this transaction structure, UCG merged into Atmos and out of separate corporate existence
and Atmos thereby assumed all liabilities and assets of UCG, including the pre-existing
environmental liabilities for which deferral authority had previously been granted by the TRA.
Because the transaction was accounted for as a pooling of interest instead of an asset acquisition,
the benefits to ratepayers, such as UCG's accumulated deferred income taxes, carried forward to
the books of Atmos. It should be noted that the TRA, when it approved the transaction in Docket
No. 96-01299, specifically found the transaction to be in the public interest.

10.  Please produce a copy of the last financial report of United Cities Gas Company
immediately prior to its acquisition by Atmos, including, but not confined to, a balance
sheet, an income statement and the notes to the financial statements.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, AEC responds as follows. The last
audited annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 1996 and filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) by United Cities Gas Company prior to the
merger is attached as CAPD DR1-10 ATT1. The last unaudited quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ending March 31, 1997 and filed with the SEC by United Cities Gas Company
prior to the merger is attached as CAPD DR1-10 ATT2. Both of these reports are available
electronically on the SEC’s EDGAR database found at www.sec.gov. Other than the foregoing,
there were no subsequent financial reports published and filed by United Cities Gas Company
prior to the merger.

10



11.  Please produce a copy of all documents related to any business valuations of United
Cities Gas Company performed in connection with Atmos’ acquisition of United Cities
Gas Company.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, AEC responds as follows.
Documents responsive to this request are confidential and will be made available pursuant to the
terms of the protective order entered in this proceeding. The documents will be made available
for inspection and copying with the documents responsive to Question No. 14.

12 Please produce a copy of all closing documents related to Atmos’ acquisition of United
Cities Gas Company, including, but not confined to, all documents related to actual or
potential environmental claims, litigation, liabilities or issues.

RESPONSE:

In addition to its general objections, AEC objects on the grounds that the request is
unduly burdensome in that the requested documents are voluminous and contain information that
is neither relevant nor reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.
Subject to and without waiving these objections, AEC responds as follows. Attached as CAPD
DRI1-12 ATT is an index of the closing documents relating to the acquisition. If the CAPD will
identify those documents from the list that it desires to inspect, then copies will be made
available. The acquisition agreement and amendment thereto have been copied and will be made
available for inspection and copying together with the documents responsive to Question No. 14.
All of AEC’s responses will be subject to the terms of the protective order entered in this
proceeding for documents that are confidential.

13. Please produce a copy of all environmental audits, studies or consultant reports involving
environmental issues performed in connection with Atmos’ acquisition of United Cities

Gas Company.
RESPONSE:

In addition to its general objections, Atmos objects to this request to the extent that it
calls for the production of documents pertaining to any environmental site that is not the subject
of this proceeding. Such documents are neither relevant not reasonably calculated to the lead to
the discovery of admissible evidence. There were sites in other states, but they are not the
subject of this proceeding. Atmos also objects to this request to the extent it seeks information
protected from disclosure by the attorney/client privilege and attorney work product doctrine.
Subject to and without waiving these objections, documents will be made available for
inspection and copying with the documents responsive to Question No. 14.

11



4. Please produce a copy of all environmental audits, studies or consultant reports involving
the environmental remediation sites that are the subject of this proceeding or otherwise
affecting the environmental issues in this proceeding.

RESPONSE:

In addition to its general objections, Atmos objects to this request to the extent it secks
information protected from disclosure by the attorney/client privilege and attorney work product
doctrine. Subject to and without waiving these objections, the requested documents arc
voluminous and will be made available for inspection and copying at the offices of Neal &
Harwell in Nashville, TN at a mutually agreeable time and date.

15. Please produce a copy of all documents related to any requests or claims for
reimbursement, offset, payment or compensation of costs related to actual or planned
environmental remediation activities in Tennessee from 1993 through 2007 from any
federal or state governmental or fund administered by any federal or state governmental
entity, insurance company, previous property owner (including the prior owners of
United Cities Gas Company) or other third party.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, documents reflecting receipt of
compensation from the Tennessee Underground Storage Tank Removal Fund are already
included and reflected in Atmos’ petition filed in this proceeding and Atmos would refer the
CAPD thereto. Additional documents may exist and will be made available for inspection and
copying with the documents responsive to Question No. 14.

Although no insurance claims have been paid, documents pertaining to insurance claims
not otherwise protected from disclosure by the attorney/client privilege or attorney work product
doctrine will also be made available for inspection and copying with the documents responsive to
Question No. 14.

The prior owners of United Cities Gas Company were the company’s shareholders and
they became shareholders of Atmos because the acquisition transaction was structured as a share
exchange and merger. Accordingly, no claims regarding environmental liabilities was made
upon the former United Cities shareholders.

No claims have been submitted to or made upon any third parties in connection with the
environmental liabilities subject of this proceeding.

12



16.

Please produce a copy of all documents related to any actual or potential insurance claims
related to actual or planned environmental remediation activities from 1993 to 2007,
including, but not confined to, insurance recoverability studies, insurance policies,
insurance claims forms and correspondence with insurance companies.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, responsive documents not

otherwise protected from disclosure by the attorney/client privilege or attorney work product
doctrine will be made available for inspection and copying with the documents responsive to
Question No. 14.

17.

18.

Please disclose the date, payor’s name and amount received as a result of any requests or
claims for reimbursement, offset, payment or compensation of costs to actual and planned
environmental remediation activities in Tennessee from 1993 through 2007 from any
federal or state governmental entity or fund administered by any federal or state
governmental entity, insurance company, previous property owner (including the prior
owners of United Cities Gas Company) or other third party.

RESPONSE:

See Response to Question No. 15.

Please provide a schedule that classifies the individual charges that constitute the “total
deferred costs” of $2,714,756.72 into the following categories: (a) charges by
independent contractors or outside vendors related directly to the clean-up and
remediation of the environmental hazard existing at the affected sites; (b) charges for
work performed by employees, agents or affiliates of Atmos or United Cities Gas
Company related directly to the clean-up and remediation of the environmental hazard
existing at the affected sites; (c) charges for legal fees; (d) charges for fines or civil
penalties; (e) charges for payments of judgments or claims; (f) administrative charges;
and (g) other charges (please provide a detailed description of costs classified as other
charges).

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, see spreadsheet attached hereto and

labeled CAD DR1-18 ATT.

13



19. Please provide a schedule that shows the amount of the “total deferred costs” of
$2,714,756.72 accumulated for each of the years from 1993 to 2007.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, Atmos currently has no such
schedule, but the CAPD may prepare its own from the invoices to be produced in response to
Question No. 20, and the burden of producing such a spreadsheet would be substantially the
same. Atmos, therefore, invokes its option to respond by producing business records, pursuant to
the provisions of Tenn. R. Civ. P. 33.03.

20. Please provide a copy of the vendor invoices, statements or other source documents for
the individual charges that constitute the “total deferred costs” of $2,714,756.72,
including, but not confined to, the charges identified in Schedule GW-3.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, responsive documents not
otherwise protected from disclosure by the attorney/client privilege or attorney work product
doctrine will be made available for inspection and copying with the documents responsive to
Question No. 14.

21.  Please provide a copy of the United Cities Gas Company application or petitions, as well
as a copy of all other pleadings and documents, filed in TPSC Docket No. 94-02529, In
re: Application of United Cities Gas Company for the Deferral of Accounts Incurred in
Connection with Environmental Control Requirements.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, Atmos has diligently searched its
records and has been unable to locate any documents from this docket other than the TPSC’s
order. However, the CAPD may obtain copies of documents filed in the docket from the
Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA).

22. Please provide a copy of the environmental control requirements and regulations that are
the subject of TPSC Docket No. 94-02529, In re: Application of United Cities Gas
Company for Deferral of Accounts Incurred in Connection with Environmental Control
Reguirements.

14



RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, please refer to Atmos’ petition and

direct testimony filed in this proceeding, including the attachments thereto which detail the
applicable environmental requirements.

23,

The Order entered in TPSC Docket No. 94-02529 stated, “United Cities is not requesting
approval of any ratemaking treatments of these costs at this time. The review and
appropriate disposition of these costs would be reserved for and determined in the
Company’s next application for adjustment of its rates and charges...[United Cities]
states that this issue will be reserved for determination in its next rate case, at which time
a hearing may be had.” Please provide a copy of all documents relating to this issue filed
in TPSC Docket No. 95-02258, In re: Petition of United Cities Gas Company 1995
General Rate Increase.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, Atmos has diligently searched its

records and has been unable to locate any documents from this docket other than the TPSC’s
order. However, the CAPD may obtain copies of documents filed in the docket from the TRA.
Atmos does not believe that any of the deferred environmental costs were addressed in the 1995
rate case because the deferral order was entered on October 4, 1994 and the rate case was filed
on May 15, 1995, and any amounts that may have been deferred to that point would have been de
HINIFMUS.

24,

Please provide a copy of the general ledger account(s) for each fiscal year ending
September 30 that accumulates to the $2,364,756.72 recorded as of September 30, 2006,
referenced in Schedule GW-3, as well as a copy of the financial source document
supporting each journal entry recorded therein.

RESPONSE:

The CAPD has agreed to extend the deadline for this response through July 17, 2007,

and Atmos will supply a supplemental response by that date.

25,

Please provide a schedule detailing the $797,750.77 total “General Ledger Balance at
time of system conversion following acquisition of UCG by Atmos, October, 1998,”
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referenced in Schedule GW-3, including Date, Vendor, Invoice Number and Amount for
each individual charge.

RESPONSE:

The CAPD has agreed to extend the deadline for this response through July 17, 2007, and
Atmos will supply a supplemental response by that date.

26. Please provide the cost of removal for each of the underground storage tanks.
RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, the total cost for the removal of all
tanks was $189,882.72. Atmos does not have a prepared schedule that separates the cost of
removal between each of the tanks. Pursuant to its option to produce business records under
Tenn. R. Civ. P. 33.03, Atmos would note that the CAPD could prepare its own schedule from
the invoices that will be produced in response to Question No. 20.

27.  Please describe in detail the particular purpose(s) for which the gasoline and diesel were
used for each of the underground storage tanks that are the subject of this proceeding.
Include in your description for each underground storage tank whether the tank was ever
used at all by Atmos or United Cities Gas Company, whether the tank was ever used to
support any non-regulated operation, and whether the tank was ever used to support any
operation in any state jurisdiction other than Tennessee.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, the gasoline and diesel fuel were
used by United Cities Gas Company construction and service crews to fuel the vehicles and
equipment used in the daily operation of their duties serving customers. All underground storage
tanks that are the subject of this proceeding were used by Atmos or United Cities Gas Company
with the exception of the diesel and gasoline tanks located at the 118 Second Avenue North
facility in Franklin, TN. At one time, Atmos/United Cities had a propane company and it is
possible (although Atmos has not been able to verify that this did in fact occur inasmuch as the
propane company had its own separate offices and service centers) that the tanks could have
been used on occasion to provide fuel to propane trucks. It is also possible (although Atmos has
not been able to verify that this did in fact occur) that the tanks in East Tennessee could have
been used on occasion to support operations in Virginia (see answer to Question No. 28).
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28. Were the gasoline and diesel stored in the underground storage tanks that are the subject
of this proceeding used exclusively for Tennessee intrastate regulated operations? Please
explain your answer,

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, yes. However, it is conceivable that
the tanks in Bristol, Johnson City and/or Kingsport, Tennessee could have been used on occasion
to support operations in Virginia. Construction and service crews based out of these locations
could have been called to work locations in Virginia but fueled their trucks and equipment in
Tennessee.

29, Schedule GW-1 states in part, “United Cities purchased this property located at 118
Second Avenue North, Franklin, Tennessee on December 30, 1988. As part of the
property acquisition, United Cities acquired an 8,000 gallon underground storage tank
which contained diesel fuel. At the time United Cities acquired the diesel tank, it no
longer was in use.” Please state your reasons for requesting Tennessee ratepayers to pay
for the removal of an underground storage tank that was never used and useful for
provisioning of regulated natural gas services.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, the tank was located at the Franklin
Service Center, which was used for provisioning of regulated natural gas services. Additionally,
the Franklin underground storage tank was specifically identified in the deferral application as
one of the five underground storage tanks in Tennessee where action was required. Regardless of
whether the tanks were ever used, United Cities Gas Company was required by state
environmental control requirements to either upgrade the tank to meet Tennessee requirements or
permanently remove the tank from service.

30.  Please produce a copy of all closing documents related to United Cities Gas Company’s
purchase of the property located at 118 Second Avenue North, Franklin, Tennessee
including, but not confined to, all documents related to actual or potential claims,
litigation, liabilities or issues.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, the closing documents that Atmos
has been able to locate regarding the subject transaction include the contract of sale and
amendment thereto and the warranty deed. Atmos has also located an environmental assessment
report (Phase I) regarding the property. All of these documents will be made available for
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inspection and copying together with the documents to be made available in response to
Question No. 14.

31

32,

Approximately when were the MGP site in Johnson City and Bristol placed into service
and approximately when were these plants taken out of service?

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, the Johnson City MGP site
was placed into service in 1915 and taken out of service in 1954 when natural gas came
to Johnson City. The Bristol MGP was placed into service in 1892 and was taken out of
service in 1940 when natural gas came to Bristol.

Please describe in detail the uses of the gas that was manufactured at the MGP sites in
Johnson City and Bristol. Please include in your description the various types of
customers that used gas (e.g., residential, business, industrial, municipal, etc.) and the
primary uses of the gas (e.g., heating, lighting, manufacturing, etc.).

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, initially, the primary use of gas

manufactured from the Johnson City and Bristol MGP sites was for street lighting and gas
burning appliances such as water heaters, room heaters, and domestic ranges. Commercial and
industrial uses increased as the plants were expanded. For example, according to the 1920
Brown'’s Directory of American Gas Companies, Bristol’s sales were divided 80% residential
and 20% industrial. However, by 1939, the last year of manufactured gas production at the
Bristol site, sales were reported as 59.2% domestic, 31.5% commercial, and 9.3%
hotel/restaurant. Johnson City’s sales reported for 1939 were 46.7% domestic, 0.5% space
heating, and 52% commercial/industrial.

33.

Was any of the gas manufactured at the MGP site in Bristol used to serve any customers
(including the City of Bristol, VA) located in Virginia? If so, approximately what
percentage of manufactured gas was used to serve customers in Virginia?

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, based on the historical layout of

the cast iron piping system in Bristol, it is possible that up to 50% of the gas manufactured at the
Bristol MGP site was used to serve customers in Virginia. However, the environmental control
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requirements that necessitated the remediation activities and incurring remediation costs arise
under Tennessee law because the MGP is located in Tennessee.

34.

Has Atmos or United Cities Gas Company ever made any request to the Commonwealth
of Virginia, State Corporation Commission, or any other Virginia governmental agency,
for any type of cost recovery or ratemaking treatment related to any actual or planned
environmental remediation activities for underground storage tanks or MGP sites located
in Kingsport, Johnson City, or Bristol? If so, please provide a copy of all documents
related to each such request, as well as the status and disposition of each such request.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, no. The environmental control

requirements that necessitated the remediation activities and incurring remediation costs arise
under Tennessee law, not Virginia, because the subject sites are located in Tennessee.

33,

Have any multi-state jurisdictional costs related to environmental remediation activities
for underground storage tanks of MGP site been incurred? If so, please identify all such
costs and explain how these costs were allocated to the affected state jurisdictions.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections, no. The environmental control

requirements that necessitated the remediation activities and incurring remediation costs arise
under Tennessee law because the subject sites are located in Tennessee.

36.

Please provide the address or location of the property containing each underground
storage tank and each MGP site that are the subject of this proceeding, and for each such
address or location please describe in detail the particular use(s) of the property since
January 1, 1990, including, but not confined to, the property’s present use.

RESPONSE:

Subject to and without waiving its general objections,
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Property Address or location Particular Use(s)
Franklin UST 118 Second Avenue North Used as a service
Franklin, TN 37064 center until 2004,
Property sold in 2002
and 1s now vacant.
Kingsport UST 1575 Jared Drive Formerly used as a
Kingsport, TN 37660 propane air plant.
Property sold to
Eastman Chemical in
2000.
Bristol UST 816 Shelby Street Used as a service
Bristol, TN 37620 center until 1991.
Property under long-
term lease to City for
use as parking lot.
Johnson City UST | Tennessee St. and Security Ln. | Used as a service
Johnson City, TN 37604 center until 1995.
Building demolished in
2001. Property is now
vacant.
Johnson City UST | 2833 W. Market Street Currently used as a
Johnson City, TN 37605 service center.
Bristol MGP 816 Shelby Street Used as a service
Bristol, TN 37604 center until 1991.
Property under long-
term lease to City for
use as parking lot.
Johnson City MGP | Tennessee St. and Security Ln. | Used as a service

Johnson City, TN 37604

center until 1995.
Building demolished in
2001. Property is now
vacant.
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Respectfully submitted,

7

NEAL & HARWEIA/J PLC

,r )’

)4 /
/ 7
W}Hlam T. Ranses, #9245
A. Scott Ross, #15634
2000 One Nashville Place
150 Fourth Avenue, North
Nashville, TN 37219-2498

(615) 244-1713 — Telephone
(615) 726-0573 — Facsimile

By:

Counsel for Atmos Energy Corporation

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing has been served, via the method(s) indicated

below, on the following counsel of record, this the O day of July 2007.

( ) Hand Joe Shirley, Esq.

( ) Mail Office of the Attorney General

( ) Fax Consumer Advocate and Protection Division
( ) Fed. Ex. P. O. Box 20207

(7&1 E-Mail Nashville, TN 37202

( ) Hand Henry M. Walker, Esq.

( ) Mail Boult, Cummings, Conners, & Berry, PLC

( ) Fax 1600 Division Street, Suite 700

( ) Fed. Ex. P. O. Box 340025

( N\E-Mail Nashville, TN 37203

21



CAPD DR 1-10 ATT?2




Page 1 of 14

Proc-Type: 2001,MIC-CLBEAR
Originator-ame: webmaster
Originator-Key-Asymmetri
MEgwCaY EVQaBAQICAE BDSgAWRWIANRSHKKIAVE B2 Y Zmr GaG] IUYK3IXmZv3dTINen
TWSM7vreLADDMYQaionwg5sDHI PGoaMshicdezXMu7 21T+ B+ twIDAQAB
MiC-Info: RSA-MD5,RSA,

CONwidh/ F£xnN8oLEPhs4KI01GwgB/ £1KHOIQotgELeYTI9gg0+ 2MgYSYSEYhrjox
QaiNWELSRn30uLZsi3ssCg==

<SEC-DOCUMENT>0000950144-37-005632.Ext : 19970514
<SEC-HEADER>0000950144-97-005632 . hdr.sgml : 1%970514

ACCESSION NUMBER: 0000950144-97-005632

CONFORMED SUBMISSION TYPE: i0-0Q

PUBLIC DOCUMENT COUNT: 3

CONFORMED PERIOD OF REPORT: 19970331

PILED AS OF DATE: 19970513

SROS: MASD

FILER:

COMPANY DATA:

COMPANY CONFORMED NAME: UNITED CITIES GRS COC
CENTRAL INDEX KEY: 0000102165
STANDARD INDUSTRIAL CLASSIFICATION: NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTION [4324}
IRS MNUMBER: 3161801540
STATE OF INCORPORATION: iL
FISCAL YEAR END: 3231

FILING VALUES:

FORM TYPE: i6-Q

SEC ACT: 19349 Act
SEC FILE NUBMBER: 000-01284
FILM HUMBER;: 97602997

BUSINESS ADDRESS:

STREET 1: 5300 MARYLAND WAY
LITY: BRENTWOOD

STATE: TH

2IP: 37027

BUSINESS PHONE: 61533735310

MATI. ADDRESS:

STREET 1: 5300 MARYLAND WAY
CITY: BRENTHWCOD

STATE: TH

ZIP: 37027

FORMER COMPANY:
FORMER CONFORMED NAME: SOUTHEASTERW ILLINOIS GAS CO
DATE OF HAME (CHANGE: 19670829
</SEC-HEADER>
<DOCUMENT »
<TYPE>10-Q
<SEQUENCE>L
<DRESCRIPTION->UNITED CITIES GAS CCOMPANY FORM 10-0Q
<TEXT>

<PAGE> 1

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C, 20549

FORM 10-0Q
{Mark Onej}
f X3} QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d} OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1%34

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 1%97.

OR
E 1 TRANSITION REPOKT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR i5{d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1924
For the tramsition pericd from EG

Commission f£ile number ¢-1284-1

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter}

Illinois and Virginia 36-1801540
T tate or other jurisdiction of (IR mmpioyer
incorporation or organization} Identification ¥umbery e
5300 Maryland Way, Brentwood, TN 37027
O nddvess of principar e ceser

executive cffices)

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/101105/0000950144-97-005632.txt 6/15/2007



{615) 373-5310

Registrant*s telephone number, including area cede

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1} has filed all reports
reguired to be filed by Section 13 or i5{dj of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceeding 12 months {or for such shorter period that the
Registrant was regquired to file such reports), and (2} has been sublect to such
filing requirements for the past $C¢ days.

i X1 Yes
{ 1 He

At April 38, 1997, 13,283,787 shares of the common stock of the Registrant
were outstanding.

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q
FOR THE QUARTER ENDED MARCH 31, 1997

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
ITEM PAGE
NUMBER PART I -- FINANCIAL INFORMATION NUMBER
<Gx <> <C»
i financial Statements:
Conselidated Statements of Income (Unaudited} for the 3
Three and Twelve Months Ended March 31, 1997 and
March 31, 1934.
consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) for the 4
Three and Twelve Months Ended March 31, 1997 and
March 31, 1996.
Conselidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 1997 {(Unaudited} and 5
December 31, 1998.
Consolidated Statements of Capitalization at Mavch 31, 1397 &
(Unaudited) and December 31, 1936.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 7
2 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 8
and Results of Operations.
BART II -- GTHER INFORMATION
1 Legal Proceedings. 12
[ Exhibits and Reperts on Form 8-K. 12
List of Exhibits. 13
Signature i4
< /TABLE>
2
<PAGE> 3
UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTE OF INCOME
<TABLE>
<CAPTION»
THREE MONTHS ENDED
MARCH 31,
{UGnaudited, in thousands, except per share amounts) .... 1497 1996
<8> <C> <>
UTILITY OPERATING REVERUES . ... ... . .. oo, S 147,444 5 145,709
Hatural gaB COBL . ...ttt iit it m i ieeieiaaean e 896, 888 93,803
UTILITY OPERATING MARGIN ... .. it iens 50,562 58,9306
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THELVE MONTHS ENDED

MARCH 31,
1997 19586
<Cx» <C>
$ 356,120 $ 310,563
230,448 191,087
125,672 11%,506
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OTHER UTILITY OPERATING BXPENSES:

Operations and maintenance .................... PP 15,873 16,250 62,328 62,838
Depreciation and amortization ............... ... ... . £,290 4,246 16,658 15,701
Federal and state income LaxXes ...................... 8,789 8,675 7,136 5,848
OEHEY LAKES .. it i e e i i e e e s 3,656 3,471 12,776 12,350
Total other utility operating expenses ............ 312,608 32,643 98,898 96,737
UTILITY OPERATING INCOME ... ... ..o aar s 17,954 18,263 26,774 22,768
OTHER UTLILITY INCOME, NET OF TAX ... ... v iiiirenanan 107 152 424 848
18,061 18,415 27,198 23,617

UTILITY INTEREST EXPENSE:
Interest on long-term debl ... .. ..o it 3,119 3,316 12,575 12,311
Other interest expense ................ .

Total utility interest expense ........... e 4,052 3,742 15,070 14,303

UTILITY IHCOME . ... e e e i e s PN 14,009 14,673 12,128 9,314

OTHER INCOME:
Operations of UCG Energy Corporaticn-

ROVEIMUES . . it it i it as s mcee i atansaanennsaenn .. 13,748 18,672 38,977 40,722
Operating expenses ... . . . (11,318} {14,604} {22,660} (31,467}
Interest expense ............. . (340} {363} {1,343} (1,317}
Pepreciation and amortizabion ....... ... ... {1,005} {914} {3,918} (4,308}
Other income, net ............. e b e 2,058 1,531 3,569 2,920
Federal and state InCOmME LANES ... vvivrreraennnnn {1,193) (1,641} {1,759} (2,492}
1,950 2,681 2,874 4,058
Operations of United Cities Gas Storage Company-

REVENIHES ...t eiii it inenen T, 1,583 2,949 4,268 8,549
Operating expenses ................ s (1,027) (2,392} {1,758} {5,984}
Interest eXDENSE .. ... ioainana..n. e e {213) {222} (B32}) {955}
Depreciabtion ..... ... ... il P (100} {398) (2958} {374}
federal and state income taxes ............ s {98) {108) {499} {477}
158 169 791 759

NET INCOME ... ... ... ... ..., e reaa e eaa e $ 16,114 $ 17,523 § 15,793 5

MET INCOME PER SHARE ........ . ..0cciiiiian.x e =3 1.22 K] 1.35 s 1.20
AVERAGE NUMBER OF COMMOMN SHARES QUTSTANDING ......... FEIN 13,242 12,962 13,156 12,358
COMMON STOCK DIVIDENDS PER SHARE ................o....o.. $ 9.255 s 0.255 $ 1.02 3 1.02
< /TABLE> :
3
<PAGE> 4
UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
<TABLE>
«CAPTION>
THREE MONTHS ENDED THWELVE MONTHS EWDED
MARCH 31, MARCH 31,

{ifmaudited, in thousands) 1997 1996 1997 1998
<8> <C> < <C> <{>
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Hebt iRCOME ... e renia e e e et e e s 5 16,114 5 17,523 $ 15,793 5 14,131

Adjustments to reconcile net income te net
cash provided by {used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ............ e 5,395 5,258 20,964 24,383
Deferred LaXEB ...t i icrinrin i e {as} {46} 1,579 1,728
Investment tax credifs, net ............... e (90} {90} {362} (363}
investment income from Woodward Marketing, LEC ........... {1,868} (1,267} {2,599} (2,047}
Changes in current assets and current liabilitles:
Receivables .......... P 17,003 (6,658} 9,287 {24,923}
Materials and supplies ... 75 {70} {355} 435
Gas in storage ........ - - 12,322 9,367 {9,100} 3,437
Gas costs to be billed in the ‘e 4,528 4,432 2,688 {28}
Prepayments and other ....... . 640 943 {1,562} (204}
Accounts pavable .. ... e e {29,542} 1,863 {15,367} 14,065
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Customeyr deposits and advance payments ........ e {2,953) {4,600} 446 {3,481}
Accrued interast ................ s 3,257 2,744 380 ao8
Supplier refunds due customers ...... e 7,285 2,912 {1,280} 1,597}
Accrued LAXES .. . S 7,689 13,015 1,158 5,730
Qther, net .. ... .. .. it e e 43 2,011 {1,230} 2,215
Total adjustments ..................... e 23,745 29,674 4,683 12,038

Met cash provided by cperating activities ........ 39,859 47,137 20,476 26,169

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to property - utility ..... . e {7,426} (7,106} {33,687} (32,553}
Aadditions to property - non-utility .......... . . {1,236} (1,607) (6,201} 15,385}
Investment in Woodward Marketing, LLC, e e s 125 215 705 (617}
Net cash used in investing activities ............ {8,537) {8,498} {38,583} {38,555}
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Short-term bhorrowings - RBEL ... ...ttt et a e e {23,631} {24, CL0} 33,754 {9,758}
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt . . -- -- -- 27,800
Procesds from issuance of common Stock ... ... eo i 6513 583 2,670 .22,587
Long-term debt retirements ......... e e {2,348} {3,353} {12,804} {5,208}
Dividends paid ..... ... .. i P {2,741) {2,748} {11,058} {10,584)
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities .......... . ... .. i {28,185} [29,531) 12,582 24,037
HET INCREASE (DECREASE} IN CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS ........ 3,217 9,168 (5,545} 11,651
CASH AND 'TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD ............ 7,408 7,002 16,179 4,819

CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS AT END OF PERIOD .................. 3

CASH PAID DURING THE PERIOD FOR:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized ..... e e e e

Income Eaxes .......... e i taime e e

MOWNCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Dividends reinvested ..... e e e e

Debt incurred to acquire assets of Harlan LP Qas, Inc ...... e

2,957

Debt incurred to acquire assets of Duncan Gas Service ....... s -

Common stock issued in investment in Woodward Marketing, LLC .. --

[/ ]

Increase in common stock equity due to acquisition of
Monarch Gas COMPaNnY ... ...cerenannnanann e e - 5 2,433 .= 5 2,433

< /TABLE>

<PAGE> 5
UNLTED CITIES GAS COMPANY AND SURSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
MARCH 31, DECEMBER 31,
{In thousands} 1987 1996
ASBETS {Unaudited)
<8a <C= <C»
UTILEITY PLANT:
plant in service, ab cost ...... . ... ... e e $485,173 5477,832
Less-accumulated depreciation ........... e 179,919 175,156
305,254 302,676
HON-UTILITY PROPERTY:
Property, plant, and eguipment PN 17,684 76,480
Lesg-accumulated depreciation ....... ... ..ol e 21,405 21,536
56,279 54,944
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and tepporary investments ...............cooeinnan.s . 10,625 7,408
Receivables, less allowance for uncollectible accounts
of $2,347 in 1997 and $1,746 in 19296 ........... ... . 51,%28 64,933
Materials and supplies . . 5,343 5,422
Gas in storage ..... . e 16,376 28,698
Gas costs to be bllled in the Fubure .. ... .. nnonann 8,593 13,321
Prgpayments and other ................... e e 2,747 3,387
85,612 128,969
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DEFERRED CHARGES:

Unamortized debt discount and expense, net .......... ... 2,716 2,775
Investment in Woodward Marketing, LLC, net ............ ..., 3,708 8,062
Hon-compete agreements, net ............ e i e, 3,139 3,183
Other deferred charges ............... e e e e e 14,918 15,040
30,4739 29,060

5487,6243 5513,649

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

CAPITALIZATION:
Common stock aguily ... . . oo iaiiai i e $171,270 5157,284
Long-term debb ... ...l PR 152,364 153,859
323,634 311,143
CURRENT LIARILITIES:
current portion of long-term chligations .................. 7,828 7,679
Notes payable ........... e e e e e 42,057 65,688
Aocounts payable for gas costs . 12,821 39,488
Other accounts payable ........ . 2,982 5,889
Accrued TAXES ... ... ... PN . 18,633 10,944
Customer deposits and advance payments ... 7.824 140,877
Accrued interesht ... ... .. e e ‘o &,736 3,479
Supplier refunds due CUSLOWEBYS .. ...... ..ot Ve 8,086 801
other ......... ..., e e e PR 10,788 11,514
117,865 156,337
DEFERRED CREDITS:
Accumulated deferred INCOME LAK v . vt ie et vttt iimenaae o 32,999 13,017
peferred investment tax credits ...... S 3,848 3,936
Income taxes due customers ... 4,881 4,943
QEREY i e e 4,399 4,273
46,125 46,169
5487,624 $513,649
</TABLE>
5
< PAGE> 3
ITED CITIES GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
MARCH 31, DECEMBER 31,
{In thousands, except share amounts) 1997 1296
{Unaudited}
<S> <C> <C» <> <Cx>
COMMON STCCK EQUITY:
Common stock without par value, authorized
40,000,000 shares, ocutstanding 13,277,584 in
1997 and 13,220,538 in 1996, . £109,345 5168,056
Capital surplus.............. PR . . 22,482 22,462
Retained sarnings........ e 35,503 26,766
Total common Stock eQUILY. ... i i e 171,270 52.9% 157,284 S0.6%
LONG-TERM DEBT:
First mortgage bonds...........-..- S JEN 113,000 115,000
Medium term notes, 6.20% through 6.67%, due 2000
through 2825, ..o in i ie oo e . 22,000 22,000
Senior secured storage term notes, 7.45%, due in
installments through 2007............. e e e e 9,200 9,153
Rental property adjustable rate term notes due in
installments through 1999........ ... ..o e 4,368 4,497
Rental property fixed rate term note, 7.90%, due in
instaliments through 2013........ ... ... .. ... PR 2,161 2,161
propane term note, 6.99%, due in installments
through 2002, ............... et P 4,500 4,500
ocher long-term obligations due in installments through 2005..... 4,963 4,027
160,192 161,538
Less-cuxreni reguivements........ e e s 7.828 7,679
Total long-term debt, excluding amounts due within one year.. 152,364 47.1% 153,859 49.4%
TOTAL CAPITALIZATION $323,8634 160.0% $311,143 100.0%
< /TABLE>»
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UNITED CEITIES GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying unaudited financial statements reflect all adjustments
{which are of a normal recurring nature} that are, in the opinion of management,
necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim periocds presented.
Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial
statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
have been condensed or omitted pursuant to SEC rules and regulations. The
statements should be read in conjunction with the Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
the Company's annual report for the year ended December 31, 1996,

The Company’'s business is seasonal in nature resulting in greater earnings
during the winter months. The results of operaticns for the thresz-month period
ended March 31, 1997, are not necessarily indicative of the results to be
expected for the full year.

Effective February 28, 1937, United Cities Propane Gag of Tennessee, Inc.
{UCPT}, a subsidiary of UCG Energy Corporaticon (UCG Energy}, purchased
substantially all of the propane assets of Harlan LP Gas, Inc., a retail
propane distribution company, and Propane Sales and Service, Inc., a wholesale
propane distribution company, for approzimately $2,040,0006. In addition, UCPT
entered into four ten-year non-compebe agreements with the prior owners
totaling $150,000 to be paid over a tem-year period. This acquisition added
approximately 3,100 propane customers in the Harlan, Keotucky and New Tazewell,
Tennessee areas.

on July 192, 1996, the Company and Atmos Energy Corporation (Atmos) entered
into a definitive agreement whereby the Company will be merged with and inte
Atmos, with Atmos as the surviving corporation. Under the definitive agreement,
one share of Atmos stock will be exchanged for each share of the Company’s
stock. The transaction is expected to be accounted for as a pooling of
interests. The transaction was approved by the shareholders of the Company and
Atmos on November 12, 1996. The Company and Atmos have received regulatory
approval for the merger in all the states in which they operate that reguire
approval, except Illinois. In a proposed order dated April 7, 1997, the Illinois
hearing examiner recommended that the Illincis Commerce Commission deny approval
of the merger, The Company is currently working with the Illinois Commerce
Commission staff to resolve the issues in the proposed ovder. The Company
expects to be succeasful in resolving these issues and the merger to be approved
by mid-summer, 1997. Atmos is based in Dallas, Texas, and currently provides
natural gas service to approximately 680,000 customers in Texas, Colorado,
Kansasg, Missouri, Louisiana and Kentucky.

In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement
No. 128 (SFAS 128), "Earnings per Share.” This statement establishes standards
for cowmpuling and presenting earnings per share. SFAS 128 is effective for
financial statements for both interim and annual periods ending after December
15, 1997. Earlier application is not permitted. On a proforma basis fox the
periods presented herein, the net income per share as calculated under SFAS 128
ig not materially different than the amounts presented.

UCG Energy and Woodward Marketing, Inc. {(WMI), sole shareholders of Wooduward
Marketing, L.L.C. {WMLLC), act as guarantors of a $12,500,000 credit facility
far WMLLC with a certain bank. UCG Energy's 45% portion of the amount
outstanding on this credit facility at March 31, 1997, was $4,275,009. UCG
Energy and WMI also act as guarantors on certain purchases of natural gas and
transportation services from suppliers by WMLIC. UCG Energy’s 45% portliom of
these outstanding obligations amounted to $4,937,0006 at March 31, 1997, UCG
frnergy and WHI are jointly and severally liable for the total amount outstanding
under the above obligations.

Certain reclassifications were made conforming prior year's fimancial
statements with 19%7 financial statement presentation. The Company's 1996
financial statements and other information have been restated to reflect the
acquisition of Monarch Gas Company.

<PAGE>» 8
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS QF QOPERATIONS.

Gverview

The Company's 1%97 first guarter net income was $1i6,114,080
compared to the first guarter 1936 net income of $17,523,000. Net
income per share in the first quarter of 1997 was $1.22 compared to
$1,35 for the first guarter of 1996. Net income for the tuwelve-month
period ended March 31, 1997, was $15,723,000 compared to $i4, 131,000
for the twelve-month pericd ended March 31, 1296, Net income per
share increased from $1.14 in the twelve-month period in 1996 to
$1.20 in the twelve-month pericd in 1397.

The following table summarizes certain information regarding the
operation ¢f each segment of the Company's business for the periocds
ended Maxch 31:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
THREE MONTHS ENDED THELVE MONTHS ENDER
{Unaudited, in thousands) 1897 1996 1937 1994
<S> <= <Cx <Cx» <C>
OPERATING REVENUES:
Utility ... ... e 5147,448 $144,769 $356,12¢ $310,563
Subsidiaries:
UCG Energy Corporation-
Propane Division 12,559 16,868 34,064 32,508
Rental Division ... 1,037 1,119 4,122 5,548
yrility Services Division ............... 152 585 751 2,674
Total UCE Energy Corporation .......... 13,748 18,872 38,977 +8,722
United Cities Gas Storage Company ......... 1,593 2,989 4,268 9,549
Total Subsidiaries ..... e 15,341 21,661 43,245 49,271
Total Operating Revenues ............. PN £162,789 8166,370 4399, 365 $359,834
HET INCOME:
pgeility ...... R e e i $ 14,009 $ 14,873 $ 12,128 s 9,314
SUBSIDIARIES:
UCG Energy Corperation-
Propane Division .. 719 1,583 412 1,521
Rental Division ............ . . . 106 3539 1,184 1,617
Utility Services Division ............... 25 73¢9 1,278 920
Total UCG Energy Corporationt .......... 1,950 2,681 2,874 4,058
United Citles Gas Storage Compamny ..... e 155 169 P9t 159
Total Subgidiaries .......c.oceuiiiian.n . Z,850 3,665 4,817
Total Net IDCOME .0 ve i immnaeronaeneansennn 5 17,323 $ 15,793 5 14,13%
«</TABLE>

OPERATING RESULTS-UTILITY

The utility income for the three months ended March 31, 1997,
decreased $664,000 from the same period in 192%6 and for the
twelve-month period utility income increased $2,814,000 from the
193¢ period due predominantly to the factors mentioned below:

The operating margin for the first guarter decreased from
550,906,000 in 1996 to $50,562,000 in 1997 priwmarily due to the
significantly warmer weather during 1997 as compared to 199%6. The
effect of the warmer weather was somewhat offset by the December
1996 rate increase in Georgia, the weather normalization adjustments
{WNRS) in Tennessee and Georgia and an increased numbex of natural
gas customers. During the first guarter of 1987 the net efiect of
the WNAs was an increase in revenues of $3,200,000 as opposed to a
decrease in revenuess of $1,200,000 in the 1998 first guarter. The
cperating margin for the twelve-month period increased from
$119,506,000 in 1996 to $125,672,000 in 1997, The effect of the
warmer weather during the 1997 period was more than offset by rate
ingcreases in various states, the weather normalization adjustments,
the Monarch Cas Company acguisition and an increased number of
natural gas customers.

<PAGE> 9
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Urility operating expenses other than natural gas cost
decreased $35,000 in the first guarter and increased $2,161,000 in
the twelve-month period ended March 31, 1997, as compared to the
previous year pericds. The increade in the rwelve-month period is
primarily a result of increased distribution expenses and increased
leasing expense on computer related equipment. Tn 1996, the Company
began leasing computer related egquipment as opposed to purchasing
the equipment as was done in prior years. In addition, depreciation
and amortization expense increased primarily due to additional plant
in service and other taxes increased primarily as a result of
franchice taxes on additional revenues. The effect of these
increases in utility operating expenses was somewhat offset by a
decrease in certain administrative expenses priwmarily attributable
to the Virginia/Bast Tennessee Division consolidation that occurred
in the third guarter of 1995, Five of the Company's local operations
in this division were consolidated intc two new operating centers.
AS a resull, costs of approximateily $900,000 {($550,060 after incone
taxes) related to early retirement and severance programg and
employee relocation expenses were recorded in September 1995, In
addition, outside services expense decreased from the twelve-month
pericd ended March 31, 1936, to che current year pervied. Outside
services expense for the 1998 period included incremental expenses
related to addressing labor and persennel related activities,
stxategic planning and the IRS audit.

Qther utility income, net of tax decreased $45,000 and $424,008
in the firvst guarter and twelve-month pericd ended March 31, 1997,
respectively, as compared to the previous year pericds. The decrease
in the twelve-month period is primarily a result of a decreased
amount of revenues recognized by the Company related to the release
of its excess firm capacity on the pipelines which sexrve the
Company. The effect of this decrease in revenues from the prior year
period was somewhat offset by additional revenues during the 1937
period from the incentive rate program in Tennessee.

Utility intevest expense increased inm both the first guarter
and twelve months ended March 31, 1997, ag compared to the previous
vear periods. Other interest expense increased in both pericds
primarily as a result of increased outstanding balances of
short-term debt., In addition, other interast expense for the
twelve-month period ended March 31, 1996, was impacted by a $34%,000
reduction to interest expense related to the capitalization of the
debt portion of the allowance for funds used during construction
of the twenty-eight mile main in Middle Tennessee. The effect of the
increased interest expense in the twelve-month period for the
yeagons set forth above was slightly offsat by decreased intevest on
lower outstanding balances of miscellansous liabilities outstanding
during the 1997 pericd.

The table below reflects cperating revenues, natural gas
through-put and weather data for the periods ended Mmarch 31:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Operating Statistics-Utility
———————————————————————————— THREE MONTHS ENDED TWELVE MONTHS ENDED
{Unaudited, in thousandsi} 1937 1986 1997 1996
<83 <C> fiebY <Cx <C>
UTILITY QPERATING REVENUES:
Rasidential ..... P £ 77,569 § 75,408 $168,083 5148, 345
Commercial ... .. b 41,864 40,581 96,967 82,312
Industrial ....... ... .. .. et 24,531 21,778 75,554 63,528
Transportation .......... e ' 2,675 2,850 10,380 8,851
Other ReVENUES . ... ininnaananrne s . 7,526
Total .......... e e 5310,563
NATURAL GAS THROUGH-PUT (MCF}:
Residential 10,642 12,681 23,420 25,2186
Commercial 6,276 7,237 15,711 16,191
Industrial-
FIZW . ov v enn i 2,442 2,440 7,085 7,371
Interruptible ..... .. ... .. iy - 2,525 3,024 18,625 11,551
21,886 25,416 56,841 58,329
Transportation ..... O 4,828 4,358 18,082 17,259
Total ... ... et 74,923
WEATHER DATA-COLDER (WARMER)
THAN HORMAL* . ................. e e e (3i6.1%) 6.2% {6.0%) 7.3
«/TABLE>

+*Based on system weighted average. Data for 1397 is preliminary.
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OPERATING REBULTS-NON-UTILITY

Revenues of UCG Energy Corporation {UCG Energy! decreased from
518,672,008 and $40,722,000, respectively, in the fivst guarter and
twelve-month period ended March 3, 1996, te 513,748,000 and
338,977,008, respectively, in the first guarter and twelve-month
pericd ended March 31, 1997. The propane division's revenues
decreased in the first guarter due to decreased retail and wholesale
volumes scld because of warmer than normal weather as compared to
the previous year period. For the twelve-month periocd, revenues
increased because of an increase in annual fees killed to customers
in October 1996, and an increase in the retail and wholesale price
of propane volumes sold as compared to the previous year period.
Revenues in the utility services division decreased from 1996 in
both pericds as a result of decreased gas brokerage sales due to the
transfer of certain gas brokerage contracts to Woodward Marketing,
L.L.C. (WMLLC). The rental division's revenues decreased from the
first quarter and twelve months ended Maxrch 31, 19%6, due to the
elimination of rental revenues as a result of the transfer of
certain rental units to the parvent company.

Expenses of UCG Energy. including cost of sales, decreased from
$14,604,000 in the first guarter of 1996 to $11,318,000 in the first
quarter of 1997 and increaged from $31,467,000 in the twelve-month
period ended March 31, 1936 to $32,660,000 in the twelve-month
period ended March 31, 19%7. Expenses decreased in the first guarter
in the propane division principally as a resuit of lower cost of
gales from decreased propane volumes sold due to warmer than normal
weather as compared to the previous year period. Expenses increased
in the twelve-month period as a result of the increased wholesale
cost of propane volumes as compared to the previous year period.
1150, contributing to the increase was increased general and
administrative expenses due to normal increases and the acguisitions
of Duncan Gas Service in January 1996, Arrow Propame, Inc. in
September 1996 and Harlan LP Gas, Inc. and Propane Sales and
Service, In¢. in February 1987. Expenses of the utility services
division decreased in both periods as a result of lower cost of
sales from decreased brokerage activities. Expenses increased only
slightly in the guarter and twelve-month periods as compared to the
previous year periods in the rental diviesion.

other income, net of UCG Brergy increased $527,000 and
$649,000, respectively, in the first guarter and twelve-month period
ended March 31, 1997, primarily as a result of increased investment
income from WMLLC in the amounts of $601,000 and $552,000,
regpectively, as compared to the previcous year periods.

UCG Energy's net income decreased from $2,681,000 and
54,0%8,000, respectively, in the first quarter and twelve-month
pericd ended March 31, 1996, to 51,950,000 and $2,874,000,
respectively, for those same periods ended March 31, 1997. The
decrease in net income for the first guarter ¢an be attyibuted to
decreased sales in the propane division partially offset by
increased investment income from WMLLC. The decrease in net income
for the twelve-month pericd can be primarily attributed to a
combination of decreased volume sales, increased cost of sales and
increased general and administrative expenses in the propane
division. Contributing to the decrease was reduced rental revenues
in the rental division. The decrease in net income was partially
of fset by increased investment income f£yom WHMLLC.

Effective Febyuary 26, 1997, United Cities Fropane Gas of
Ternnessee, Inc. (UCPT), a subsidiary of UCG Energy purchased
substantially all of the propane asssts of Harianm LP Gas, Inc., a
retail propane distribution company, and Propane Sales and Service,
inc., a wholesale propane distribution company, for approximately
$2,040,000. In addition, UCET entered inte four ten-year non-compste
agreements with the prior owners totaling $150,000 to be paid over a
ten-year period. This acquisition added approximately 3,100 propane
customers in the Harlan, Kentucky and Wew Tazewell, Tennessee areas.

United Cities Gas Storage Company had net income for the three
and twelve-month periods ended March 31, 1997, of $155,000 and
791,000, respectively, as compared to $16%,000 and $759,000 for the
same periods in 1996. The revenues of the subsidiary weve primarily
derived from natural gas skorage services and natural gas provided
to United Cities Gas Company.

PINANCIAL COMDITION, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESCURCES

Total cash provided by operations for the three and
twelve-month periods ended March 31, 1987, was $39,859,000 and
$20,476,008, respectively. Changes in accounts receivable, gas in
storage and accounts payable were primarily a result of the weather
sensitive npature of the Company's business. Changes in gas costs to
be billed in the future and supplier refunds due customers ware
primarily a result of the timing of the recoveries from, or refunds
to, customers of these costs through the Purchased Gas Adjustment
mechanism. The financing activities foz the three and twelve-
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month periecds ended Maxch 31, 1987, reflect the retirement of
long-term debt, dividend payments, the issuance of stock through the
Company's various stock purxchase plans and the net activity of
short-term borrowings.

The Company had authorized as of March 31, 1237, specific
purchases and construction projects amounting to $3,736,000 of its
1997 utility capital budget of $33,300,000 and $465,000 of its
non-utility capital budget of $2Z,600,000.

On July 1%, 1996, the Company and Atmos Energy Corporation
{Atmos) entered into a definitive agreement whereby the Company will
be merged with and into Atmos, with Atmos as the surviving
corporation. Under the definitive agreement, one share of Atmos
stock will be exchanged for each share of the Company's stock. The
transaction is expected to be accounted for as a pooling of
interests. The transaction was approved by the shareholders of the
Company and Atmos on November 12, 19%96. The Company and Atmos have
received regulatory approval for the merger in all the states in
which they operate thag reguire approval, except Illinois. In a
proposed order dated April 7, 1997, the Illinois hearing examiner
recommended that the Tilineis Commerce Commissicn deny approval of
the merger. The Company is currently working with the Illinois
Commerce Commission staff to resclve the issues in the proposed
order. The Company expects te be successful inm resolving these
issues and the merger to be approved by mid-summer, 1997. Atmos 18
based in Dalias, Texas, and currently provides natural gas service
to approximately 680,000 customers in Texas, Colorado, Kansas,
Missouri, Louisiana and Kentucky.

In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement Mo. 128 (SFAS 128), "Earnings per Share." This
statement establishes standards for computing and presenting
earnings per share. SFAS 128 is effective for financial statements
for both interim and annual pericds ending after Dgcember 15, 1997.
EBarlier application is not permitted. On a proforma basis for the
periods presented herein, the net income per share as calculated
under SFAS 128 is nob materially different than the amounts
presented.

UCG Energy and Woodward Marketing, Inc. (WMI}, sole
shareholders of WMLLC, act as guarantors of a $12,500,000 credit
facility for WMLLC with a certain bank. UCG Energy’'s 45% portion of
vthe amount outstanding on this credit facility at darch 31, 1997,
was $4,275,008. UCG Energy and WMI also act as guarantors on certain
purchases of natural gas and transportation services from suppliers
Dy WMLLC. UCG Energy's 4%% portion of these ontstanding obligatiocns
amounted to 54,937,000 at March 31, 1997, UCG Energy and WMI axre
jointly and severally liable for the total amount outstanding under
the above obligations.

The Company believes its short-texm lines of credit are
sufficient to meet anticipated short-term reqguirements. At March 31,
1997, the Company had £105,000,000 in short-term lines of credit
available, including master and banker's acteptance notes, bearing
interest primarily at the legser of the prime rate ox a negotiated
rate during the term of each borrowing. Under these arrangements,
$42,057,080 in short-term debt was outstanding at March 31, 1837.

<PAGE> iz
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ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS,

See December 31, 1994 Form 10-K.

ITEM &. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM §-K.
(a} Exhibits-See ligt of Exhibits on page 13 hereof.
(b} The following Form 8-K was filed curing the gquarter ended

March 31, 1937:
i. Porm 8-K, Ttem 5 dated March 17, 1987.

1z
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UNITED CITIES QAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

LIST OF EXHIBITS

12.01 Computation of Ratio of Consolidated Earnings to Fized Charges.
{Page 15}
27 Financial Data Schedule (SEC use only}
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the reqguirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1234, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunte duly authorized.

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY

/s/ ADRIENNE H. BRANDON

ADRIENNE E. BRAWDON
Vice President and Controller
©On behalf of the Registrant

Date: HMay 13, 1297
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Registrant's Telephone Number, including arvea code: {£15) 3173-5310
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12{k} of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934:
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

NAME OF EACH EXCHAKRGE ON
TITLE OF BACH CLASS WHICH REGISTERED
s <>
Noue Hone

</TABLE>

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g} of the Act:
Common Stock, without par value
{Title of Class}

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant {1} has filed all reports
regquired to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1334 during the preceding iz months (or for such shorter pericd that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and {2} has been subject to such
filing reguirements for the past 3¢ days. YES ([X] no {1

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinguent filers pursuant fo Item
405 of Regulation §-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the
best of registrant‘'s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part IIT of this Form 16-K or any amendment to this
Form 1g-K. [} :

State the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by nonaffiliates
of the registrant. (The aggregate market value shall be computed by reference to
the price at which the stock was scld or the average bid and asked prices of
such stock, as of a specified date within 60 days prior te the date of filing)
%$303,595,81%. (As of February 28, 1397}. Excludes shares owned by Directors and
OffFicers {226,18%) who might be deemed affiliates.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant's
classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date (applicable only to
corporate registrrants).

Common Stock 13,245,160 shares (As of February 28, 1337}

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE: LIST THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS IF
INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE AND THE PART QF THE FORM 10-K INTO WHICH THE DOCUMENT
IS INCORPCRATED: {1} ANY ANNUAL REPORT TO SECURITY HOLDERS; (2) ANY PROXY OR
INFORMATION STATEMENT; AND (3) ANY PROSPECTUS FILED PURSUANT TO RULE £24 (B} OR
{Cy UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933. {THE LISTED DOCUMENTS SHOULD BE CLEAREY
DESCRIBED FOR IDENTIFICATION PURPOSES.} PART 1III, PROXY STATEMENT (EXCEPT FOR
THE REFORT OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOUARD OF DIRECTCRS AND THE
PERFORMANCE GRAPH} .

A LIST OF EXHIBITS APPEARS O PAGE 56 HEREQF,

TABLE OF CONTENRTS

<TABLE>
<CAPTICN>
ITEM NG. CAPTION PAGE
<S> <C> <Cx>
PART I
1. BUSINESS ...ttt i it e et e e e e e 1
2. Properties ... ... e e e et e et ig
3, Legal Proceedings .............. e et e e e e e e e et e e e a e e e P i6
4. Submission of Matters Lo a Vote of Security Holders ... ... .. .eeiniiiiinnnnno., e 17
PART IL
5. Market for the Registrant's Common Eguity and Related Stockholder Matters .................... is
5. Selected Fimancial Data ..................... s 18
7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations ............. .. ..., o e e e e e e e e e e e 19
8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Daba ... ... i e, 28
9. Changes in and Pisagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
DIGCLOBUIE L ottt et e e e e e 28
PART 111
10, pirectors and Executive Officers of the Company ....... e e e e e e e e 28
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PART IV
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Signatures ............ et e i r e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Ligt of Exhibibs ... ... e e e e e e e e
</TABLE>
i
<PAGE > 3
PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
GEMNERAL

United Cities Gas Company {Cities) was incorporated under the laws of the
State of Iliinois on September 21, 192%. Cities' predominant business is the
distribution of natural gas. As of December 31, 1894, Cities supplied natural
gas service to approximately 320,000 custowers. In addition to its business of
natural gas distribetion, Cities sells and installs gas appliances and performs
certain appliance service work,

Since 1986, Citieg has significantly increased its customer base by adding
approximately 166,000 new customers to its natural gas distribution system. The
rable below veflects the areas of growth through acquisitions and internal
marketing efforts, including population growth within Cities' service areas.

<TABLE>

<CRAPTION>
AREAS OF GROWTH CUSTOMERS ADDED
<S> <C»
Acquisition of Great River Gas Company (May 198%) ........... 17,000
Acguisition of Union Gas System, In¢ {Pecember 1989%) ........ 65,000
Other acquisitions ................... e e e 9,600
Internal growth ............. bt a e e 75,000

166,000
</TABLE>

Cities has two wholly-owned subsidiaries. One subsidiary, United Cities Gas
Storage Company (UCG Storage), was formed as a Delaware corporation in Decewmber
1989 to provide natural gas storage services. In 1%8%, a natural gas storage
field was purchased in Kentucky to supplement natural gas used by Cities'
customers in Tennegses. In addition, natural gas storage fields Iocated in
Kansas and included in Cities' 1989% acquisition of Union Gas System, Inc. were
sold to UCG Storage. These fields are used to supplement natural gas used by
Cities' Kangas customsrs.

The other subsidiary, UCG Energy Corporation {UCE Energy), incorporated
under the laws of Delaware in 1%65, leases appliancesg, real estate and
equipment, and vehicles to Cities and others, and is engaged in exploration and
production activites. UCG Energy also owns a 45% interest in Wocdward Marketing,
L.L.C. {WMLLC) which provides natural gas marketing services to industrial
customers, wmunicipaiities and local distribution companies, including Cities.
WMLLC was formed in 1985.

UCG Energy has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, United Cities Propane Gas of
Tennessee, inc. and UCG Leasing, Inc. United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee,
Inc., incorporated under the laws of Tennessee in 1976, is engaged in the retail
distribution of propane (LP} gas. As of December 31, 1996, the propane operation
served approximately 27,000 customers in Temnnesgses, Virginia and Worth Carolina.
UCG Leasing, Inc. was incorporated under the laws of Georgia in 1987 and leases
vehicles, equipment and real estate to Cities.

Citiesm and its subsidiaries, UCG Storage and UCG Energy and its
subgidiaries, are herein referred to collectively as the "company".

On July 1%, 1996, the company and Atmos Energy Corporation (Atmosi entered
into a definitive agreement whereby the company will be merged with and into
Atmos, with Atmos as the surviving corporaticn. Under the definitive agreement,
one share of Atmos gtogk will be exchanged for each share of the company’s
stock. The transaction is expected to be accounted for as a pooling of
interests. The tramnsaction was approved by the sharcholders of the company and
Atmos on November 12, 1996. Pending approval by appropriate regulatory bodies,
the cowpany expects to close the transaction during the second guarter of 19937.
Atmos is based in Dallas, Texas, and currently provides natural gas service to
approximately 673,000 customers in Texas, Colorado, Kansas, Missouri, Louisiana
and Kentucky.
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The following table summarizes certain informaticn regarding the operation
of each segment of the company's business for the last three years ended
Decemirey 31,

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1996 1595 1994
REVENUES {IN THOUSANDS)
<S> <Cx <Cs <Cx <Ox <> <C>
DLl ily o i e e e $353, 382 88% $271,860 B7% 5280, 984 86%
Subgidiaries:
UCG Energy Corporation -
Propane DRivision ..................... ... 9% 24,851 8% 24,788 6%
Rental Pivision ................ ... ... ... 1% 5,959 2% 5,449 2%
Ybility Serwvices Division ............... 1% 3,823 1% 11,1446 4%
Total UCG Energy Corporation ....... A, 11% 34,433 1i% 38,383 12%
United Cities Gas Storage Company ......... 1% 7,443 2% 7,128 2%
Total Subsidiaries ... ... .. o i, 12% 41,876 13% 45,511 14%
Total Revenues (1} ........ e e 160% $313, 726 160% $3126,495 100%
COHMON STOCK EARNTINGS
41 00T T $ 12,791 T4% $ 5,745 58% 5 7,817 65%
Subsidiaries:
UCG Energy Covporation -
Propane Piviglon ......... ... ... .. . 1,276 8% 1,123 11% 1,122 9%
Rental DIvISIion .. ... iiiiiii e 1,237 7% 3. 693 17% 2,024 17%
Ugtility Services Division ............... 1,692 % 634 6% 604 5%
Total UCG Energy Corporation .......... 3,605 21% 3,450 34% 3,750 31%
United Cities Gas Storage Company ...... F. 806 5% 740 8% 528 4%
Total Subsidiaries ........... e 4,411 26% 4,190 42% 4,276 5%

Total Common Stock Earnings ..... e b $ 17,202 160% § 9,935 106% s 12,093 100%

IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS
VLility ...ooeiiiii i e $429,9742 B4% $389,278 85% 53158, 364 85%

Subsidiaries:
UCG Energy Corperation ................--.. 58,583 11% 47,098 10% 39,402 9%

United Cities Gas Storage Company ... . 25,092 5% 24,002 5% 23,434 6%
Total Subsidiaries .................... 83,575 16% 11,0589 15% 62,836 15%
Total identifiable Assets ........ ... ... $513,649 100% 5460,377 100% $421, 200 100%

</TABLE>

{1} Bales to affiliated companies described under "Subsidiary Operations”.

For additional information, see the "Consolidated Statements of Inccome® for
the years ended December 31, 19%6, 1395 and 19%4 under Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data,

<PAGE> =3

UTILITY OPERATIONS

GENERAL

Cities distributes natural gas under regulated rates to approximately
320,000 customers in the states of Tennessee, Kansas, Georgia, Iilinois,
Vvirginia, Missouri, Iowa and Socuth Carolina. Total cperating revenues for the
year ended December 31, 1996 were $353,382,000, of which approximately 47% was
derived from residential customers, 24% from industrial customers, 27% from
commercial customers and 2% from other sources. The ten largest customers of
Cities accounted for 5.5% of opevating revenues in 1996 and the largest of these
customers accounted for 1.6%. Cities serves a diverse industrial load with
customers engaged in the manufacture or producticon of asphalt, cars, car parts,
chemicals, electronics, food products, metals, textiles and wire, among others.
Cities also serves several colleges and a major army base.

Cities is currently structured into four operating divisions. The percent of
revenues contributed by each division for the three years ended December 31 is
as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION
DIVISIONS 1998 1935 1924

[3:3% <C» <> «C>
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Virginia/East Tennessee .......... 1z% i
Georgia/South Carolina ........... 20% 21%
Iilinois/Tennessee/Missouri ...... 22% 22%
Kansas/Iowa/Missouri ............. 26% 26%

100% 100%

«/TABLE>
HATURAL GAS SUPPLY

To encourage more competition among natural gas suppliers, the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC} issued Oxders 636, 636-4 and 636-B
{collectively, Order 636} in 1992. Order 636 requived interstate pipelines to
unbundle or separate gas sales, transportation and storage services by the
1993-1994 winter heating seascon. The pipelines' sales services were previously
combpined and scld as a2 single service. With the iwmplementabion of Order 636, the
pipelines discontinued their traditional merchant function, Each distribution
company is now responsible for obtaining all of its gas supply in the open
market . The unbundling of these gervices allows Cities more flexibility in
selecting and managing the type of services required to provide its customers
with the lowest possible priced gas while maintaining a reliable gas supply.
However, this also places an additional responsibility on Cities to obtain its
natural gas supply in the open market on a tiwely basis to fulfill its
commitments during peak demand periods. Management believes that, to date,
Cities has been successful in managing its portfolio of spot and term supplies
that it purchases from producers and marketers in the copen market on the
thirteen interstate pipelines on which it operates, resulting in reliable
supplies at a competitive price.

Another aspect of Order 636 allowed the pipelines Lo set ratesg to regcover a
higher portion of their fixed costs through monthly demand charges. As a result,
cities is charged a higher fixed amount each month, regardless of through-put.
Since Cities must contract For pipeline capacity to meet peak demand, this has
the effect of increasing Cities® fixed cost of gas. Many elements such as
company owned gas storage facilities, peak shaving plants and a liguefied
natural gas (LNG} plant and, in some instances, storage contracts with Cities’
suppliers are being utilized by Cities to reduce these higher pipeline demand
charges. Ovder 636 also reguired pipelines to get up capacity release mechanisms
on their systems to allow helders of firm capacity and firm storage to release
these services when they are not needed. Cities is active in releasing capacity
during off peak periods and the majority of revenues generated by this activity
is used to offset pipeline demand charges. Cities also maximizes its capacity
release revenues by assigning certain of its pipeline transportation and storage
contracts to agents, including WMLLC. Because of the nature of their business
these agents ave able to utilize these contracts for customers not on Cities’
system, thereby resulting in higher capacity release revenues and lower gas
costs to Cities. In addition, several projects have vecently been completed and
another project is in the preliminary stage to add additional pipeline suppliers
in several of Cities' operating areas. These projectis not only promote
competition among the pipelines, but alsc provide increased reliability of gas
supply. adding alternatives provides bargaining power which may decrease Cities'
pipeline capacity costs.

<PARGE> [

purchased Gas Adjustment {PGA) clauses in effect in the states in which
Cities operates allow Cities to pass through to its customers, subject to an
incentive rate program in Tennessee and prudency and/or administrative reviews
in the other seven states, any increase or dec¢reasge in rates charged to Cities
related to the purchase and transportation of natural gas. Effective April 1,
1995, and for an experimental two-year period, the PGA clause in Tennessee was
modified by an incentive rate program which compares Cities' purchased gas
prices to market prices. The gains or losses recognized by Cities as a result of
the incentive program were limited to a maximum of $25,000 per month in the plan
vear ended March 31, 1995, and limited to a maximum of $608,000 per year in the
plan year ending Mavrch 31, 1997. Cities recoynized gains related to the
incentive program in Tennessee of §675,000 and $213,0060 for fiscal 1996 and
1985, respectively. On March 5, 1997, the Tenneasee Court of Appeals (the Court)
igssued a decision reversing and remanding the Tennessee Regulatory Authority's
(formerly the Tennessee Public Service Commission} order which approved the
incentive rate prouram for the plan year ending March 31, 1997. The Court found
a procedural fault In how the Tennessee Reguiatory authority arrived at the
order. At this time, further hearings have not been scheduled. An incentive rate
program similar to the Tennessee program has also been approved in Georgia forv
an experimental two-year period and is expected to be effective by the second
quarter of 1997.

Considerable planning is required to project demand for the winter period.
In order to provide natural gas at the lowest possible price and to wmeet peak
demand, Cities must have a sufficient volume of natural gas in underground
storage with its pipeline suppliers, natural gas in UCG Stovage's underground
storage facilities, and propane and LNG in its own facilities. Cities normally
injects gas into pipeline storage systems and UCG Storage's storage systen
during the summer months and withdraws it in the winter months. AT the prasent
time, the underground storage facilities of UCG Storage have a maximum daily
cutput capability of approximately 45,000 dcf.

Other storage facilities owned by Cities are used to provide short-term
suppiies to meet peak demand. Cities has nine propane peak shaving piants with a
total capacity of approximately 1,050,000 gallons that can produce an equivalent
of 19,459 McE daily and a ING storage facility with a capacity of 500,080 Mof
which can inject a daily volume of 30,000 Mcf in the system. Cities has the
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ability to serve approximately 60% of Its peak day lcad through the use of
company owned storage facilities, storage contracts with Cities® suppliers and
peaking facilities throughout the system. This ability provides the operational
flexibility and security of supply reguired to meet the needs of the highly
weather sensitive firm markeb.

REGULATION

Iin each state in which Cities operates, its rates, services and operations
as a natural gas distribution company are subject to general regulation by the
state public service commission. Cities' pipeline suppliers, but not Cities, are
subject to reguiation by the FERC (see "Utility Operations-Hatural Gas Supply"}.
Cities® rates, which vary in its different regulatory jurisdictions, are
determined by the cost of purchased gas to Cities, rate of retwrn, type of
service and volume of use by the customer. In addition, the issuance of
securities by Cities is subject to approval by the state commissions, except in
South Carolina and Towa, Missouri oniy regulates the issuance of secured debt.

Cities operates in each community where necessary under a franchise granted
by the municipality for a fixed term of years. To date, Citiesg has been able to
renew franchises and expects to continue to do s¢ in the future. Cities
congiders the franchises held valid and adequate for the conduct of its
business. In each of the service areas where it operates, Cities considers that
its rights to maintain gas lines through unincorporated communities over private
rights-of-way are, as a group or system, satisfactory for the adegquate conduct
of the business of Cities. Cities also has all requived certificates of
convenience and necessity for the operation of its properties and the conduct of
its business from the appropriate state public ubtility regulatory agencies.

<PAGE> 7

The Georgia Public Service Commission and the Tennessee Regulatory authority
have approved Weather Normalization Adjustments (WNAs). The WNAs, effective
October through May each year in Georgia and November through April each year in
Tennesses, allow Cities to increase the base rate portion of customers' bills
when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is
colder than normal. The net effect of the WNAs was a decrease in revenues of
$2,612,000 in 1996 and an increase in revenues of $1,030,000 and 52,054,000 in
1995 and 1994, respectively.

on November 11, 1996, Cities filed to increase rates on an annual basis by
51,234,000 in the state of Illinois. Cities expects that any increase granted
will be effective by the fourth quarter of 1997. Effective Dacember 2, 1936,
Cities received an annual rate increase of $3,160,000 in the state of CGeorgia.
Cities had filed to increase rates by $5,003,000 on an annual basis. Effective
May 17, 1996, Cities received an annual rate incrvease of $410,000 in the state
of Iowa. Cities had filed to increase rates by $750,000 on an annual basis.
Included in the rate increase in Iowa was the recovery of $1,787,000 over a
ten-year period related to Cities' agreement with Union Electric Company (Union
Electric) whereby Union Electric agréed to assume responsibility for Cities'
continuing investigation and environmental response action obligations as
outlined in the feasibility study pertaining to a manufactured gas piant site in
¥eokuk, Iowa.

Effective Hovember 15, 1995, Cities received an annual rate increase of
$2,227,0080 in the state of Tennessee. Cities had filed to increase rates by
$3,951,000 on an annual basis. EBffective October 14, 1995, Cities received an
annual rate increase of $903,000 in the state of Missouri. Cities had filed to
increase rates by $1,100,000 on an annual basis. Effective September 1, 1985,
Cities received an annual rate increase of $2,700,000 in the state of Kansas.
Cities had filed to increase rabtes by $4,230,000 on an annual basis. Effective
February 7, 1995, Cities received an annual rate increase of $253,000 in the
state of South Carclina. Cities had filed to increase rates by $341,080 on an
annual basis.

In april 1995, Cities filed to increase vates on an annnal basis by $810,000
in the state of Virginia. Cities wag granted permission by the Virginia State
Corporation Commission to implement the proposed rate increase effective
September 29, 1995. The increase is subject to refund pending a final order
which is expected by mid-1997.

<PAGE> 8

get forth below ig a table containing information relating to the state
regulatory bodies which have jurisdiction over Cities and its rates. Amounts
realized from rate increases may differ significantly from amounts authorized
depending on volumes of gas sold and custemer mix.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
REGULATORY JURISDICTION
GEORGIA TENNESSEE VIRGINIA SOUTH CAROLINA
<S> «Ca «<C> (> <>
Purchased Gas Adjustment Allowed upon filing Allowed mpon filing Allowed upon filing Aliowed upon filing
Weather Nommalization Effective November gifective November - -
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Adjustment

Regulatory Commission
Make Up

Statutory Time Limit
it Rate Orders

Empowered to Grant
Interim Rate Relief

Latest General Rate
Adjustment

Date of Application

Annualized Revenue INCrease
(Decrease) Authorized

Rate of Return on
Investment Authorized

Rate of Return on
Eguity Authorized
</TABLE>

5 commissioners
elected at large

& months from date

of filing

Yes

December 19%6

May 1295

53,160,000

10.10%

11.50%

i991

31 commissioners
appointed by
Geovernor and
General Asgenbly

& monthe from date

of filing

Yes

November 1985

May 1995

$2,227,000

11.03% (i)

12.60% (1)

equity were not agreed upon. These rates represent the last authorized

rates.

<PAGE> g

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

«8=

Purchased Gas Adjustment

¥eather Normalization
adjustment

Regulatory Commission
Make Up

Statutory Time Limit
on Rate Orders

Empowered to Grant
Interim Rate Relief

Latest General Rate
Adjustment

Date of Application

Annualized Revenue Increase
{Decrease) Authorized

Rate of Return on
investment Authorized

«Cx»
Allowed upon filing

5 commissioners
appointed by
Governor

11 months from

date of filing

Yes

Novemper 1990

Pecember 1589

$639, 000

108,000 (1)

11.75%

3 commissioners
clacted by Genesral
Assenrbly

150 days from date

of filing

Noverber 1294

April 1993

(5218, 000)

10.261%

11.290%

{1} Because the 1995 rate case wag stipulated, the returns on investment and

REGULATORY JURISDICTION

<C>
Allowed upon filing

5 commissioners
appointed by
Governor

11 months Erom

date of filing

Yes

October 1995

Hovember 1294

$903,000

18.58%

«C
Allowed upon filing

3 commissioners
appointed by
Governor

240 days from

date of filing

Yes

September 19395

January 1895

$2,700, 000

10.63B% (2}
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7 commissioners
elected by legislature
on approval of merit
gelection panel

& months from date
of filing

Ho
February 1995

Rugust 1594

5253, 000
10.73%

11.75%

<Cx>
Allowed upon filing

3 commissicners
appointed by governor
with Senate approval
and minority party
representation

10 months from
date of filing
Yes

May 1996

December 1995

5410, 800

16.405%
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Rate of Return on 13.62% 12.15% i2.00% {2} 11.00%
Equity Authorized
«/TABLE>
(1} The court awarded an additional increase in rates which was effective
Gctobar 19%2.
(2} Because the 1995 rate case wag stipulated, the returns on investment and
equity were not agreed upon. These rates represent the last authorized rates.
7
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
UTILITY OPERATIRG STATISTICS
AVERAGE NIRMBER OF CUSTOMERS ({1} 1996 1995 1%94
<S> «C> [3e <C»
Residential ..... ot e e e e e e 276,882 266,532 259, 855
Commercial ........ e e e e e 35,620 34,435 33,881
Industrial Firm ................. e e e e 404 32 395
Industrial Imterruptible .......... et 233 281 258
213,149 301,613 2%
ACTUAL MUMBER OF CUSTOMERS AT YEAR ENMBR{1} 319,952 207, 856 300,929
NATURAL GAS THROUGH - PUT {MCF) [(IN THOUSANMDS) {2}
Residential . e 25,458 22,902 231,352
Commercial ........... PN . . . . e e 16,706 15, 165 14,1186
INAUSEYIAl FIEM 40 v e i n i i min i e ieesaaaanaaaan e e 7,083 7,324 8,134
Industrial Interruptible ... .. ... .. i, e 131,124 11,920 11,002
50,371 57,310 54,604
Trangported Volumes ................... e e e 17,612 17,184 1z,574
Total Through-Put ................ e e e 77,983 74,494 87,178
REVENUES (IN THOUSANDS) {1}
Residential ............. . 5 165,922 $ 127,803 5 129,519
Commercial ....... . . . . B 85,683 70,887 73,376
Industrial Firm . . . 31,876 27,438 33,772
Industrial Imteryruptible .......... .. ... . ... b 40,935 33,338 35,287
Other ............ e e a e i et e e 8,411 4,412 1,813
342,817 283,758 273,717
Trapspovtation ... ... b e e e e e 10,565 8,102 7,207
RESIDENTIAL {AVERAGE PER CUSTOMER}
Annual Usage Mcf 92 86 82
Annual Revenue 5%9 s 479 S 498
Ravenue Per Mcf .52 s 5.57 5 5.07
COMMERCIAL (AVERAGE PER CUSTOMER)
Annual Usage Maf 469 440 417
Annual Revenue 2,688 S 2,061 & 2,167
Revenue Par Mcf 5.73 s 4.68 5 5,20
</ TABLE>
{1} Residential, industrial firm and certain commercial customers are entitled
Eo recejve gas service on a continuous, uninterrvupted basie subject to fhe
application of their priority classification in the event of gas shortages
Industrial interruptible and certain commercial customers receive a low
cost, load balancing service, which permits Cities to interrupt gervice and
which is limited to users with alternative fuel sources for uge when
service is interrupted Interruptible rates are generally lower than firm
rates
{2} The following table classifies the effect of changes in volumes (McEs) of
natural gas delivered during 1996, 1995 and 1994
<TABLE>»
<CAPTION>
1996 1995 1254
{IN THOUSANDS}
<S8 <Ca <Cx> <C>
Prior year volumes ..... S e e Fd, 594 67,178 68,543
Changes in volumes:
Residential ........ e e e 2,557 1,549 {1,703}
Commercial .......... e 1,541 1,049 {319}
Industrial Firm .. - (241} {B1O) 625
industrial Interruptible . . {7986 318 {659}
Transported volumes ........ ... ... . 428 4,610 691
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< /TABLE>

<PAGE> 11
ACQUISITIONS

On June 28, 1996, Monarch Gas Company {Monarch) was merged into the
company. The merger was accounted for as a pooling of interests in which the
company issued 207,366 shares of the company's common stock in exchange for the
commen stoek of Monarch. In addition, the company entered into five-year
non-coupate agreements with the prior owners of Monarch totaling $400,000, The
werger added approximately 2,900 patura} gas customers in rhe Vandalla, Iilinos
area. The company did not restate prior years' financial statements due to
immateriality.

SERSONAL NATURE OF BUSINESS

Cities' business is highly seasonal in nature and heavily dependent upon
weather due to Cities' substantial heating load. In order to moderate the impact
of weather on the financial results of the utility operation, Cities sought and
received approval from the Georgia Public Sexvice Commission and the Tennessee
Regulatory Authority to implement Weather Normalization Adjustments (WilAs) . See
“PLility Dperations-Regulation® for additional information concerning WHAsS.
Citieg' business will still be seasonal in nature resulting in greater earnings
during the winter months and will continue to be dependent upon weather,
especially in those states where a WNA has not been implemented. However, Cities
seeks to minimize the quarterly variations in sales volumes and earnings by
saies to industrial customers and the diversified activities of its unregulated
subsidiaries. See chart of quarterly earnings on page 47 fov the years 1996 and
1395,

OTHER UTILITY CGPERATIONS
In addition to its sales of matural gas, Cities eagages in direct

merchandising and repair of gas appliances. The following tabie SUMMArizes
revenues from these sources for 1996, 1995 and 1594.

<TABLE>
<(APTION>
1396 1895 1994
{I¥ THOUSANDS}
<8> <C» «C> <Cx
Appliance Sales ................ ... 3 788 s L,791 s 2,537
Jobbing and Service .............. . 1,201 1,288 1,256
$ 1,989
= /TABLE>
9
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SUBSIDIARY OPERATIONS

UNITED CITIES GAS STORAGE COMPANY

YCG Storage is engaged in maintaining and operating gas wells for natural
gas storage. UCG Storage owns and operates storage fields in Kansas and
Kentucky. The storage fields provide a mechanism to purchase and store gas for
distribution during the winter and other times when feasible. In addition to
providing peak shaving gas, the stovage facilities can also be used to balance
gas supplies, ailowing extra gas to be diverted into the field when contract
demand i not needed and withdrawn when gas usage exceeds contract demand.
Included in the revenues of UCG Stovage are affiliated rewvenues of $5,524,000
47,341,000 and $7,037,000 in 1996, 1995 and 1334, respectively, for storage
services and natural gas provided to (ities' customers in Tennessee, Kansas and
Illinois.

The following table provides information about the storage fieids.

<TABLE>

<CAPTION:>

FIELD CRPACITY CUSHION GAS DELIVERABILITY
{MCF}

<85> <Cx» <Cx» <C»

Kansas storage fields............ S Ve 7,03%,000 1,8%%,000 15,000

Kentucky storage field........ e e [ 3,300,000 1,600,008 ig, 000

</ TABLE>

UCG ENERGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIRRIES
The activities of UCG Energy and its subsidiaries are described below.

PROPANE DIVISION
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The Propane Division currently operates througn United Cities Propsne Gas of
Tennessee, Inc. {UCPT), a wholly-cwned subsidiary of UCG Energy. The Propane
pivision engages in the retail distribution of propans {LP} gas, the wholesale
supply and transportation of LP gas, the transportation of certain products for
other companies and the direct merchandising and repair of propane gas
appliances. Each town operation has its own storage facilitcy with a total
propane Division storage capacity of 2,119,000 gallons.

The following table contains information, as of December 31, 19%6, regarding
the number of custcmers,

<TABLE=
<CAPTION>
SERVICE AREAS CUSTOMERS
«8» <(l>
Jackson, TH ............ ottt e e e e e e e 1,010
winchester, TH/Manchester, TN .......... .. o iiion 2,385
Rock Island, TH ..... R 1,478
Franklin, TH .ottt e ie e s A, 1,377
Murfreesbord, TN ... ie i e 1,936
Hartsville, TH ... ... ..o, . A 1,842
Maryville, 3,092
Dandridge, . .. .. A 3,342
Kingstonr, TN ............... . . s .. e 1,525
New Tazewell, TH ..... P 314
Johmson City, TN ...... Caee 5,271
Mountain city, TH/Boone, NC 3,481
Total ........ .. ..., e e
< /TABLE>

Effective February 28, 1997, UCPT purchased substantially all of the
propane assets of Harlan LP Gas, Inc., a retail propane digtribution company,
and Propane Sales and Service, Inc., a wholesale propane distribation company,
for approximately $2,040,000. In addition, UCPT entered into ten-year
non-compete agreements with the prior owners for $150,000 to be paid over a
ten-year period. This acguisition added approximately 3,100 propane customers in
the Harlan, Kentucky and New Tazewell, Tennessee areas.

Effective September 1, 1996, UCPT purchased substantially all of the
propane assetrs of Arrow Propane, Inc. for approximately $610,800. In addition,
UCPT entered into a ten-year non-compete agreement with the prior owners for
$50,000. This acquisition added approximately 700 propane customers in the
Woodbury, Tennessee area.

10
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Effective January 1, 1996, UCPT purchased substantially all of the assets
of Duncan Gas Service for approximately $4,310,000. In addition, UCPT entered
inte a ten-year non-compete agreement with the prior owners Loxr 250,000, to be
paid over a ten-year period. This ascquisition added approwimately 2,000
customers in the Johnson City, Tennessee area.

Effective May 22, 1995, UCPT purchased all of the propane transportation
assets of Transpro South, Inc., a common carrier corporation, for approximately
$218,000. In addition, UCPT entered intoc a ten-year non-compete agreement with
the prior owner for $6,000.

Bffective January 1, 1995, UCPT purchased substantially ail of the assets
of Harrell Propane, Inc. for approximately $1,383,000. In addition, UCPT enterad
into ten-year non-compete agreements with the prior owners for 5250,000, to be
paid over an eight-year period. This acquisition added approximately 1,300
propane customers in the Murfreesboro, Tennessee area.

Rffective April 14, 1994, UCPT purchased all of the agsets of Hurley's
bropane Gas for approximately $938,9000. In addition, UCPT entered into ten-year
non-conpete agreements with the prior owners for §$100,000, to be paid cover a
five-year peviod. This acquisition added approximately 700 propane Cusiomers in
the Morristown, Tennessee area.

ITn 1996, 1995 and 1994, the Propane Division contributed 87%, 72% and 54%,
respectively, of UCG Energy's total revenues., Of UCG Energy’s gross properties
at December 31, 1996, approximately 51% was related to the Propane Bivieion.

RENTAL DIVISION

U Energy's Rental Division, which includes UCG Leasing, Inc., leases real
estate and vehicles to Cities and real estate and appliances to non-affillated
third parties. The Rental bivision's revenues were approximately 16%, 17%, 17%
of UCG Energy's total revenues in 1994, 1995 and 1984, respectively. Included in
the revenues of the Rental Division are affiliated revenues of $3,588,000
45,307,000 and $5,827,000 for the years 1996, 1995 angd 1994, respectively,
representing rental charges to Cities for transportation equipment and office
facilities. Of UCG Energy's gross properties at Degember 31, 1996, approximately
49% was related to the Rental Division.

UTILITY SERVICES DIVISION

1CQ@ Energy's Utility Services Division is engaged in exploration and
production activities. The vevenues [row this division were approximately 3% in
1996, 11% in 1995 and 29% in 1994, of UCG Bnergy's total revenues. included in
the Utility Services Divisicon's révenuas are affiliated rvevenues of $112,000 and
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Page

$70%,000 for 1995 and 19%¢, respectively. These revenues represgent purchases by
Cities of energy-related products from the Utility Services Division. There were
no affiliated revenues during 1996. A decision to discontinue the distribution
of energy-related preducts by the Utility Services Division was made by
management in Jung 1994. The discontinuance of this activity, which uwas
completed mid-1995, had no material effect on the results of operations,
financial condition or cash flows of the company.

puring the first guarter of 1995, UCG Energy purchased a 45% interest in
cartain contracts related to the gag marketing business of Wosdward Marketing,
Ino. (WMI), a Texas corporation. In exchange for the acquired interest, the
shareholders of WMI received $5,800,800 in the cowpany's common stock {320,512
shares) and $832,000 in cash in May 1995, and may, if certain earnings targets
are met, receive up to $§1,0600,000 in cash to be paid over a five-year period. In
exchange for its own gas marketing contracts and the acquired 45% interest in
the ¥MI gas marketing contracts, UCG Energy received a 45% intersest in a newly
formed limited liability company, Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. (WMLLC). WMI
received a 55% interest in WHMLLC in exchange for its remaining 55% interest in
the WMI gas marketing contracts. WMLILC provides gas marketing services to
industrial customers, municipalitvies and local distribution companies, including
Citieg. UCG Energy utilized eguity accounting, effective January i, 1935, for
this acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the value of the net
tangible assetsg, amounting to approximately $5,400,000, was allocated to
intangible assets consisting of customer contracts and goodwill, which are being
amortized over ten and twenty years, respectively.

11
<PAGE> i4
COMPETITION

Cities distributes natural gas primarily to residential, commercial and
high-priority industrial users and intends to aggressively seek additional
numbers of such customers. Competition exists between natural gas and other
forme of energy available to customers. Cities ig experiencing competition for
zach class of customer; electricity is the primary competition for residential
and commercial customers, and #2 and #6 fuel oil is the primary competition for
industrial customers. In addition, certain customers, primarily industrial, may
have the ability to by-pass Cities® distribution system by connecting directly
with a pipeline,

Cities has received approval from all the public service commissions in the
states in which it operates, except lowa, to place into effect a negotiated
tariff rate which allows Cities to maintain industrial loads at lower margin
rates, Iowa has rules which allow for flexible rates. These rates are
competitive with the price of alternative fuels. In addition, certain industrial
customers have changed from firm to interruptible rate schedules in order to
obtain natural gas at a lower cost. additionally, Cities has received approval
from all state commissions to provide transportation service of customer-owned
gas {see Item 1. Business - "Utility Operations-Natural Gas Supply"}.

UCG Energy's propane subsidiary is in competition with other suppliers of
propane, natural gas and electricity. Competition exists in the areas of price
and service. The wholesale cost of propane is subject to fluctuations primarily
based on demand, availability of supply and preduct transportation cosis.
propane storage facilities can be utilized to store purchased gas when the cost
is more economical, thus enabling UCG Energy to more competitively price its
product . However, during periods of colder than normal weather, when demand is
high, UCG Energy may have to replace its supply of gas at Righer cosks, which
may reguire UCG Energy te sell at reduced margins to match its competition.

The Utility Services Division of UCG Energy, through its 45% interest in
WMLLC, comperes with other natural gas brokers in obtaining natural gas supplies
for customers. The Rental Diwision competes with other rental companies.

UCG Storage charges vates to Cities that are subject to review by the
various commissions in the states within which the storage service ig provided
to Cities. Therefore, UCC Storage's rates must be competitive with other storage
facilities. UCG Storage also stores natural gas for WMLLC, As a result, UCG
Stovage is in competition with other companies that store natural gas as to
rates charged and deliverability of natural gas. Storage agreements between UCG
Storage and Cities give Cities first priority to any storage sexviges.

PERSOMNEL

At December 31, 1996, the company employed 1,21 full time employees,
intluding 115 who are represented by a union. OF the ful: time employees, 217
are engaged in the cperations of the Illinois/Tennessea/Missovri bDivision, 225
in the Virginia/East Tennessee Division, 204 in the GeorgiafSouth Carolina
Division, 237 in the Kangas/Iowa/Missouri Divizion, 185 administrative and
supervisory perscnnel in the corporate office, and 143 in UCG Energy's operating
locations. Bt December 31, 1936, there were 4565 employees participating in the
employee stock purchase plan and %68 enployees participating in the company’s
401(k) savings plan. All corporate geperal and administrative functions, as well
as the overseeing of engineering, marketing, accounting, finance, operations and
human resources are handled at the company's corporate offices in Brentwood and
Franklin, Tennessee. Direct functions dealing with engineering, marketing,
operations and human rescurces for the service locations of each division are
handled at the division levels.

12
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<TABLE>

Natural Gas

Propane

Storage
Facilities:

Pipeline
Suppliers

{Map of Operating Areas!
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ILLINOIS/TENHESSEE/MISSOURT DIVISION

<S> <C> «C>
fllinocis Tennessee Missouri

- Virden - Union City -Neelyville
- Vandalia - Franklin +

- Salem - Murfreesboro

- Harrisburg - Columbia

- Metropolis ~ Shelbyville

KAMSAS/TOWA/MISSOURT DIVISION

Kansas Iawa Missouri

- Wyandotte Cty - Keokuk - Canton

- Johmson Cty + - Hannibal
- Yates Center - Palmyra
- Independence

- Coffeyville

VIRGINIA/EAST TENNESSEE DIVISION

Virginia Tennessee

- Abingdon - Maryviile

- Marion - Morristown

- HWytheville - Greeneville

- Pulaski - Johason City +
- Radford - Kingsport

- Blacksburg - Bristol

GECORGIA/SOUTH CARQOLINA DIVISION

Georgia Scuth Carclina

- Gainesville - Gatfiney

- Columbus+

TENNESSEE

- Franklin+ - Hartsville - Murfreesboro
- Rock Island - Manchester - Winchester

- Maryville - Morristown - Johnson City
- Mountain City - Kingston - Jackson

- Sevierville -~ New Tazewell - Dandridge
NORTH CRROLINA KENTUCKY

~ Bocne - Baxter

NATURAL GAS STORAGE PROFANE BULK STORAGE

Morristown, TN
winchester, TN

- Columbus, GA (LNG}
- RBarnsliey Storage, HY

fundergroung) - Bristol, M
- Liberty Storage, KS
{underground}
- East Tennessee - Columbia Gulf
Natural Gas Co. Transmission Co.
- Southern Natural - ¥atural Gas Pipeline Co.
Gas Co. of America
- Williams Natural - Panhandle Eastern
Gas Co. Pipe Eine Co.
- Transcontinental Gas - Trunkline Gas Co.

Pipe Line Co. Migsissippi River

- Woodbury
- Piney Flats
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- Texas Eastern Transmission Corp.
Transmission Corp. - ANR Pipeline Company
- Texas Gas Transmission - Tennessee Gas
Corp. Pipeline Co.

* Corporate Office-Brentwood, Tennessee
+ Division Office
</TABLE>

«PAGE > 17
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
HELD PRESENT OTHER POSITICONS HELD

NAME AMD POSITION AGE OFFICE SINCE DURING PAST FIVE YBARS

<S> <C> <C» <>

Gene ¢. Koonce 64 May 13%6 President and Chief Executive Qfficer
Chairman, President and {Cctober 1978-April 1994}
Chief Executive Officer

Themas R. Blose, Jr. 47 July 1%%0
Senior Vice President-
Operations and
Engineering

James B. Ford 54 April 1986
Senier Vice President
and Treasurer

Shirley M. Hawkins 57 August 1993 Senior Vice President-Administration
Senior Vice President {April 1993-July 1993}
and Secretary Vice President-Human Resources
fApril 1987-March 1993}

Glenn B. Rogers 58 April 1983
Seniocr Vice President-
Gas Supply and Marketing

</TBBLE>

is
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Cities' properties are located in operating aveas as indicated on page 14,
and consist primarily of approximately 7,523 miles of distribution and
transmigsion mains and approximately 5,059 miles of service lines connecting the
mains to customers’ premises. The company alsc owns and operates nine peak
shaving pilants and a LNG plant, as wall as underground storage fields which are
used to supplement the supply of natural gas in perisds of peak demand {(see Item
1. Business - “Ucility Operations-Natural Gas Supply")

Substantially all of Cities' property is subject to the lien of the
indenture of Mortgage securing Cities' first mortgage bonds. The [ollowing table
sets forth the percentages of property located in the various operating

divisions.

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>
DIVISION PERCENT
<S> <C>
Illinois/Tennessee/Missouri P 29%
Virginia/East Tenuessee . 25%
Geovgia/South Carolina . B i8%
Kansas/Iowa/Migsourl .. .. . .. i 28%

100%
< /TABLE>

The capital budget for the company for 1997 is approximately $35,300,9000
fubility, $33,300,000 and non-utility, $2,660,060). Based on information
currently availablie, which is swbject to change, the company anticipates capital
enpenditures of approximately $3¢,000,000 each year in 1298 and 1989, Thase
veflect the normal growth in Cities' service areas along with the increased
demands expected for natural gas and propane (LP} service.

Cities follows a regular program of improvements and additions to its
properties. Utility plant additions during 1996 amounted to approximately
32,767,000 For system upgrading, relocations, and providing new mains, service
lines and metering egquipment. Total utility property at December 31, 19%6
amounted to $477,832,000.
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The following table sets forth information with respact to utility property
additions, excluding acquisitions, made by Cities during each of the five years
ended Decembper 31.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
GROSS NET
PERIOD ADDETIONS RETIREMENTS ADDITIONS
{IN THOUSANDSI}

<S> <C> <C> <>
1992 523,484 2,531 $20,953
1993 $27, 030 2,826 $24,204
1994 $30,888 2,195 528,689
1995 $35,160 2,535 $32,625
199 532,767 3,943 528,824

«/TRBLE>

Mon-utility property additions during 1995 amounted to approximately
56,572,000 (UCG Energy, $6,164,000 and UCG Storage, $408,000). The majority of
UCG Energy’s 1396 additions are related to rental faciiities and propane related
eguipment. The upgrading of underground storage facilities accounts for the
majority of property additions for UCG Storage. Gross non-utility property as of
December 3%, 1996 amounted to $76,488,008 (UCG Energy, $56,617,008 and UCG
Storage, $19,863,000).

The company believes its facilities are suitable and adequate for the
purpose of serving the needs of its customers.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Bxcept as set forth in Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operatioms - Environmental Matters," there is
no material litigation involving the company as of December 31, 1996. There are
certain claims which are adequately covered by liability insurance or reserxves.

16
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS T0 A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

A special meeting of shareholders was held on November 12, 19%6, to ratify
and approve an Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated July 19, 1996 as
amended by Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated October
3, 1996, by and between United Cities Gas Company and Atmos Energy Corporation,
a Texas Corporation, and approve the Plan of Herger and the Merger of United
Cities Gas Company with and into Atmos Energy Corporation, with Atmos as the
surviving corporation. The results were as follows:

<TABLE>»
<CAPTION>
FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

<8> <> <l

9,445,280 64,096 76,290
</TABLE>

17
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMOM BQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER

MATTERS .
APPROXIMATE MUMBER OF STCCKHOLDERS
<TABLE >
<CAPTION>
NUMBER OF
STOCKHOLBERS OF
RECORD &5 OF
TITLE COF CLASS DECEMBER 31, 1995
<S> <Ca
Common Stock, without par value . ............. ... ....... e 7,848
< /TABLE>»

The Common Stock of the company is traded over-the-counter on the Nasdag
National Market System under the symbol UCIT. The hign and low closing sales
prices, compiled from guotations supplied by the Nasdag monthly Statistical
Report, and the dividends paid per share, were as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1895 19385
Dividends Dividends
High Low per share High Low per share
<S> <C= <> <Cx <Cax <Cx <Cx
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1st Quarter $18 :/2 $15 3/4 $.255 $16 1/4 815 1/4
2nd Quarter 517 514 3/4 $.255 516 1/4 $i4 1/2
3rd Guarter 523 $15 $.255 516 1/2 $14 3/4
4th Quarter 523 5/8 520 5.255 518 1/4 $15 3/4

</TABLE>

At its vegniarly scheduled meeting held on February i1, 19%7, the Board of
Directors declared a guarterly dividend of $.255 per share, payable March 185,
1397, to all shareholders of record on February 28, 1997. pividends have been
paid by Cities for the past 1566 consecutive guarters.

The Common Stock ig entitled to dividends when, as and if declared by the
Roard of Directors, subject to various limitaticns on the declaration or payment
of dividends imposed by the provisions of Cities' Indenturs of Mortgage. Under
these provisions, none of the company's retained earnings at December 31, 1994,
was unavailable to pay dividends on the Common Stock.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
FOR THE YERR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
1936 1585 1984 1993
{IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
<S>

Utility Operating Revenues ......
Net Income/Common Stock Earnings
Net Income/Common Stock Earnings
Total Assets .......... e

Long-Term Debt ... ... i

Cash Dividends Declared Per Common Share

</TABLE>
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF PINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

United Cities Gas Company [Cities) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
company} is primarily a distributor of natural and propane gas serving
approximately 340,000 customers in parts of ten states. The financial condition
and results of cperations of the company are significantly affected by the
weatber and the regulatory environment in the eight states in which it
distributes natural gas. The following discussion focuses on the financial
condition and results of operations for the company for the past three years and
its capital expenditure plans for the foreseeshle future.

On July 19, 1996, the company and Atmos Energy Corporation (Atmos) entered
into a definitive agreement whereby the company will be merged with and into
Atmos, with Atmos as the surviving corporation. tnder the definitive agreement,
ane share of Atmos stock will be exchanged for each share of the company's
stock. The transaction is expected to be accounted for as & pooling of
interests. The transaction was approved by the shareholders of the company and
Atmos on Hovember 12, 199%6. Pending approval by appropriate regulatory bodies,
the company expects to close the Lransaction during the second quarter of 1997.
Atmos is based in Dallas, Texas, and curvently provides natural gas service to
approximately §73,000 customers in Texas, Coiorado, Kansas, Missouri, Louisiana
and Kentucky.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

¥otal cash provided by operations of the company totaled 527,700,000
525,300,008 and $27,500,000 in 1996, 1885 and 1894, respectively. Changes in
aceounts receivable, gas in storage and accounts payable were primarity a result
of the weather sensitive nature of the company's business. {hanges in gas costs
to be billed in the future and supplier refunds due customers were primarily a
yesult of the timing of the recoveries from, or refunds to, customers of these
costs through the Purchased Gas Adjustment (PGA) mechanism.

A substantial portion of the company's cash requirements is to fund its
ongeing construction program in order to provide natural gas services to a
growing customer bage, Investing activities of the company include capital
expenditures for the company's utility and non-utility operations totaling
$39, 300,000, $40,100,000 and 535,100,000 in 1996, 1995 and 199¢, respectively.
puring 1985, Cities completed construction of a twenty-eight mile main which
comects twe of its fastest growing distribution systems located in Middle
Tennessee and is designed to provide Cities' current customers with the lowest
possible priced gas through increased gas supply fiexibility. Included in the
1995 and 1994 ugility capital expenditures stated above is 55,700,008 and
$3,700,000, respectively, related to this project. Capital expenditures totaling
533,300,000 for the utility operations and 52,660,000 for the non-utility
aperations are budgeted for 1997. Total capital expenditures f£or 1998 and 1999
are expected to be approximately $36,000,000 each year, based on information
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currently available, which is subject to chauge.

Because the company's business is highly seasonal and weather sensitive,
the company udes short-term debt during the non-heating season as a means of
funding its ongoing construction program and working gapital reguirements. The
ahort-term debt is retired with cash from operations or leng-term securities,
whichever management deems appropriate. At December 31, 1996, the company had
tobal short-term lines of credit of $105,000,000 in the form of master and
banker's acceptance notes bearing interest primarily at the lesser of prime or a
negotiated rate during the term of each borrowing. Under these arrangements,
565,688,000 in short-term debt was outstanding at December 31, 1996.

The Financing activities for 1896, 1995 and 1994 refiect the retirement of
long-term debt; dividend payments; the issuance of stock through the company's
various stock purchase plans; and the net activity of short-term borrowings, The
Financing activities of 199% also included common stock and lang-term debt
securities issued under the company's shelf registration statement which became
effective in 1995. The shelf registration statement gives the company the
flexibility to issue from time ro time in one or more public offerings up to
$200,000,000 of its securities which may include common stock, unsecured notes
and/or first mortgage bonds. In June 1995, the company issued 1,380,000 shares
of common stock under the shelf registration statement in an underwritten public
offering with net proceeds from the sale amounting to approximately

i9
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND AMALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION ARND RESULTS OF
OPERATIQNS

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUSSIDIARIES

518, 900, 000. In addition, $22,000,000 of medium-term notes were issued under the
shelf registration staltement in the last quarter of 1995. The proceeds of
long-term debt in 1995 alse included a 55,000, 600 term note in United Cities
Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc. (UCPT}, a wholly-owned subsidiary oi UCG Energy
Corporation (UCG Energy}. The proceeds of these activities were used to repay
short -term borrowings, retire long-term debt, finmance the company's construction
program and for other corporate purposes.

in 1994, the company implemented a customer stock purchase plan whereby
residents in the company's service territory can make a one-time purchase of
common stock at a 5% discount below the average market value, A participant can
invest any amount ranging from $250 to $106,060. During 1926, 1995 and 1994,
77,914, 166,609 and 147,148 shares of common stock, respectively, were issued
wnder the plan resulting in ner proceeds to the company of approximately
$1,218,0800, %2,457,000 and $2,099%,000, respectively.

fh June 1956, in connection with the acquisition of Monarch Gag Company
{Monarch}, 207,366 shares of the company's commén stock were exchanged for the
common stock of Monarch. In May 199%, 320,512 shares of common stock valued at
$5, 000,000 were issued in connection with t£he purchase of a 45% interest in
woodward Marketing, L.L.C. {WMLLC) by UCG Energy.

yc Energy and Woodward Marketing, Inc.{WHI}, scole ghareholders of WHLLC,
act as guarantors of a $12,500,000 credit facility for WHLLC with a certain
pank. UCG Energy's portion of the amount cutstanding on this credit facility at
Decepber 31, 1996, was $607,000. UCG Energy and WHMI also act as guarantors on
certain purchases of natural gas and transportation gservices from suppliers by
WMLLC. UCG HBriergy's portion of these ocutstanding obligations amounted to
$9,437,000 at December 31, 1998&.

in 1997, Funds for capital expenditures, long-term debt maturities, ginking
fund reguirements and dividend payments are expected to be provided by
internally generated cash, issuance of stock through Che company’s various stock
purchage plans and short-term borrowings. At December 31, 1996, the company had
bondable property to support a first mortgage bond issuance of approximately
575,200, 300,

in connection with the pending merger of the company and Atmos, the company
has reguested certain amendments to the indenture of Mortgage dated July 15,
1959. The company currently is in negotiations with its bondholders and expects
approval of requested amendments. If any bondholder does not approve the
requested amendments the company could experience an event of default upon the
merger. However, in most cases the company has the option of redeeming, in some
cases at a premium, that portion of omtstanding first mortgage bonds.

REGULATORY MATTERS

On Wovember 11, 1996, Cities filed te increase rates con an annual basis by
51,234,000 in the state of Iilinois. Cities expects that any increase granted
will be effective by the fourth guarter of 1997. Effective December 2, 1896,
cities received an annual rate increase of $3,160,000 in the state of Georgia.
Cities had Filed to increase rates by $5,003,000¢ on an annual pasis. Effective
May 17, 18%5, Cities received an annual rate increase of $410,000 in the state
of Iowa. Cities had filed to increase rates by $750,000 on an annual basis.
Included in the rate increase in Iowa was the recovery of $i,787,000 over a
ten-year period velated to Cities’ agreement with tnion Electric Company {Union
Electric) whereby Union Electric agreed to assume responeibility for Cities’
coptinuing investigation and environmental response action obligations as
outiined im the feasibility study pertaining to a manufactured gas plant site in
Keokuk, Iowa.

Bffective November 15, 1995, Cities received an annual rate increase of

http://www.scc.gov/Archives/edgar/data/101105/00009501 44-97-002842.txt 6/15/2007




42,227,000 in the state of Tennessee. Cities had [iled to increase rates by
51,951,000 on an annual basis. Effective October 14, 1995, Cities received an
annual rate increase of $903,0080 in the state of Missouri. Cities had filed te
increase rates by $1,100,000 on an annual basis. Effective Beptember 1, 1995,
Cities received an annual rate increase of 52,700,800 in the state of Kansas.
Cities had filed to increase rates by $4,230,000 on an annual basis. Effective
February 7, 1995, Cities regeived an annual rate increase of $253,000 in the
state of South Carolina. Cities had filed to increase rates by $341,000 on an
annual basis.
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in April 1895, Cities filed to increase rates on an anmual basis by
5810,000 in the state of Virginia. Cities was granted permission by the Virginia
State Corporation Commiseion to implement the proposed rate increase effective
Septembey 29, 1995. The increase is subject to refund pending a final order
which is expected by mid-1997.

The Georgia Public Service Commission and the Tennessee Regulatory
Authority (formerly the Tennessee Public Service Commission} have approved
Weather Normalization adjustments (WNAs). The WNas, effective October through
May each year in Georgia and November through Aprii each year in Tennessee,
aillow Cities to increase the base rate portion of customers' bills when weather
ig warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than
normal. The net effect of the WNAs was a decrease in revenues of $2,612,000 in
1996 and an increase in ravenues of $I,030,000 and $2,050C,080 in 1995 and 1994,
respectively.

Effective April 1, 1995, and for an experimental two-year pericd, the FPGA
clause in Tennessee was modified by an incentive rate program which compares
¢ities purchased gas prices to market prices. The gains ov laosses recognized by
Cities as a result of the incentive program were limited to a maximum of $25,000
per month in the plan year ended March 3L, 1996, and iimited to a maximum of
$600,000 per year in the plan year ending March 31, 1897. Cities recognized
gaing related to the incentive program in Tennessee of $675,000 and $213,000 for
figcal 1996 and 1995, respectively. On March §, 1997, the Temmessee Court of
Appeals (the Court) issued a decision reversing and remanding the Tennesses
Regulatory Authority's order which approved the incentive rate program for the
plan year ending March 31, 1987. The Court found a procedural fault in how the
Tennessee Regulatory Authority arrived at the order. At this time, further
hearings have not been scheduled. An incentive rate program similar to the
Tennessee program has also been approved in Ceocrgia for an experimental two-year
period and is expected to be effective by the second guarter of
1997.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Cities is the owner or previous owner of manufactured gas plant sites which
ware used to supply gas prior to the availability of natural gas. #anufactured
gas was an inexpensive source of fuel for lighting and heating nationwide. Ag a
result of the gas manufacturing process, certain by-products and residual
materials, incinding coai-tar, were produced and may have bean accumuiated at
the plant sites. This was an acceptable and satisfactory process abt the time
such operations were being conducted. ynder current environmental protection
laws and regulations, Cities may be responsible for response action with respect
ro such materials, if response actlon is necessary.

in June 1995, Cities entered into an agreement to pay $1,787,000 to Union
Electric whereby Union Electric agreed to assume responsibility for Cities!®
continuing investigation and environmental response action chligations as
outlined in the feasibility study related to a former manufactured gas plant
site in Keokuk, Iowa. At December 31, 1996, Cities had $1,072,000 accrued for
its remaining liability related to the agreement, This amount is to be paid in
equal annual payments over eacn of the mext three years. ¢itieg deferred the
agreement amount of $1,787,000 and was granted recovery over a ten-year period
in the May 1996 Iowa rate increase.

Cities owns former manufactured gas plant sites in Jehnson City and
Aristol, Tennessee and Hannibal, Missouri. rities and the Tennessee Department
of Environment and Conservation entered into a consent order effective January
23, 1997, for the purpose of facilitating the investigation, removal and
remediation of the Johnmson City site. Cities began the implementation of the
consent order in the first guarter of 1997. Cities is unaware of any information
which suggests that the Bristol site gives rise to a present health or
environmental risk as a result of the manufactured gas process or that any
response action will be necessary. The Missouri Department of Natural Resources
{MDNR! conducted 2 site reconnaissance and sampling at the Hannibal site. The
most recent MDNR report received concludes that hazardous substances and
hazardous wastes are pregent on site, and that a release of hazardous substances
to soilg has occcurred; however, the risk of human exposure appears to be
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minimal. Additional site work is likely. As of December 3i, 1956, Cities had
incurred and deferred for recovery 530%,00¢, including $258,000 related to an
insurance recoverability study, and accerued and deferred for recovery an
additional $758,000 associated with the preliminary survey and invasive study of
these three sites. The Tennessee Regulatory Authority granted Cities permission
te defer, until its next rate case, all costs incurred in Tennegsee in
connection with state and fedevally wandated environmental contrel reguirements.
In addition, based on a decision by the Missouri Public Service Commission
concerning the recovery of environmental response action costs incurred by
another company, Cities expects recovery of the costs iovelved in the
investigation and response action, if any, associated with the manufactured gas
plant site in Missouri.

Pursvant to the Tennessee Petroleum Underground Storage Tank Act, Citiesg is
required to uparade or remove certain underground storage tanks (USTs) situated
in Tennesggee, As of December 31, 1996, Cities had identified a swall number of
USTg in thig category in Tennessee and had incurred and deferred for recovery
496,000 and, based on available current information, accrued and deferred for
regovery an additional §70,000 for the upgrade or removal of these USTs. The
Tennessee Regulatory Authority granted Cities permission to defer, until its
next rate case, all costs incurred in connection with state and federally
mandated environmental control reguirements. In addition, Cities may be able to
recover a porLion of any corrective action costs from the Tennessee Underground
Storage Tank Fund for certain of the UST sites in Tennessee.

In Octcber 1995, Cities received two Hotices of Violation (NOVs) from the
Tennessee Department of Environment and Comservation {(TDEC} concerning historic
releases from a UST in Xingsport, Tennessee. This UST was formerly owned by
Holston 0il Co., Inc. (Holston}, which at one time was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Tennessee-Virginia Energy Corporation (TVEC). Prior to TVEC's merger with the
company in 1986, TVEC sold the common stock of Holston to an unrelated party.
Cities has responded to the NOVs advising the TDEC that Cities is not a
respongsible party foxr any environmental contamination at the site. Cities does
not anticipate incurring any responge action costs at this site.

The Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE! identified the need
to investigate gas industry activities which utilize mercury equipment in
Kansas. Cities and the KDHE have signed a Consent Order for the investigation
and possible response action for mercury contamination at any gas pipeline site
which is identified as excesding the HDHE's established acceptable concentration
levels. As of Becember 31, 1896, Cities had identified approximately 720 meter
sites where mercury may have been used and had incurred and deferved for
recovery $62,000 and, based on available current inforwatiom, accrued and
deferved for recovery an additional $280,000 for the investigation of these
sites. Citieg has estimated that it may incur an additionmal amount of up to
54,100,000 over the next seven years in respending to a future administrative
crder for those sites, if any, that exceed the KDHE's established acceptable
concentration levels. Cities has received an order from the Kansas Corporation
Commission {XCC} allowing Cities to defer and sesk recovery in future rate
proceedings the reascnable and prudent costs and expenses asgociated with the
Congsent Order. In the order, the commission approved a Stipulation and Agreement
which provides a cap of 51,500,000 on amounts deferred with the ability to
exceed this cap if reascnable costs of response action are incurred. Based on a
decision by the KCC concerning the recovery of emvironmental response action
costs incurred by another company, Cities expects recovery of the costs involwved
in the investigation and response action associated with the mercury meter sites
in Kansas.

Cities addresses cther emvironmental wmatters from time to time in the
regular and ordinary course of its business. Management expects that future
expenditures related to responge action at any site will be recovered through
rates or insurance, or sharved among other potentially responsible parties.
therefore, the costs of responding to these sites are not expected to materially
affect the results of operations, fimancial condition or cash fiows of the
company.
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ACQUISITIONS

Effective February 28, 1997, UCPT purchased substancially ail of the
propane assets of Harlan LP Gas, Inc., a retail propane distribution company,
and Propane Sales and Service, Inc., a wholesale propane disrribution company,
for approximately $2,040,000. In addition, UCPT entered into ten-year
non-compete agresments with the prior owners for $3159,088 to be paid over a
ven-year period. This acguisition added approximately 3,100 propane Customers in
the Harlan, Kentucky and Mew Tazewell, Tennessee areas.

Effective September 1, 1996, UCFT purchased substantially all of the
propane assets of Arrew Propane, Inc. for approximately $618,000. In additiom,
UCPT enteved intc a ten-year non-compete agreement with the prier ownsrs for
550,000. This acquisition added approximately 700 propane cusioners in the
Woodbury, Tennessee area.

On June 28, 1995, Monarch Gas Company {Monarch) was werged into the
company. The merger was accounted for as a pooling of interests in which the
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company issued 207,366 shares of the company's common stock in exchange for the
common stock of Monarch. In addition, the company entered inte five-year
non-compete agreements with the prior owners of Menarch totaling $400,000. The
merger added approximately 2,900 natural gas customers in the Vandalia, fllinois
area. The company did not restate prior vears® financial statements due to
immateriality.

Effective January 1, 1858, UCPT purchased substantially all of the assets
of puncan Gas Service for approximately $4,310,6000. In addition, UCPT antered
intc a ten-year non-compete agreement with the prior ownevs fox 3$250,000, to be
paid over a ten-year peviod, This acguisition added approximately 2,000 propane
customers in the Johason City, Tennessee area.

Bffective May 22, 1995, UCPT purchased all of the propane transportation
agsets of Transpro South, Inc., a common carrier corporation, for approximately
$218,000. In addition, UCPT entered into a ten-year non-compete agreement with
the prior owner for 56,000,

During the first guarter of 1295, UCG Energy purchased a 45% interest in
certain contracts related to the gas marketing business of Woodward Marketing,
Inc. (WMI), a Texas corporation. In exchange for the acquired interest, Lhe
shareholders of WMI received 55,000,800 in the company's common stock (320,512
ghares} and $832,000 in cash in May 1935, and may, if certain earnings targets
are met, receive up to 51,000,000 in cash to be paid over a five-year period. In
exchange for its own gas marketing contracts and the acquired 45% interest in
the WMI gas marketing contracts, UCG Energy received a 45% interest in a newly
formed limited liability company, Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. {WMLLEC). WMI
received a 55% interest in WMLLC in exchange for its remaining 55% interest in
the WMI gas marketing contracts. WHMLLC provides gas marketing gexvices to
industrial customers, municipalities and local distributicn companies, including
Citiegs. UCG Energy utilized eguity accounting, effective January i, 1995, for
the acquisition. The excess of the purchase price cover the value of the net
tangible assets, amcunting to approximately $5,400,000, was allocated to
intangible assets consisting of customer contracts and goodwill, which are being
amortized over ten and twenty years, respectively.

Effeoctive January 1, 1995, UCPT purchased substantially all of tne assets
of Harrell Propane, Inc. for approximately $1,383,000. In addition, UCPT entered
into ten-year non-compebe agreements with the prior owners for $250,006, to be
paid over an eight-year period. This acquisition added approximately 1,300
propane customers in the Murfreesboro, Tennessee area.

EBffective April 14, 1984, UCPT purchased all of the assets of Hurley's
Propane Gas for approximately $938,000. In addition, UCPT entered into ten-year
nen-conpete agreements with the prior owners for $100,000, to be paid over a
five-year period. This acquisition added approximately 700 propane customers in
the Morristown, Tennessee area.
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ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Financial Accounting Standardeé Board {FASB) has approved a statement of
financial accounting standards effective for the fiscal years ending after
December 15, 1997, which establishes staundards for computing and presenting
earnings per share and also establishes standards with respect to disclosure of
information about an entity’s capital structure. The company is required to
adopt the provigsions of the statement in the first gquarter of 1997 and does not
expect the adoption thereof to have a material effect on the company's results
of cperations.

In October 1995, the FASE issued Statement No, 123 (SFAS 123}, "account ing
for Stock-Based Compensation.® This statement reguires new disclosures in the
notes to the Financial statements about stock-based compensation plans based on
the fajr value of equity instruments granted. Companies also may base the
recognition of compensation cost for instruments issued under stock-based
compensation plans on these fair values. The company adopted SFAS 123 effective
January L, 1996. Because of the limited nature of the company's stock-based
compensation plans, the adoption of SFAS 123 was immaterial.

In March 1995, the FASB issued Statement No. 121 {SFAS 121, fAccounting
for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assefs to be Disposed
Of." Thia statement imposes stricter criteria for regulatory assets by reguirving
that such assets be probable of future recovery at each balance sheet date. The
company adopted SFAS 121l effective January 1, 1936, and because of the current
regulatory structure in which Cities operates, the adoption did not have a
material effect on the results of operations, financial condition or cash fleows
of the cempany.

INTERNMAL REVENUE SERVICE AUDITS

The Internal Revenue Service (IRS)} has reviewed the consclidated federal
income tax returns of the company for the years 1991 through 1993. In September
1995, the revenue agent issued a report proposing certain adjustments to the
company's taxable income. In December 1995, the company filed a formal protest
and disagreement with the IRS on two proposed adjustments. Settisment of the two
issues was made at the IRS appeals office in July 1996, with no material effect
on the results of operatioms, financial condition or cash flows of the company.

[90f45

http://www.sec.gov/Archivesfedgar/data/101105/0000950144-97-002842.txt 6/15/2007




CONTEINGENCIES

The company is invelved in certain legal or administrative proceedings
pefore various courts and agencies with respect to rates and other matters.
Although unable to predict the outcome of these matters, it is management's
opinion that final disposition of these proceedings will aot have a material
effect on the results of operations, financial condition or cash flows of the
COTpAany .

IMPACT OF INFLATION

The company experiences the effect of inflation primarily through the cost
of materials, labor and related ewployee benefits, and services. Since Cities
can only adjust its rates to recover these additional costs through the
regulatory process, increased costs may have a significant impact on its rasulits
of operations. Management continually assesses the need to file for rate
increases in each of the states in which Cities operates. Cities has PGA clauses
in the states in whic¢h it operates which permit any fluctuations in gas costs to
pe passed through to its customers, subject to the ingentive rate program in
Tennessee and prudency and/or administrative reviews by the commissions in the
other seven states.
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RESULTS OF CPERATICNS
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME AND DIVIDENDS

The company had net income of $17,202,000 or $1.3}1 per sharve in 1995, an
increase of $7,267,0800 or $.47 per share from 1995 net income. The increase was
primarily a rvesult of an increase in operating margin, offset s1ightly by an
increase in operating expenses. Net income of $9%,935,000 in 1995 or $.84 per
share represented a decrease of $2,158,008 or $.32 per share from 1994 net
income. The decrease was primarily a result of increased operating expenses,
offset slightly by an increase in operating margin. The company's annual
dividend paid per share was $1.02 in 1995,

UTILITY OPERATING MARGIN

The operating margin of $126,016,000 in 1996 represents an increase of
£13,332,000 over the 1995 margin of $1132,664,000. The increase in operating
margin was primarily a result of colder weather during 1296 as compared to 1395
rate increases granted during 1986 and late-1995 in several states, the
acquisition of Monarch Gas Company, and volunes scld to new residential and
commercial customers., The operating margin increased $4,6848,000 from 199%4 to
1995 primarily as a result of slightly colder weather during 19%%5 as compared to
1994, volumes sold to new residential and commercial customers, and rate
increases granted dering 1995 in several states.

UTILITY OPERATING EXPENSES

Operation and maintenance expenses increased %880,000 from $61,826,000 in
1995 to 862,706,000 in 1996. The increase is primarily a result of an increases
in payroll and related benefits, increased distribution expenses and increased
ieasing expenge on computer related equipment. In 1996, the company began
leasing computer related eguipment as opposed to purchaging the eguipment &s was
done in prior years. The effect of thess increases in oparation and maintenance
expengas from 1995 to 1996 was somewhat offset by a decrease in certain
administrative expenses primarily attributable to the Virginia/Zast Tennessee
Division consolidation that occurred in the third guarter of 1995. Five of the
company’s local operations in this division were consclidared into btwo new
operating centers. As a result, costs of approximately $900,000 ($5506,000 after
income tares) related to early rerirement and severance programs and employes
relocation expenses were recorded in September 1995. In addition, outside
services expense decreased frowm 1995 to 1996, Outside services expense for 1995
included incremental expenses related to addressing labor and persennel related
activikbies, strategic planning and the IRS audit.

Operations and maintenance expenses increased 54,522,000 from $57,304,000
in 1994 to $61,B26,000 in 199%. The increase is primarily a result of increased
payroll and related benefits, the virginia/East Tennessee Division consolidation
in 1295 and increased outside services expense.

Depraciation and amortization expense increased $1,4%6,000 in 1996 and
£1,185,000 in 1995 from the prior year periods primarily due to additional plant
in service. Federal and state income taxes varied im all pariods in relation to
changes in income. In addition, federal and state income taxes increased from
1982 to 1995 as a regult of additional accruals made in 1995 to true-up cuxvent
and deferred income taxes and provide for permanent differences. Other taxes
increased $290,000 from 1985 to 1996 primarily as a result of franchise taxes on
additional revenues. Other taxes increased 51,561,000 from 1994 to 1295
primarily due to property taxes on additional plant in service.

25
<PAGE> 28

MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF PINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

hitp://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/101105/00009501 44-97-002842.1xt

Page 20 of 45

6/15/2007




Page 21 of 45

UNITEDR CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

OTHER UTILITY INCOME (EXPENSE), HET OF TAX

Other utility income (expense}, net of tax decreased $191,000 f{rom income
of $655,000 in 1995 to $464,000 in 1996. COther untility income {expense}, net of
tax increased 3917,000 from an expense of $262,000 in 1924 to income of $655,000
in 1995, The increase was a rvesult of revenues from the incentive rate program
in Tennegsee and an increased amount of revenues recognized by Cities related to
the release of its excess firm capacity on the pipelines which serve Cities. In
addition, the increase in other utility income (expense}, net of tax was a
result of a $171,000 credit for the capitalization of the equity portion of the
allowance for funds used during construction (AFUBC) of the twenty-eight mile
main in Middle Tennessee and increased interest income on deferred gas costs
that are to be billied in the future.

UTILITY INTEREST EXPENSE

interest expense increased from $14, 289,000 in 1895 Lo $14,760,000 in 1996.
interest on long-term debt increased $739,000 as a result of interest on the
medium-term notes issued in late-1895, slightly offset by the retirement of
other long-term debt. Other interest expense decreased $278,000 as a result of
lower cutstanding balances of short-term debt and other wiscellaneous
liabilities during 1%9s. Other interest expense in 1995 was impacted by a
$34%, 0600 reduction to interest expense related to the capitalization of the debt
portion of the AFUDC of the twenty-eight wile main in Middle Tennessee.

Interest expense increased Erom $14,887,000 in 1994 Lo 31,295,000 in 1995.
Interest on long-term debt decreased $317,000 due to the retirement of long-term
debt. Other interest expense increased §529,000 primarily as a result of
interest on additional short-term debt and other miscellaneous liabilities
outstanding during 1995. This increase was somewhat offset by the $343,000
reduction to interest expense in 1995 related to the capitalization of the debt
portion of the AFUDC of the twenty-eight mile main in Middle Tennessee.

SUBSIDIARY OPERATIONS

Subsidiary operations contributed 25.8%, 42.2% and 35.4% of the company's
net income in 1996, 19%5 and 1994, respectively. The following is a discussion
of the results of operations of the company's subsidiaries, UCG Energy
Corporation and United Cities Gas Storage Company.

UCG ENERGY CORFPORATION

Rovenues increased from $34,433,000 in 1995 to $43,902,000 in 18%6.
Revenues in the Gtility Services Division decreased $2,498,000 as a result of
the transfer of certain natural gas contracts to WMLLC. The Propane Division's
revenues increased 513,722,000 due to increased retail and wholesale volumes
sold and increaged transport revenues, both due te colder weather in 1996 as
compared to 1995, and the acquigitions of Arrow Propane, Inc. it September 1996,
Duncan Gas Seyvice in January 19%6 and Transpro South, Inc. in May 1995. The
kental Division's revenues decreased §$1,755,000 due to the elimination of rental
revenues related to the transfer of certain rental units to Cities.

Revenues decreased from $38, 383,800 in 1994 to 534,433,060 in 1998
principally because of decreased gas brokerage sales Lo municipalities,
industrial and other customers. This decrease was primarily due to the transfer
of certain gas brokeragse contracts in the Utility Services Divigsion to WMLLC.
ilso contributing to the decrease was the discontinuance of the distribution of
energy-related products In the Utility Services Division. This dacrease was
partially offset by an increase in revenues in the Propane Division generated by
additienal wholesale and retail volumes sold resulting from the acquisitions of
Transpro South, Inc. in May 1995, Harrell Propane, Inc. in January 1995 and
Hurley's Propane Gas in April 1994. The Rental bivision experience¢ a decrease
in revenues due to lower rental rates on particular rental uaits in service as
well as the elimination of certain revenues dus to the transfer of certain
rental units to Cities in 1995.
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Operating expenses increased from 525,625,000 in 1995 to $35,947,0680 in
1996, Expenses of the Utility Services bDivision decreased $2,5%37,0080 as a result
of decreased cost of sales due to decreagsed gas brokerage activities. Expenses
increased $12,766,000 in the Propane Division due to a combination of the cost
of increased propane volumes sold as well as increased administrative and
general expenses. These increases were the result of colder weather in 1996 as
compared to 19295, and the acquisitions of Arrgw Propane, Inc., Duncan Gag
gervice and Transpro Socuth, Inc. Expenses increased §%3,000 from 1995 to 1986 in
the Rental Division.

Operating expenses decreased from 428,713,000 in 1994 to $25,625,000 in
1995, The decrease of $3,088,000 is related to the decrease in the cost of sales
resulting from rveduced sales in the Utility Services Division. This decrease was
partially offset by an increase in the cost of sales in the Propane Division on
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additional volumes sold as well as an increase in general and administrative
expenses, all principally due to the propane acquisitions during 1995 and 19%4.

interest expense increased from 51,192,000 In 1995 to $1,366,000 in 13%6
due to interest payments asscciated with both the long-term fimancing of a 13395
acquisition and short-term berrowings outstanding at the end of 1995 which were
converted to long-term debt im 19296 in the Propane Division. Interest expense
increased from $773,0600 in 1994 to 31,192,600 in 1995 primarily due to interest
payments on short-term financing resulting from the WMLLC acquisition.
Contributing to this increase was interest expense on additional short-term
borrowings in the Propane Division.

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased from $4,378,000 in 1395 to
$31,820,000 in 19%6. The decrease was duwe to the elimination of depreciation
expense on certain rental units in the Rental bivision which were transferred to
Cities at the end of 1995. This decrease was partially offset by depreciation
expense on additional plant and equipment in the Propane Division. Depreciation
and amortization expense increased from $3,580,000 in 1994 to $4,378,000 in
1995. This increase was due primarily to the amortization of the intangible
assets related to the investment in WMLLC of approximately $374,000 in the
ULility Services Division. Also, contributing to the increase was increased
amortizaltion on exploration projects and depreciation on additional plant and
eguipment .

Other income of UCG Energy increased from 52,330,000 in 1995 to $3,043,000
in 1995. Investment incowe from WMLLC in the Utility Services Division increased
5643,000 from $1,354,000 in 1995 to 51,997,000 in 1996. Also contributing to the
increagse in other income was additional income from investments in oil and
natural gas explovation and production projects in the Utility Services
pivision. Other income of UCG Energy increased from $727,000 in 19%4 to
52,330,000 in 1995 primarily as a result of investment income fyom WMLLC.

Net income for UCG Energy was $3,605,000, $3,450,000 and $3,750,000 in
1996, 1395 and 1994, respectively.

URITED CITIES GAS STORAGE COMPANY

United Cities Gas Storage Company's net income was $806, 000, $740,008 and
$526,000 in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. The increase in net income from
1985 to 1996 was primarily a result of decreased interest expense resulting from
the retivement of long-term debt outstanding. The increase in net income from
1924 to 1995 was primarily a result of increased revenues for storage services
provided primarily to the utility company and a decrease in operating expenses
other than gas cosk.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING ARD
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.,
PART 11X

ITEM 10, 11, 12, AND 13, comstituting Part 1II of the Form 10-¥, have been
cmitted from this annual report pursuant to the provisions of Instruction G to
Form 10-K, since a defimitive proxy statement, which is incorperated hersin by
reference, except for the repert of the compensation committee of the board of
directors and the performance graph, will be filed on or about March 31, 1397.
information required for executive officers is inciuded in Part I, Item L.

PART 1V
TTEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS OW FORM 8-K.

fa} {1} Financial Statements:
See Part II, Item &
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<S>
Report of Independent Public ACCOUNEANES . ... ... ...t niiioe it i iiem e
Sciedule
Humber
X Condensed Financial Information of Registrant ..
I Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ......... e e e
All other schedules are not submitted
becauge they are not applicable or because the
reguired information is included in the financial
statements or notes thereto.
Individual financial statements of United
Cities Gas Company are omitted as Cities is primarily
an operating company and the subsidiaries (UCG Ensrgy
Corporation, United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessae,
Inc., UCG Leasing, Inc., and United Cities Gas
Storage Company} included in the consolidated
financial statements are wholly-owned.
28
a1
Exhibits filed:

A complete listing of exhibits required is given in the

Exhibit Index (page 56} which precedes the exhibits

filed with this report. A list of the compensation

plans is set forth below.

i0.01 annual Incentive Compensation Plan
effective January 1, 1989, as revised,
(filed with the Registrant's Aunual
Raport on Form 10-K for the year ended
bDecember 31, 199%4, and incorporated
herein by reference;.

10.02 Supplemental Executive Retirement
Compensation Agreement, as revised (filed
with the Registrant's. Annual Report on
Form 10-X for the year ended December 131,
1295, and incorporated herein by
reference) .

10.03 Long-Teym Stock Plan of 1989, {filed with
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31
1889, and incorporated herein by
reference} .

10.04 birectors' Deferred Compensation Plan
effective February 1, 1992, (filed with
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form
i0-K for the year ended December 31,

1992, and incorporated herein by
raference} .

18.05 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan
effective February 28, 19395, {filed with
the Registrant's Form 10-Q dated Jume 30,
1%95, and incorporated herein by
referencel} .

10.06 Key Management Deferred Compensaticon Plan
effective January 1, 1995, (filed with
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31,

1995, and incorporated herein by
referencaj .
Reports filed on Form 8-K:

Exhibits flled:

Financial State

32

The following Form B-Ks have been filed subsegquent to
che filing of the Form 10-Q dated September 30, 1956:

1. Form 8-%, Item 5 dated Novewber 7, 1996.
Z. Form 9-X, Item 5 dated Hovember 18, 19356.
3. Form 8-K, Iitem 5 dated December 16, 12356.

A complete listiny of exhibits required is given in the
gxhibit Index {page 56} which precedes the exhibits
filed with thig report.

ments Omitted from Annual Report to Security Holders:
Hone .

29
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS QF INCOME

UHITEDR CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

<TABLE>
<CAPTION:
For the Years Ended December 31, 1996 1985 1994

{In Thousands, except per share data)

<82 <C> <C= <C>
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES 5 353,382 § 271,880 5 280,984
Natural gas cost ...... 227,366 155,176 172,968
UFILITY GPERATING MARGIN ... .. iimitiernainnannns 126,016 112,684 108,016
OTHER UTILITY OPERATING EXPENSES:
Operations ... ... ... iaiiieie e h6,073 55,426 51,299
Maintenance . .....ccceienanannnn . . 5,633 8,400 6,005
Depreciation and ameortizaticn .. . 16,6815 15,119 13,934
rederal and state income taxes ... .. 7,018 4,050 3,873
Other taxes .............. e 12,590 12,300 10,739
- 98,929 §3,295 85,850

UTILITY OPERATING INCOME . - -
OTHER UTILITY INCOME (EKPENSE}, NET OF TAY ..., ... ... 464 655 (262}

UTILITY INTEREST EXDPENSE:
Interest on long-term debb
Other interest expense

Total utility interest expense 14,760 14,259 14,087

e e 12,791 5,745 7,817

OTHER INCOME:
Cperations of UCG Energy Corporation--

REVEMUESE . .41 s v vsnnrannstonnsnnnannsanes PR 43,902 34,433 38,383
Operating expenses .........cuieeiarnnons Ve (35,947} {25,625} {28,713}
Interest @Xpense ......... . oiiiiaionn PR {1,366} {1,192} {773
pepreciation and amortization ...... e {3,820} {4,378} {2,580}
Other income ... v ereinnnnons e 3,843 2,330 727
Federal and state income Eaxes .....-...oa.an {2,207} {2,118} {2,224}

Operations of UCG Storage Company--

Revenues ....... e e B 5,664 7,443 7,128
Operating EXDENEES . ...+ ecracenmeoenans s {3,114} {4,205} (4,952}
Interest EeXPEeRSE .. ... i.e it fedy) {965} {948}
Depreciation and awertigation .. (324) 1368} {386}
Pederal and state income taxes . (509) {465} {336}

</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these congolidated statenents.
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<PAGE> a3

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES
«TABLE=>

«CARPTIONS

For the Years Ended December 31
{In Thousands)

CASH FLOWS FRCM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
«Bx»

Adiustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in}
operating activities:

pepreciation and amortization .... 20,829 19,865 17,880
Deferred LaXes ... . 1,574 1,780 1,301
Investment tax credits, net .... (3621 {354} {370}
Investment income From Woodward Marketlng, L.L.C P {1,997) (1,354} -

Changes iu current assets and current iiabilities:
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Receivables - {14,4185) {11,187} 7,032
Materials and supplies ... . A {508} 264 183
Gas in storage ...... L e {12, 055) 2,868 {468}
Gas costs to be billed in the EULULE 2,592 244 {7,911
Prepayments and ofher ... {1,359) 18 1,007
accounts payable . ... ... o a 16,038 144 {8,437}
Customer deposits and advance payments ... . {1,201} {2,085] 2,180
Acerued interest e {133} 2687 {1,112}
Supplier refunds due customers {5,653} 1,013 1,227
Accrued taxes §,524 {1,95%) 2,489
Other, net ... 652 {1,085} 409

16,529 15,355 15,430

27,731

Met cash provided by operating 27,523

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to property--utilicy ................ R {32,767} (35, 160} (20,888}
Additions to property--non-utility .......... . - - {6,572} (4,926) {4.228)
rroceeds from (investment in} Woodward 4arket1ng, L.L.C 785 {832} -

Wet cash used in investing activities ...... {38,544} (40,918} {35, 116)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Short-term borvowings, REL ... .eaeri i e 33,375 {13,875} 23,325
procaeeds from issuance of long-term debt o 27,800 -
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ...l e 2,640 23,314 3,262
Long-term debt retirements {13,734} {6,347} {7,833}
bividends paid {11,062} {10,206} {9,215)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS ..... .
CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS AT END OF YEAR e s 7.408 5 7,002 5 2,744

CASH PAID DURING THE PERIOD FOR:
interest, net of amounts capitalized .......... . ... ...l . .. . 5 17,0861 5 146,164 5 16,948

Incoma taxes

NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIV
Rividends reinvested

< /TABLE>
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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CONSQLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SURSIDIARIES

<TABLE >
<CAPTION>
as of December 31,
(IH Thousands}
ASSETS
UTILITY PLANT:
<G> <> <C>
pilant in service, at cost .........- S 477,832 $ 445,058
Less--accunulated depreciation 175,156 157,968

HON-UTILITY PROPERTY:
property, plant and equipment .. ...........o.on
Less--accumulated deprectation

CURRENT ASSETS:

¢ash and temporary investments ........... e e e e e P 7,408 7,002

Receivables, less allowances for uncollectlble accounts of $1 746 in 1998
and 51,352 in 1935 ... .. 68,933 54,517
Materials and supplies ... . . . 5,422 4,914
Gas in SEOYAgEe .. .. ...t 28,658 16,643
Gas costs to be b1lled in the future 13,121 15,713
Prepaywments and other .......... P 3,387 2,028
126,969 100,817
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Unamortized debt discount and expense, 2,775 2,896
Non-compete agreements, &L ... ... aiaia i .. . 3,183 3,25%
Investment in Woodward Marketing, L.L 5,062 7,012
Other deferred charges ............. - 15,040 11,381

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

CAPITALIZATION:
Common stock equity $ 157,284 5 146,071
Long-term debt ..... 153,859 163,160
311,143 309,231
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Currvent portion of leng-term cbligations .............. P 7679 9,155
HNotes payable .. .. ... .. e . 65,688 32,313
Accounts payable for gas costs . . 319,486 24,433
Other accounts payable ..... R . .. e 5,869 4,884
Accrued La8Xe8 . ......iciihaiia . . 10,544 4,420
Custoner deposits and advance PAyMENLE . ... ..ot e 13,877 12,078
BT eTeh s T=Ts B 1 Lot =1 = .- vA G T 3,479 3,612
Supplier refunds due customers 801 6,454
OEREr ... e e e s . 11,514 8,580

DEFERRED CREDITS:
Accumulated deferred income LaX ... ia e acaaen 33,017 31,598
Deferred investment tax credits 3,936 4,281

Income taxes due customers 4,943 5,150
4,273

</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance
sheets.
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COMSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
As ¢f Regember 31, 1996 1885

<8 «Cx» <Cx <C> <Cx
COMMON STGCK EQUITY:
Common Stock without par value, authorized
16,000,000 shares, outstanding 13,220,538 in 1386
and 12,727,288 in 1395 s 108,056 5 101,735
Capital surplus ............. 22,4862 22,462
26,7566 21,874

Retained earnings

LONMG-TERM DERT:
First mortgage bonds--

Series M, B.69%, due 2000 7,800 16,080
Series P, 10.43%, due 2017 25,000 25,000
Series ¢, 9.75%, due 2020 20,000 20,000
Series R, 11.32%, due 200¢ .. . .. 15,000 15,0800
geries 8, ©.71%, due 1997 ......... - -- 7,800
Series T, 9.32%, due 2021 ....... 18,000 18,0600
Series U, §.77%, due 2022 ...... 28,000 20,000
Series ¥, 7.50%, due 2007 ...... 1¢, 000 10,000
Total first mortgage bonds 115,600 125, 000
Medium term notes, 6.20% through 6.67%
due 2000 through 2025 ............ e e e e e 22,000 22,000
Senior secured gtorage term notes, 7.45%
due in installments through 2007 ............ e ' 9,353 9,926
Rental property adjustable rate term notes
due in installments through 1899 ........... e P £,497 5,691
Rental property fixed rate term note,
7.9%, due in installments through 2013 ... .ot PR 2,161 2,292
Propane term note, §.99%, due in installments
through 2802 ....... e et [P 4,500 5,000
Other long-term obligations due in installments
ERrough 2008 ... vttt i e 4,027 2,406
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162,538 172,315
LEe5SS--CRErent reguilXements ... ...t iaa e v 7.679 9,155
Total long-term debt, excluding amounts due
within one year .................. e e e e 153,859 49 .4% 163,150 52.8%

</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS, CAPITAL SURPLUS AND COMMON STOCK

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

<TABLE>
<CAPTION=>
RETAINED CAPITAL COMMON
{In Thousands, except share amounts} EARNINGS SURPLUS STOCK
«8=> <> <C» <C>
BALAMCE DECEMBER 31, 1993 . ... .. ... e e e e e $ 22,320 § 22,4562 5 67,106
Add-net income . ............n - e e e e e e 12,083 - -
Common stock activity:
Se1d under employee stock purchase, dividend reinvestment,
long-term stock and customer stock purchase plans {295,415 shares} . - 4,516

BALAMNCE DECEMBER 31, 1994 .. ... ... i iiennn. e e e e e [P 23,944 22,462 71,622
Add-net IRCOME ... ... e e P 9,835 -
Common stock activity:

Sold under employee stock purchase, dividend reinvestment,

long-term stock, 401{k} and customer stock purchase plans

{413,327 shares) ....... S i e e - 6,313
Issued in acquisition of Weodward Marketing, L.L.C. - - 5,000
issuance of 1,380,000 shareg of common stock ........ - 18,900

103,235

Add-net income
Common stock activity:
sold under employee stock purchase, dividend reinvestment,
long-term stock, non-employee director and customer stack
purchase plans {285,892 sharves} ..... Py s

< /TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these conscolidated statements.
14

WOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION-

The conasclidated financial statements include the accounts of United Cities
Cas Company (Cities} and its aubsidiaries (collectively, the company}. The
operations of UCG Energy Corporation (UCG Energy) and United Cities Gas Storvage
Company {(UCG Storage), whelly-owned subsidiaries of Cities, shown in the
accompanying Consolidated Statemente of Income, include affiliated revenues of
$%,112,000, $12,760,000 and $13,565, 000 for the years 1996, 1895 and 1994,
respectively.

The affiliated revenues of UCG Energy represent rental charges to Cities
for transportation egquipment and office facilities, and in 1995 and 1894, the
affiliated revenues also included the saie of gas-related equipment to Cities.
The affiliated revenuee of UCG Storage cousist of charges for natural gas
storage gervices and natural gas sales to Cities. In management's opinion, such
intercompany charges compare favorably with terms which Cities could obtain from
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other sources under comparable conditions.

SYSTEM OF ACCOUHNTS-

Cities i5 a public utility which distributes natural gas in Temnessee,
Xansas, Georgia, Virginia, Illincis, Missouri, Iowa and South Carslina, Cities
is subiect to regulation with respect to rates, service, wmaintenance of
accounting records and various other matters by the respective regulatory
authorities in the states in which it operates. The consolidated financial
statements are based on generally accepted accounting principles (GAMP} which
for Cities give appropriate recognition to the ratemaking and accounting
practices and policies of the various vegulatory commissions.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP vequires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect thé reported amounts aof
assets and liabilities and disclosure cof contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenuas and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual resuits <ould differ from those
estimates.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING-

the consolidated financial statements reflect actions by the regulatory
authorities in the states in which Cities operates that result in the
recognition of rvevenues and expenses in different time periods than do companies
that are not regulated. As a result of the ratemaking process, regulatory assets
and liabilities are deferred in accordance with Statement of Finaucial
nccounting Standards Mo. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of
Regulation.”

UTILITY PLANT-

Urility plant is stated at the historical cost of construction. Such costs
inciude direct construction costs, payroll related costs ({taxes, pensions and
other fringe benefits), administrative and general costs, and the estimated cost
of allowance for funds used during construction. The estimated cost of allowance
for funds is as follows:

<«TABLE>
<CAPTION>

Debt portion of the cost of funds .................
Equity portion of the ceost of funds

«/TABLE>

The debt portion of the cost of funds is reflected as a credit to "Other
interest expense" in the amounte of $258,000, 5489,000 and 5183,000 in 1996
1995 and 1994, respectively. The equity portion of the cost of funds is
reflected in "Other utility income {expense), net of tax" in the amounts of
5186,000, $256,000 and $111,000 in 1996, 1985 and 1994, respectively.

DEPRECIATION AND MAINTENANCE-

pepreciation is provided in the accounts based on straight-line composite
rates of 3.5%, 1.6% and 3.4% of the cost of depreciable utility plant in service
in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.

Cities Follows the practice of charging to maintenance the cost of normal
repairs of property and the replacements and renewals of items considered to be
iess than units of property. Replacements and renewals of items considered to be
units of property are charged to gtility plant accounts. Units of property
replaced or retired are credited to the utility plant accounts and charged to
accumulated depreciation,

35

<PAGE> 38
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES
CUSTOMER RECRIVABLES AND OPERATING REVEMUES-

The company is priwmarily engaged in the distribution and sales of natural
and propane gas to a diverse base of residential, commercial and industrial
customers in 49 operating areas in the states of Tennessee, Kansas, Georgia,
virginia, Illineois, Migsgouri, Iowa, South Carvolina, North Carolina and Xentucky.

Cities' aperating revenues are nased on rates approved by the regulatory
commissions in the states in which it operates. Cities follows the practice of
accruing for services rendered but unbilled at the end of the accounting period.

The Georgia Public Sexrvice Commission and the Tennessee Regulatory
Authority (formerly the Tennessee Public Service Commission} have approved the
jmplementation of Weather Normalization Adjustments {(WNAs}. The WHas, pEfective
Gotober through May each year in Georgia and Wovember through April each year in
Tennessee, allow Cities to increase the base rate portion ¢f custemers' bilis
when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is
coldey thaun normal. The net effect of the WNAs was a decrease in revenues of
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$2,612,000 in 1996 and an increase in revenues of $1,030,000 and $2,050,000 in
1995 and 19854, respectively.

REFUNDABLE OR RECOVERRBLE GAS COSTS-

Cities' refunds from pipeline suppliers and changes in cost of gas
delivered to customers, which are different from the amounts recovered through
rates, are deferred and are being refunded or recovered in accordance with
procedures approved by the state commissions. Effective april 1, 1995, and for
an experimental two-year period, the Purchased Gas Adjustment {PGA) clause in
Tennessee was wodified by an incentive rate program which compares Cities’
purchased gas prices to market prices. The gains or losses to be recognized by
Cities as a result of the incentive program were limited to a maximum of $25,000
per month in the plan year ended March 31, 1996, and limited to a wmaximum of
4600,000 per year in the plan year ending dMarch 31, 1997. Cities recognized
gains related to the incentive program in Tennessee of §675,000 and 213,000 for
fiscal 1996 and 1995, respectively. An incentive rate pregram similar to the
Tennessee program has also been approved in Georgia for an experimantal two-year
period and is expected to be effective by the second guarter of 19%7.

INVENTORIES-

Inventories congist primarily of materials and supplies and gas in storage.
Materials and supplies include merchandise and appliances and are valued at
average cost.

Cities' liguefied natural gas and propane inventories and gas stoved
underground are valued on a first-in, first-out basis. Propane cwned by UCG
Energy is priced at average cost. Gas stored underground and owned by UCG
Storage is valued on a last-in, first-out (LIFO} bhasis. At December 31, 1996 and
1995, 55,004,000 and $3,799,000, respectively, of the total gas in storage was
valued on the LIFG basis. In accordance with Cities' PGA clauses, the
ligquidation of a LIFO layer would be reflected in subsequent gas adjustments in
customer rates and doss not affect the results of operations.

The categories of current gas in storage are as follows:

{in Thousands) 1996 1395

Natural gas stored underground ....... .. .5 1,674 3 4,784
Liguefied natural gas ............... .. .. 1,550 835
Propane ...... ... e 1,53% 830
tatural gas stored by pipeline suppliers 17,935 16,194

EARNINGS PER SHARE-

primary earnings per share have been computed on the basis of the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year.

36

NGTES TO COMSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNITED CITiES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES
FAIR VALUE OF FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS-

The carrying smounts of cash and temporary investments, short-term debt and
accrued interest approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of
these items. Based on the current markef rates offered for similar debt of the
same maturities, the fair value of the company's leong-term debt, including the
current portion, exceeded the carrying amount by approximately $18,200,800 and
$29,100, 600 at December 31, 1%9& and 1995, respectively. Management belisves
that tne prepayment provisions of the company’s first mortgage bonds do not make
it econmomically feasiblie to refinance the long-texm debt at this cime.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS-

For the purpose of the statements of cash Llows, the company considers all
highly liguid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or 1ess
to be cash eqguivalents.

Accounting Pronouncements-

Tn March 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board {FASB) issued
Statement No. 121 (SFAS 121}, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposaed Of." This statement imposes stricter
criteria for regulatory assets by requiring that such assebs he probable of
future reccovery at each balance sheet date. The company adopted SFAS 1zl
effective Januwary 1, 1996, and because of the current regulatory structure in
which Cities operates, the adoption did not have a waterial effect on the
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows of the company.

RECLASSIFICATIONS-

Certain reclassifications were made conforming prior years' financial
statements with 1996 financial statement presentation.

REGULATORY MATTERS
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In April 19%%, Cities filed to increase rates on an annual basis by
$810,000 in the state of Virginia. Cities was granted permission by the virginia
State Corporation Commission to implement the proposed rate increase effective
September 2%, 1%95. The increase is subject to refund pending the final ordex by
the commission which is expected by wmid-1897.

EMPLOYRE BENEFIT PLANS
PENSION-

The company has a trustesd noncontributory defined benefit pension plan
which covers substantially all employees. The plan provides benefits based on
vears of credited service and final average salary. The plan assets consist
principally of marketable equity secwrities, corporate and government debt
securities, and deposits with insurance companies. The company's policy is to
fund the plan in accordance with the reguirements of the Employea Retirement
Income Security Act.

The company also has an excess benefit pension plan that is unfunded and
may provide supplemental benefits to officers of the company after retirement.

Actuarial assumptions used for the plang are as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1986 1995 19¢4
«8> <C> <C> «Cx
Weighted-average discount rate ............ PRSP 7.50% 7.50% B.08%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels ... 5.50% 5.50% 5.50%
Expected long-term rate of weturn ....... e g.00% %.00% $.00%
</TABLE>

7

<PAGE> 49
MOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Het periodic pension expense for the plans in Ciscal 199&, 1995 and 1994
consists of the following components:

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

(In Thousands} 1996 1995 1994
<8 <Cx> «C>
Service cost ....... e s 3,451 $ 3,129
Interest cost ........ T, 4,295 3,857
Acktual return on plan assets {10,365) {1,067
Met amortization and ¢other ... 5,772 {3,591}

Net pericdic pension expense

<{TABLE>

A reconciliation of the funded status of the plans to the amounts
recognized in the company's consclidated financial statements at December 31,
1996 and 1995, is presented below:

<TABLE>

<CAFTION>

{In Thousands) 1986 1995
=8> <O <C>
vVested benefit obligation .......... . 5 46,974 5 4%,048

Nonvested benefit obligationm ..

Accumulated benefit obligation
projected galary increases

projected benefit obligation ....

Plan agsets ab Faivy VALUE .. ... i s
Funded status ............. e PN . e PP
Unrecognized net obligation being recognized over participants'
average remaining service periad ....... {1,616} {1,800}
Unrecognized net transition liability {191} {2507
Unrecognized net gain {loss) 1,933 {231}
9 461

adjustment to recogunize minimum ITiability

< /TABLE>

tnciuded in the 1995 accumulated benefit obligation aand met pericdic
pension expense is 3$576,000 of costs related to the company's consoclidation
activities in ite Virginia/East Tenmessee Divigion.

POSTRETIREMENT BENBEFITS AND OTHER-
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The company provides postretirement health care benefits for retired
employees. Substantially all of the company's employees will become eligible for
those benefits if they reach the normal retivement age while working for the
company. Net periodic postretirement benefit expense for the company's plan in
1996, 1995 and 1994 consists of the following components:

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

{In Thousands) 19%6 1995 1394
<G> <C= <C» <Cx>
Service cost $ 153 ] 128 s 196
Interest cost . 1,037 1,051 894
Actual return on plan assetg ... - (213 {207) 13
Amortization of transition costs 445 455

« /TABLE>

3B

NOTES TQ COMSOLIDATED FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS
UNITED CITIES GAS COMBANY & SUBSIDIARIES
A reconciliation of the funded status of the plan to the amounts

recognized in the company's consclidated financial statements at December 31,
1996 and 1995 is presented below:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
{In Thousands} 1396 1985
«8> <> <C>
Accumulated postretirvement benefit obligatioen:
Retirees ...... e e PR . $ 12,834 5 10,903
Fully eligible active plan participants .. . 1,015 2,302
Other active plan participants ..... [ 2,033 988

Accumulated obligation in excess of plan assets 12,167 11,490
Unrecognized net transition obligation {7,115} {7,559}
Unrecognized net loss ........... e {5,278} {4,019)

-ement benefit expense

Prepaid postret
</TABLE>

Actuarial assumptions used for the plan are as follows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

1996 1888 1994
<8 <C> <> <C>
Weighted-average discount rate ........... e e 7.50% 7.50% 8.50%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels ............. 5.50% 5.50% 5.50%
Expected long-term rate of return after estimated taxes .... 4.25% 4.25% 4.25%
</ TABLE>

For measurement putposes, a 10% annwmal rate of increase in rhe per capita
cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 1996 and 1995, and a 12%
annual rate of increase was assumed for 1994, Tn 1996, the rate was assumed to
decrease gradually to 5.5% over eight years and remain at that level thereafter.
The health care cost trend rate assumption has a significant effect on the
amounts reported. To illustrate, increasing the assumed health care cost trend
rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 1986, by $1,099,008 and the
aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net pericdic¢
postretirement benefit cest for the year then ended by $79,008:

The company’'s 4011{k} savings plan allows participants to make contributions
coward retirement savings. Bach participant may contribute up to 15% of
qualified compensation, For employee contributions up to 6% of the participant's
qualified compensation, the company will contribute 20% of the employee’s
contribution., The company way also contribute up to an additional 20% of the
employee's contribution based on certain criteria specified in the plan.
Effective January 1, 1995, any additional contribution made by the company will
be through the issuance of the company's common stock. For 1996, 1995 and 1994,
the company contributed $826, 000, 478,000 and $750,000, respectively, to the
461{k) plan.
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IRCOME TRXES

A detail of the federal and state income tax provision is set Eorth below:
<TABLE>
<CAPTION=
{In Thousands} 1998 193856 1994
<8> <C>» «Cx <C>

Charged to operating expenses--
Federal income taxes--

LT L = $ 2,244 $ 2,481
bBeferred, net ............. . 1,542 1,052
Investment tax credits, (364) {378
$tate income taxes--
Carvent ....... e e 951 450 498
Befarred, net ... .. .. L ol 234 178 214
7,018 4,050 3,873
Charged to other income, net--
Federal income taxes--
Lo Y N 2,447 2,450 2,039
Deferved, NEL ... ... e e e e 59 52 £
State income taxes
Current ,,..... 425 31¢ 421
Deferrad, net 17 a 5

</¥ABLE>

Incone taxes differ from amounts computed by applying the statutory rates
to pre-tax income as follows:

<TABLE>»
<CAPTION >

{In Thousands} 13395 1998 1396

<8=>
Het income ................
Income tax provision

Pre-tax income

Federal income tax at statutory rate of 34% .5 9,251 3 5,748 5 6,277
State income tax, net 1,100 630 750
Additional federal income tax provision 210 875 --
Amortization of investment tax credits ...... PP {362} {364} (379}
Amortization of excess deferred income tax ....... {182) 26 (288)
OEHEY, FEL &ttt ittt i neaees e .. {10 {5} {1y

</TABLE>
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The temporary differences which gave rise to the net deferred tax liability
at December 31, 19926 and 1995, were as follows:

< TABLE>

<CAPTION>

{In Thousands} 1996 1895
<85> <> <C=»

Deferred tax assets--
Unamortized investment tax credib .............. ... e 5 1,34¢% 5 1,410
Other ...... ... . o e e e e e e e e 3,517 4,095

5,863 5,505

Deferred tax liabilities--

Accelerated depreciation and other plant-related differences .. .. 36,153 34,785
AFUDC- By oot i e R, 890 721
Regulatory tax assets ....... O . .. 185 354
Additional deferred federal income tax liability accrued . - -- £25
Daductible legal fees ........ ... i N, 540 .-
Miscellaneous deferred charges ........ e, 478 191
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Other

d income tax liability

</TRBLE:

the Internal Revenue Service {IR8} has veviewed the consclidated federal
income tax returns of the company for the years 1991 through 19%3. In September
1995, the revenue agent issued & report propesing certain adjustments to the
company's taxable income. In December 1995, the company filed a formal protest
and disagreement with the IRS on two proposed adjustments. Settlement of the two
issues was made abt the IRS appeals office in July 1956, with no material effect
on the results of operations, financial condition or cash flowes of the company.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Cities is the ouwner or previous owner of manufactured gas plant sites which
were used to supply gas prior to the availability of natural gas. Manufactured
gag waes an inexpensive gource of fuel for lighting and heating nationwide. As a
result of the gas manufacturing process, certain by-products and residual
materials, including coal-tar, were produced and may have been accumulated at
the plant sites. This was an acceptable and satisfactory process at the time
such operations were being conducted. Under current environmental protection
laws and regulations, Cities may be responsible for response action with respect
to such materials, if response action is necessavy.

In June 1995, Citieg entered into an agreement to pay $1,787,000 to Union
Electric Company (Union Electric) whereby Union Electric agreed Lo assume
responsibility for Cities® continuing investigation and environmental response
action obligations as outlined in the feasibility study related to a former
manufactured gas plant site in Kecokuk, Towa, At December 31, 1936, Cities had
$1,072,000 accrued for its remaining liability related to the agreement. This
amount is to be paid in equal annuwal payments over each of the next three years.
Cities deferred the agreement amount of $1,787,000 and was granted recovery over
a ten-year period in the May 1898 Iowa rate increase.

Cities cwns former manufactured gas plant sites in Johnson City and
Bristol, Tennessee and Hannibal, Missouri. Cities and the Tennessee Department
of Envircnment and Conservation entered into a comsent order effective January
23, 1997, for the purpose of facilitating the investigation, removal and
remediation of the Johnson €ity site. Cities began the iwplementation of the
consent order in the first quarter of 1997. Cities is unaware of any information
which suggests that the Bristol site gives rise to a present health or
environmental risk as a result of the manufactured gas process or that any
yesponge action will be neceseary. The Missouri Department of Natural Resources
{MDNR} conducted a site reconnaissance and sampling at the Hannibal site. The
most recent MDNR report received concludes that hazardous substances and
nazardous wastes are present on site, and that a release of hazardous substances
to soils has occurred; however, the risk of human exposure appears to be
minimal. Additiomal site work is likely. As of Decewber 31, 1996, Cities had
incurred and deferred for recovery $309,000, including $258,080 related to an
insurance recoverability study, and accrued and deferred for recovery an
additional $750,000 associated with the preliminary survey and invasive study of
these three sites. The Tennessee Regulatory Authority granted Cities permission
to defer, until its next rate case, all costs incurred in Tennessee in
connection with state and federally

41

«PAGE> 44
HOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

mandated envivonmental control reguirsments. In addition, based on = decision by
the Missouri Public Service Commission concerning the recovery of environmental
response action costs incurred by another company, Cities expscis recovery of
the costs involved in the investigation and response action, if any, associated
with the manufactured gag plant site in Missouri.

pursuant to the Tenneasee Petroleum Underground Stovage Tank Act, Cities is
required to upgrade or remove certain undergrounnd storage tanks {USTs) situated
in Tennessee. as of December 31, 1996, Citles had identified a small number of
USTs in this category in Tennessee and had incurred and deferred for recovery
$3%6, 000 and, based on available current information, accrued and deferred for
recovery an additional $70,000 for the upgrade or removal of these USTs. The
Tennessee Reguilatory huthority granted Cities permissien to defer, until its
next rate case, all costs incurred in connection with state and federally
mandated environmental control requirements. In addition, Cities may be able to
recover a portion of any corrective action costs Irom the Tennessee vnderground
Stovage Tank Fund for the UST sites in Tennessee.

In October 1995, Cities received two NWotices of Viclation (NGVs) from the
Tennessee Department of Enviromment and Conservation (TDEC) concerning historic
relpases from a UST in XKingsport, Tennessee, This UST was formerly owned by
Holston Oil Co.. Inc. {Holston}, which at one time was a wholly-owined subsidiary
of Tennessee-Virginia Emergy Corpeoration (TVEC}. Prior to TVEC's merger with the
company in 1986, TVEC sold the common stock of Holston to an unrelated party.
Cities has responded to the NOVe advising the TDEC that Cities is not a
responisible party for amny envirommental contamination at the site. Cities does
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not anticipate incurring any response action costs at this site.

The Kansas Department of Health and Epvironment (KDHE) identified the need
ta investigate gas industry activities which utilize mercury equipment in
Kansas. Cities and the KDHE have signed a Consent Order for the investigation
and possible response action for wmercury contamination at any gas pipeline site
which is identifiad as exceeding the KDHE's established acceptable concentration
levels. As of December 31, 1986, Cities had identified approximately 720 meter
sites where mercury may have been used and had incurved and deferved for
recovery 562,000 and, based on available current information, accrued and
geferred for recovery an additional $280,000 for the investigation of these
sites. Cities has estimated that it may incur an additional amount ©f up to
54,160,000 over the next seven years in responding to a fukture administrative
order for those sites, if any, that exceed the KDHE's established acceptable
concentration levels. Cities has received an order from the Kansas Corpeoration
Commission (KCC} allowing Cities to defer and seek vecovery in future rate
proceedings the reasonable and prudent costs and expenses associated with the
Consent Order. In the order, the commission approved a Stipulation and Agreement
which provides a cap of $1,500,000 on amounts deferred with the ability to
exceed this cap if reasonable costs of response action are incurred. Based on &
decision by the KCC concerning the recovery of environmental response action
costs incurred by another company, Cities expects recovery of the costs involved
in the investigation and response action associated with the mercury meter sites
in Kansas.

¢ities addresses other envirommental matters from time to time in the
regular and ordinary course of its business. Management expects that fubure
expenditures related to response action at any site will be recovered through
rates or insurance, or shared among other potentially responsible parties.
Therefore, the costs of responding to these sives are not expected to materially
affect the results of operations, financial condition or cash flows of the
company.

CAPITAL 8TCCK
COMMON STOCK--

As of pecember 31, 1996, the company had 2,200,878 shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under the company's smployee and customer stock purchase
plans, the company’s dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan, the
company's 401{k} savings plan, the company's non-employee director stock plan,
and the company's long-term stock plan of 1989

uUnder the company's long-term stock plan implemented in 1989, incentive
stock options, nongualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock or any combination thereof may be granted to officers and key employees of
the company. The cption price per share must be at least equal to the fair
market value of one share of common stock on the date of the grant. The options
granted become exercisable at a rate of 20% per year and expire tem years after
the date of grant. The long-term stock plan has a Stock Appreciation Right (SAR)
feature which provides optionees the rigbt to receive appreciation in the sghares
of common stock subject to such cption in common stock or cash, or a combination
thereof, equal in value to the difference between the fair market value of such
chares on Lhe date of exercise and the option exercigse price. Option and SAR
transactions during the three years ended December 31, 1995, are as follows:
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<TABLE>
<CAPTIONH>

Options Exercise Price
«8> <Co =Cx «C>» <C»
Outstanding December 331, 1933 ......... N 46,2060 $12.50-15.125 16,170 £12.50-15.125
Granted ....... e 46,000 16.00 = --
Exercised ..... e e P {3,000) 12.50-15.125 {1,850] 12.50-15.125%

outstanding December 31, 1994 .......... 89,200 $ 12.50-16.00 15,120 $i2.580-15.125
Granted .......... ... PPN 319,000 15.75 -- --
Exerciged e {6,000} 12.50-16.00 (1,960} 12.50-15.125
rorfeited {3,700} 12.50-15.128 (2107 12.50-15.125
putgtanding December 31, 1995 ..... PR 118,500 § 12.50-16.00 12,550 $12.50-15.125
Granted ......... e - 39,000 15.50 -- -
Exercised ....... e PN {16,500} 12.56-16.00 {4,130} 12.50-15.12%
Forfeited ....... e, -- - -- .-

$ 12.50-16.00 8,820 $12.50-15.125

</TABLE>

is of December 31, 1596 and 1395, there were 45,200 and 38,400 options,
regpectively, and 8,820 and 10,710 SARs, regpectively, which were exercisable.
As of December 3i, 1996, 178,100 shares of common stock were reserved under the
company's long-term stock plan.
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In October 1995, the FASB issued Statement Mo. 123 ({SFAS 123}, "Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation." This statement reguires new disclosures in the
notes to the financial statements about stock-based compensation plans based on
the fair value of eguity instrumente granted. Companies also may base the
recagnition of cempensation cost for instruments issued under stock-based
compensation plans on these fair values. The company adopted SFAS 123 effective
January 1, 1996. Because of the limited nature of the company's stock-based
compensation plans, the adoption of SFAS 123 was immaterial.

ACQUISITIONS

Effective September 1, 1996, United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.
(UCPT), a wholly-owned subsidiary of UCG Energy, purchased subgtantially all of
the propane assets of Arrow Propane, inc., for approximately $610,800. In
addition, UCPT entered into a ten-year non-compete agreement with the prior
owners For $50,000. This acquisition added approximately 700 propane customers
in the Woodbury, Tennessee area.

On June 28, 1996, Monsrch Gas Company (Monarch} was merged into the
company, The merger was accounted for as a pooling of interests in which the
company issued 207,366 shares of the company's common stock in exchange for the
common stock of Monarch. In addition, the company enteved into [ive-year
non-compete agreements with the prior owners of monarch totaling 3$404,000. The
nerger added approximately 2,900 natural gas customers in the Vandalia, Illinois
area. The company did not restate prior years' financial statements due to
immaterialicy.

Effective January 1, 1996, UCPT purchased substantially all of the assets
of Duncan Cas Service for approximately %4,310,000. In addition, UCPT entered
into a ten-year non-compete agreement with the prior owners for $250,000, to be
paid over a ten-year period. This acquisition added approximately 2,000 propane
customers in the Johnson City, Tennesgeg area.

Effective May 22, 1995, UCPT purchased all of the propane transportation
assets of Transpro South, Inc., a common carrier corporation, for approximately
$218,000. In addition, UCPT entered into a ten-year non-compete agreement with
the prior owner for §6,008.

During the Eirst quarter of 1995, UCG Energy purchased a 45% interest in
certain contracts related to the gas marketing business of Woodward Marketing,
Inc. (WMI}, a Texas corporation. In exchange for the acquired interest, the
shareholders of WWI received 55,000,000 in the company's common stock (320,512
shares) and $832,000 in cash in May 1995, and may, 1f certain earnings targets
are met, receive up to $1,000,000 in cash to be paid over a five-year period. In
exchange for its own gas marketing contracts and the acquired 45% interest in
the WMI gas marketing contracts, UCG Energy rveceived a ¢5% interest in a newly
Formed limited liability company, Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. (WMLLC). WMI
received a 55% interest in WMLLC in exchange for its remaining 55% interest in
the WMI gas marketing contracts. WHLLC provides gas marketing services to
industrial customers, muanicipalities and local distribution companies, including
Cities. UCG Energy utilized equity accounting, effective January 1, 1985, for
the acgquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the value of the net
rangible assets, amounting ko approximately 55,400,000, was allocated to
intangible assets consisting of customer contracls and goedwill, which are being
amortized over ten and twenty years, respectively.
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gffective January 1, 1995, UCPT purchased substantially all of the assets
of Harreli Propane, Inc. for approximately $1,383,000. 1nn additicon, UCPT entered
into ten-year non-compete agreements with the prior owners for $250,000, to be
paid over an eight-year period. This acgquisition added approximately 1,300
propane customers in the Murfreesboro, Tennessee area.

Bffective April 14, 189s, UCPT purchased all of the asgets of Hurley's
Propane Gas for approximately 4918, 008. In addition, UCPT entered into ten-year
non-compete agreements with the prior owners for $100, 000, to be paid over a
five-year pericd. This acquisition added approximately 780 propane custemers ia
the Morristown, Tennessee area.

LONG-TERM DEBT

The company's mortgage dated as of July 15, 1952, as amended and
supplemented, securing the first mortgage bonds issued by the company
constitutes a divect first lien on substantially ail of Cities™ fixed property
and franchises. The company was in compliance with the reguirements of its
indentures during 1994. The company's medium-term notes, issued in 1995, are
unsecuyed and at December 31, 1996, bore a weighted-average interest rate of
6.60%, The company's senior secured storage term notes bear interest at a rate
of 7.45% and are secured by storage plant assets. The weighted-average interest
rate of the company's other long-term debt was approximately &.81% at December
31, 1996. Anmual maturities and sinking fwnd requirements of the company’s First
tortgaye Bonds and other long-term debt for the years 1997 through 2001 are
$7,679,000, $6,354,000, $8,473,000, $8,482,000 and $6,0321,000, regpectively.

INTERIM FINANCING
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The company has arrangements with several bankg which provide, through
mid-1997, a total line of credit of $185,000,000 in the form of master and
bhanker's acceptance notes bearing interest primarily at the lesser of the prime
rate oy a negotiated rate during the term of each borrowing. Under these
arrangements, at December 31, 1995 and 1995, the company had short-term debt
outstanding of $65,688,000 and $32,313, 000, respectively, with a
weighted-average interest rate of §.39% and 6.41%, respectively.

UCG Energy and WMI, sole shareholders of WMLLC, act as guarantors of a
512,500,000 credit facility for WMLLC with a certain bank. UCS Energy's portion
of the amount cutstanding on this credit facility at December 31, 19956, was
$607,000. UCG Energy and WMI also act as guarantors on ¢ertain purchases of
natural gas and transportation services from suppliers by WHDLC. UCG Energy's
portion of these outstanding obligations amounted to $9,437,000 at December 11,
1998,

OTHER

In the third guarter of 1995, the company announced a consolidaticn plan
under which five of the company's local operatiens in its Virginia/Bast
Tennessee Division were consolidated into two new operating centers, As a result
of the plan implementation, costs of approximately $906,000 ($550,000 after
income taxes) related to early retirement and severance programs and employee
relocation expenses were recorded in September 1855.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company is involved in certain legal or administrative proceedings
before various courts and agencies with respect to rates and other matters.
Although unable to predict the cutcome of these matters, it is management’'s
opinion that final disposition of these proceedings will not have a material
sffect on the resulis of operations, financial condition or cash {lows of the
COMEAnY .

ATHGS MERGER

On July 19, 1996, the company and Atmos Energy Corporatien (Atmas) entered
into a definitive agreement whereby the company will be merged with and into
Atmos, with Atmos as the surviving corporation. Under the definitive agreement,
one share of Atmos stock will be exchanged for each share of the company's
stock. The transaction is expected to be accounted for as a peoling of
interests. The transaction was approved by the shareholders of the company and
Atmos on Hovember 12, 1996, Pending apprxoval by appropriate regulatory bodieas,
the company expects te ¢lose the transaction during the second quarter of 19%7.
Atmos is based in DPallas, Texas, and currently provides natural gas service to
approximately 673,000 customers in Texas, Colorado, Kansas, Missouri, Louilsiana
and Kentucky.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED})

Effective February 28, 18%7, UCPT purchased substantially all of the
propane assets of Harlan LP Gas, Inc., a retail propane distribution company.
and Propane Sales and Service, Inc¢., a wholesale propane distribution company,
for approximately 52,040,000, In addition, UCPT entered 1ot ten-year
non-conpete agreements with the prior owners for $150,000 to be paid over a
ten-year period. This acguisition added approwimately 3,100 propanc Customers in
the Harlan, Kentucky and MNew Tazewell, Tennessee areas.

On March 5, 1997, the Tennessee Court of Appeals (the Court] issued a
decision reversing and remanding the Tennesses Regulatory Authority's order
which approved the incentive rate program for the plan year ending March 31,
1997. The Court found a procedural fault in how the Tennessee Regulatory
authority arrived at the order. At this time, further hearings have not been
scheduled,
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANIS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To United Cities Gas Company:

e have audited the accompanying consolidated balance shests and
consolidated statements of capitalization of United Cities Gas Company {an
j1lincis corporation} and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1996 and 1%95, and the
related consclidated statements of income, retained earnings, capital gurplus
and common stock and cash flows for each of the threa years in the period ended
bDecember 31, 1996. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’g management. Qur rvesponsibility is to express ai opinion on these
financial statemenis based on our audits.
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We conducted our auvdits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. ‘Those gtandards reguire that we plan and perform the audit teo obtain
reagonable asgurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
migstatement, An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amcunts and disclosures in the financial statements. aAn audit alsc includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our avdits provide a reasonaile basis for our cpinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of United
Cities Gas Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1%96 and 1995, and the
results of their oparations and their cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 1986 in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Hashviile, Tennessee Arthur Andersen LLP
February 14, 1997
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

{In Thousands, except per snare data)

<TABLE>

<CARPTION>

19%6 MARCH 31 JUME 30 SEPTEMBER 30 DECEMBER 31
<8 <C» (> <> Qs
Utility Cperating REVENUES .........iverenrnnn $144,709 $ 60,698 5 39,953 $108, 022
Utility Operating Income {Loss) $ 18,263 $ 521 5 {3,085} $ 11,358
et Income (LOSS){al « v iimee oo imnnennenns $ 17,523 g {3,112} 5 {6,472} S 9,263
et Income {Loss) Per Share(b) ............. . $ 1.35 E (.24} 3 (.49} 3 ]
<CAPTION>

1985 MARCH 31 JUME 30 SEPTEMBER 30 DECEMBER 31
«3> <Cx > <> «l>
Utility Operating Revenues . ................. $106, 0086 § 42,246 $ 12,248 $ 91,360
Urility Operating Income {(Loss) . . . 5 14,883 3 (557} $ (4,084} $ 9,147
¥et Income {Loss){al ............ . 5 13,327 5 {3,962} s (6,91%6) & 7,486
et Inceme (Loss) Per Share{b) $ 1.25 $ (.35} 5 (.55} $ .59

</ TABLE>

{a)} The pattern of guarteriy earnings (loss) is the result of the highly
geagonal nature of the business as variations in weather conditions
generally result in greater earnings during the winter months.

(b} May not add to year-end results due to changes in average number of
outstanding common shares bepfween periods.

MARKET INFORMATION

The common stock of the company is traded over-the-counter on the Masdag
Mational Market System under the symbol UCIT. The following table reflects the
quarteriy high and low closing sales prices of the common stock, ag compiled
from quotations supplied by the Nasdag Monthly Statistical Report, and the
quarterly dividends paid per share, for the years 1896 and 1995.

<TARBLE >

<CAPTION>

1996 MARCH 31 JUME 30 SEPTEMBER 30 BECEMBER 31
<S5 <Cx> <Co <> <Ca

High .......c..coonn e 5 18.5¢0 s 17.0¢0 § 23.00 5 23.83
Low ...... e R . 5 15.75 5 14.75 $ 15.006 5 20.00
Dividends per share . e =3 .a55 3 .255 4 . 255 s . 255
<CAPTION>

1985 MARCH 33 JUNE 36 SEPTEMBER 30 DECEMBER 31
<S> <Cx> <C= <Cx <C>

High ........... e e e e, P $ 16.2% 5 16.25 $ 16.5¢ 5 1B.7%S
LOW ovieiiin.... e - $ 15.2% 5 14.50 $ 14.7% $ 15.75
pividends per share ............... ... PR 3 L2535 b3 .255 3 255 5 255
«/TABLE>

47

<PAGE> 50
CONSOLIDATED FiNAMCIAL AND OPERARTING DATA

hitp:/fwww.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/101105/0000950144-97-002842.txt 6/15/2007



Page 38 of 45

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

<TABLE>
<CARPTICHN>
19%6 1895 1954
UPILITY OPERATING HEVENUES: <
5= «C> <> <C»
Residential N $185,922 $127,603 5129,519
Commarcial 95,683 70,967 73,278
Industrial--
Firm ............ 11,876 27,438 33,772
interruptible 40,225 33,338 35,237
Gther ........ . 8,411 4,412 1,813
263,758 273,777
8,102 7,207

NATURAL GAS THROUGH-PUT {MCF):*

Residential ... ... L oL, e e 25,458 22,5061 2%,352

COMMEYCIal .+ .ot r vt e s e et e s 16,706 15,165 14,118
Industrial--

Firm ...... o 7,083 7,324 8,134

Interruptibl 11,124 13,920 1%, 002

60,371 57,310 54,604

17,612 17,184 12,574

CUSTOMERS (AVERAGE FOR YEAR):

Residential ... ..t i B 276,892 266,532 259,895

[ et cit=F o wh - 3 S PN 35,620 34,435 33,861
Industrial--

Firm ...... . 404 195 3195

233 251 258

Matural gas 313,149 341,613 294,448

Propang ..... 26,108 23,358 21,693

PROPANE: *
Sales e . 4 34,730 5 22,124 5 18,510

. 23,832 13,038 10,126

40,721

</TRBLE=>

* In thousands
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<TABLE>
<CAPTION>

UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES:~®

<S> <C> <C» <Cx» <Cx <C> «Cn
Residential $1l9,245 510%,081 5 95,918 $ 79,245 5 75,659 $ 68,6568
Commercial 65,447 62,052 55,576 50,502 46,341 41,327
Industrial--
FRXm . .oneiiannn e 31,252 32,805 33,382 33,924 33,430 33,865 35,195
Interrupbible .. ... .. .. . e 36,703 2%,607 25,182 26,028 26,406 25,077 26,250
Other 3,411 &,530 2,692 6,787 3,957 1,777 2,812
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MATURAL GAS THROUGH-PUT (MCF):*

Residential . ... .. e P 23,055 20,481 19,879 17,745 14,135 13,875 12,162
Commercial ... ... s e 1¢,435 13,323 12,572 11,697 10,577 9,671 8,542
Industrial--
Fiemt .ooninnnoa.. 7,509 7,680 8,323 8,407 8,059 7,930 8,011
Interruptible . ... 11,861 10,101 4, 650 8,432 8,088 7,701 8,092
56,660 51,536 49,625 46,301 40,859 38,977 346,807
Transporbalion ... ... e 11,883 11,117 5,484 8,977 4,462 4,614 3,363
Total .. . . . P . 68,543 62,713 59,102 55,278 45,321 43,591 40,170

CUSTOMERS {AVERAGE FOR YEAR}:

Residential ... .. ... . o i i 250,051 242,350 236,215 228,678 166,859 157,022 151,304
Commercial .. ... e e e e 31,849 31,124 310,483 29,522 24,680 21,614 19,212
Industrial--
| 1 e 3135 387 376 466 d43 413 362
interruptible . 245 231 223 288 i7% 159 168
Matural gas . ... 2B2,5490 274,742 287,307 258, 944 182,153 178,208 171,048

B 20,498 21,1240 24,480 31,300 28,184 24,955 19,522

Propane

PROPANE: ¥
Bal@8 ... e 5 12,384 $ 9,882

Cost of sales 5,23% 4,429

< /TABLE>
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UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY & SUBSIDIARIES

<TABLE>
<CABTION>
1996 193856 1994
COMMON STOCK INFORMATION:
<S> «Cx <C> <Cx»
Het income/common stock earnings:*
Utility ......... $ 12,791 5 5,745 3 7,817
UCG Energy 3,608 3,458 3,750
806 740 526

UG Storage

{10.2%)

CAPITALIZATION:
Capitalization:*
Long-term debt ........... ... P, $ 153,85% § 163,160 § 144,344

preferrad and preference stock ......... .- --
Common stock equity .. . 146,071 118,028

5 309,231 § 262,372
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Capitalization {percent}
Long-term debt .,
rreferred and preference stock
Common Stock eguity

TOTAL ASSBTS*

*in thousands

50

COMSOLIDATED FIVANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA

<ThABLE>
<CAPTION>

5151,843 $157,734 5127,430 5 96,521 $ 78,230 $ 69,138 5 73,125
- -- 1,352 1,483 2,203 4,871 5,156
111,888 106,206 85,953 71,118 73,204 52,279 46,964

5401,520 4370, 150 $3648, 283 5338

167 5387,160 $212,62%9 5197,54¢6

< /'PABLE>
34

<PAGE > 54
SIGNATURES

pursuant to the reguirements of Sectiom 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behaif by the undersigned, thereto duly autherized.

UNITED CITIES GAS COMEANY
{Regigtrant)

ay: [s/ GENE C. KOONCE

Gene C. Kaonce
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

pated: March 20, 1997
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pursuant to the requirements of the Sscurities Exchange Act of 193¢, this
report has been signed below by the fellowing persons on behialf of the
registrants and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

<TABLE >

<CAPTIQN

SIGHATURE Title Date
<S> <Cx» <
/s/ GENE C. KOONCE Chairman, President and

e mmmmmmm——mmm o Chief Executive Officer
Gene C. Koonce

/s/ JAMES B. FORD Senior Vice President and

R e R i Treasurer a&nd Principal
James B. Ford Financial Gfficer

/s/ ADRIENNE H. BRANDON Yice Brasident and Controller

Bl Director
Jerry H. Ballengee

/s/ DWIGHT C. BAUM Director

" bwight C. Bawm

/s/ THOMAS J. GARLAND Director March 20, 1997

" thomas 7. Gariama

/s/ DALE A. KEASLING Director

" pale n. kessiing

/8/ VINCENT J. LEWIS Director

" Vincent 3. tewis

B e R Director
bennis L, MNewberry, I1I

/s/ STIRTON OMAN, JR. Director

T stirton omam, ge.

/s/ TIMOTHY TRIPLETT Divector

) Timothy #. Tripletft

/8/ GEORGE C. WOODRUFF, JR. Director

" George ©. woodruft, Jr.

«/TABLE>
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To United Cities Gas Company:

We have audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, the
consolidated financial statements of United Cities Gas Company and subsidiaries
inciuded in thig Form 10-K, and have issued our report thereon dated February
14, 1997. Cur audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic
financial statements taken as a whols. The schedules listed in the index are the
responsibility of the Company's management and are presented for purposes of
complying with the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and are not part
of the basic financial statements. These schedules have been subjected to the
suditing proceduras applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and,
in our opinion, fairly state in all wmaterial respects the financial data
reguired to be set forth therein im relation te the basic financial statements
taken as a whole.

ARTHUR ANDERSEMN LLP

Mashville, Tennessee
February 14, 1997

53
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UNITED CITIES GnS COMPANY AND SUBSIRIARIES

SCHEDULE 1 - CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996, 1995 AND 1994

DIVIDENDS FROM SUBSIDIARIES.

Cash dividends declared Lo Cities from the registrant's wholly-owned
subsidiaries were $160,000 in 1994, 56,100,000 in 1935 and $1,350,000 in 1994,

54

<PAGE> 57

UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AUD QUALIFYING ACCOUMTS
¥OR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996, 1995 AND 19594

Page 42 of 45

«<TABLE»
<CAPTION>
OTHER
BALANCE AT ADDITIQONS CHANGES BRLANCE AT
BEGINNING CHARGED TO IHNCREASE ENB OF
DESCRIPTION OF PERIOQD INCOME DEDUCTIONS {DPECREASE} PERIOD
{IN THOUSANDS)
<S> <C>» <C» <C> <Cx «Cx>
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1996 -
peducted in the balance sheet from the
asset to which it applies:

Allowance for ungollectible accounts ......... & 1,352 1,620 1,226 (a) - 5 1,748

included in the deferred credits section of
the balance sheat:
Injuries and damages reserve ..... e 3 1,134 &0 66

Inciuded in rhe current liabilities section
of the balance sheet:
Injuries and damages IeServe ................. $ 108 87 -

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995 -
Deducted in the balance sheet from the
asset te which it applies:
Allowance for uncollectible accounts ......... 5 1,017 1

included in the deferred credits section of
the balance sheet:
Tnjuries and damages reserve ......... e 5 774 360 -

included in the current liabilities section
of the balance sheet:
Injuries and damages UESeIVe ... .....-....-.-.. 5 313 36

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 33, 1994 -
pDeducted in the balance sheet from the
asset to which if applies:

Allowance for uncollectible accounts ......... 5 1,150 1,021 1,154 {a} -

included in the deferred credits section of
the balance sheet:
Injuries and damages reserve ........ e 35 1,064 &0 150

Tnciuded in the current liabilities section
af Lhe balance sheet:

Injuries and damages reserve ..... e 5 277 k1 -
</TABLE>
{a) Represents write-off of accounts considered to be uncollectible, less

collection of accounts prewiously written off.

55

<PAGE> S8
LIST OF BXHIBITS

3.01 amended Articles of Incorporation of Company, &s amended May 3, 1996,
{filed with the Registrant's Form 10-Q dated June 38, 1996 and
incorporated herein by refexencel.

3.902 amended By-Laws of Company, as amended August 22, 1396, {filed with the
Registrant's Form 10-Q dated September 30, 1996, and incorporated

herein by referenceij.

4.01 Indenture of Mortgage, dated as of July 15, 1959, from the Company Lo
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First Trust of I}linois, National Association, and M. J. Kruger, as
Trustees, as amended and supplemented through December 1, 1992, (the
Indenture of Mortgage through the 20th Supplemental Indenture, filed
with the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form §-3 (File No.
13-56882) and incorporated herein by reference).

4.92 Form of Indenture between the Company and First Trust of Lilincis,
Maricnal Association, as trustee (filed with the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form §-3 {(File No. 33-56983) and incorporated
herein by reference}.

10.01 Annual Incentive Compensation Plan effective January %, 198%, as
revised, (filed with the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1994, and incorporated herein by
reference} .

16,02 Supplemental Exscutive Retirement Compensation Agreement, as revised,
{filed with the Registrant's Arnual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1995, and incorparated herein by reference) .

10.03 Long-Term Stock Plan of 1989, (filed with the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form i0-K for the year ended December 21, 1989, and
incorporated herein by reference}l.

iG.04 Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan effective February 1, 1992,
{filed with the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1992, and incorporated herein by reference}.

10.05 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan effective Febyuwary 28, 1995 (filed
with the Registrant's Form 10-Q dated June 30, 1995, and incorporated
herein by reference}.

10.06 Key Management Deferred Compensation Plan effective January 1, 1895,
{filed with the Registrant's Amnual Regort on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 33, 1995, and incorporated herein by refereace) .

12.01 Computation of Ratio of Consclidated Earnings to Fixed Charges. {Page
57}
21. Subsidiaries of United Cities Gas Company. {(Page 58)
23. fonsent of Independent Public Accountants. {(Page 59)
27. Financial Data Schedule {for SEC use only).
56
</ TEXT>
< /DOCUMENT >

<DOCHMENT >

«<TYPE>EX-12.01

<SEQUENCE=>2

<DESCRIPTION-COMP. OF RATION OF CONB. EARMNINGS
<TEXT=

<PAGE> 1

EXHIBIT 12.401
UHITED CITIES GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF CONSOLIDATED EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

FQR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3i,

{In thousands, except ratio amounts)

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
1998 1395 1894 1393 1992
<8 <> <Cx <O <C> <C»>
Fixed Charges, as defined:
Interest on long-term debt ............. e 5 14,691 $ 13,687 8 14,026 3 14,553
amortization of debt discount .......... e 285 227 227 220

Total ... i e e K 14,966 H 13,924 5 14,253 1 14,773

Earnings, ag defined:

MNet income ............ ..., $ 17,202 ) 9,935 $ 12,083 3 12,1560 5 16,218
Taxes on income 10,006 6,970 6,503 5,681 5,171
Fixed charges, as above ........ ... .. i . 14,966 13,924 14,253 14,773 11,146
Total .. .cineinaennn e et e PP 1 28,535
Ratio of Consolidated Earnings to Fixed Charges ....... 2.17
</TABLE>
57
<« /TEXT>
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< /DOCUMENT »

«DOCUMENT >

«TYPE>EX-21

<SEQUENCE>3

<DESCRIPTION>SUBSIDIARIES OF UHNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY
<TEXT>

<PAGE> 1
EXHIRIT 2%

SUBSIDIARIES OF UNITED CITIES GAS COMPANY

<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
STATE OF
NAME INCORPORATION PERCENT OF STOCK

<85> <> <C»
United Cities Gas Storage Company Delaware 100%
UCG Energy Corporation Deiaware 100%
United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc {wholly-

owned subsidiary of UCG Energy Corperation} Tennessee 100%
UCG Leasing, Inc {wholly-owned subsidiary

of UCG Bnergy Corporation} Georgia 100%
</TABLE>

58

< /TEXT>

< /DOCUMENT »

<BOCUMENT»

<TYPE>EX-21

<SEQUENCE>4

<DESCRIPTIOH>COHNSENT OF IND. PUB. ACCT.
<TEXT>

<PAGE> i
EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

s independent public accountants, we hereby consent to the incorporation of
cur reports included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996 intoc the Company's previously filed Registration Statements on
Form S-8 for the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan (File No. 33-54759), on
Form S-3 for the Company's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plam (File
Mo, 333-01221), on Form S-3 For the Company's shelf registration {File No.
33-56983} and on Form $-3 for the Company‘'s Customer Stock Purchase Plan (File
Mo. 313-5679%9}).

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Mashville, Tennessee
March 20, 1997

5%

</TEXT>

< fOOCUMENT >

<DOCUMENT >

«TYPE>EXK-27

<SEQUENCE=G

<DESCRIPTION->FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULE
<TEXTz=

<TABLE> <5» =C»

<ARTICLE> UT

<LEGEND>
PHIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AND THE CCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME, CASH,
FLOWS AND CAPITALIZATION AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

</ LEGEND>

<HWULTIPLIER> 1,000

<S> <O
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<PERIOD-TYPRE> YEAR

<FISCAL-YEAR-END> DEC-31-19%6
«<PERIOD-START» JAN-01-19%6
<PERICD-END> DEC-31-19%¢
<BOOK-VALUE> PER-BOOK
<TOTAL~NET-UTILITY - PLANT 302,676
<OTHER - PROPERTY ~-AND-INVEST > 54,944
<« TOTAL-CURRENT-ASSETS > 126,962
«<TOTAL-DEFERRED-CHARGES> 29,060
<0THER~ASSETS » v
<TOTAL-ASSETS» 513,64%
<COMMON> 108, 056
<CAPITAL-SURPLUS-PAID-IN> 22,462
<RETAINED - EARNINGS > 26,768
<TOTAL-COMMON -STOCKHOLDERS -EQ > 187,284
<PREFERRED -MANDATORY » ¢
«<PREFERRED> g
<LONG-TERM-DEBT-NET> 152,459
<SHORT-TERM-NOTES=> 65,688
«<LONG-TERM-HOTES - PAYABLE> a
=COMMBRCIAL-PAPER-OQBLIGATIONS > 4
<LOHG-TERN-DEBT - CURRENT - PORT > 1,679
< PREFERRED- STOCK-CURRENT > 0
<CAPITAL-LEASE-OBLIGATIONS> 0
<LEASES ~-CURRENT» 0
<OTHER- ITEMS-CAPITAL-AND-LIAR> 129,139
<POT-CRPITALIZATION - AND-LIAE 513,649
<GROSS-OPERATING-REVENUE> 153,382
< THCOME-TAX -EXPENSE» 7,018
<OTHER-OPERATING- EKPENSES > 315,277
«TOTAL-OPERATING-EXPENSES > 326,295
<OPERATING- INCOME-LOSS > 27,087
<OTHER- INCOME-NET> 4,875
< INCOME -BEFORE - INTEREST -EXPEN> 31,962
«TOTAL- INTEREST -EXPENSE > 14,760
«<NET-INCOME> 17,202
< PREFERRED-STOCK-DIVIDENDS > 13
<EARNINGS -AVAILABLE-FOR-COMM> 17,202
<COMMON-STOCK-DIVIDENDS> 13,243
<TOTAL- INTEREST -ON-BOHNDS > 11,354
<CASH-FLOW-CPERATIONS > 27,731
<EPS-PRIMARY > 1.31
=EPS-DILUTED> 1.31
</TABLE>

</TEXT>

</DOCUMENT >
«/8EC-DOCUMENT »
————— END PRIVACY-ENHANCED MESSAGE-----
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156.

157,

158.

169.

160.

161.

162.

163.

164.

165.

166.

187,

168.

169.

Certificate of Existence and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Delaware as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Qualification dated July 23, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Alabama as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Existence dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Georgia as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from The United States Corporation
Company certifying that UCG Energy Corporation is in good standing in the State
of Georgia.

Certification of Authority and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of lllinois as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 22,1997, from the Secretary of State of
lowa as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certification of Authority and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Kansas as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certification of Authority and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Louisiana as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Existence and Authority dated July 23, 1997, from the Secretary of
State of Mississippi as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Corporate Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary
of State of Missouri as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
North Carolina as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 28, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
South Carolina as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Tennessee as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certification of Authority dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Texas as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certification of Account Status dated July 22, 1997, from the Texas Comptroller
of Public Accounts as to UCG Energy Corporation.

Certification of Authority and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the State
Corporation Commission of the Commonwealth of Virginia as to UCG Energy
Corporation.



170.

Certiticate of Corporate Secretary of UCG Energy Corporation dated July 29,
1997.

Exhibit A: Certificate of Incorporation of UCG Energy Corporation
Exhibit B: Bylaws of UCG Energy Corporation

E. Incorporation, Business Qualification and Authority Documents of UCG Leasing, Inc.

171.

172.

173.

174.

Copy of the Articles of Incorporation of UCG Leasing, Inc. certified by the
Secretary of State of Georgia.

Certificate of Existence dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Georgia as to UCG Leasing, Inc.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from The United States Corporation
Company certifying that UCG Leasing, Inc., is in good standing in the State of
Georgia.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
South Carolina as to UCG Leasing, Inc.

Certificate of Corporate Secretary of UCG Leasing, Inc., dated July 29, 1997.

Exhibit A: Articles of Incorporation of UCG Leasing, Inc.
Exhibit B: Bylaws of UCG Leasing, Inc.

F. Incumbency and Officers Certificates of United Cities Gas Company

175.

176.

Incumbency Certificate of United Cities Gas Company dated July 29, 1997.

Certificate of Corporate Officers of United Cities Gas Company dated July 29,
1997.

G. Resignation Letters

177.

178.

179.

180.

Resignation Letters of the Directors and Officers of UCG Energy Corporation.

Resignation Letters of the Directors and Officers of United Cities Gas Storage
Company.

Resignation Letters of the Directors and Officers of United Cities Propane Gas of
Tennessee, Inc.

Resignation Letters of the Directors and Officers of UCG Leasing, Inc.



H. Securities Act Rule 145 Affiliate Documents

181.

182.

183.

184.

185.

186.

187.

188.

189.

190.

191.

192,

193.

194.

195.

196.

Officer’s Certificate of United Cities Gas Company dated July 29, 1997, certifying
the names of those persons who are affiliates of United Cities Gas Company for
purposes of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 1, 1997, from Jerry H. Ballengee to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 1, 1997, from Dwight C. Baum to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 11, 1997, from Thomas R. Blose, Jr., to Atmos Energy
Corporation agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145,

Letter dated July 1, 1997, from Richard W. Cardin to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 2, 1997, from James B. Ford to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 1, 1997, from T.J. Garland to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated June 30, 1997, from Shirley M. Hawkins to Atmos Energy
Corporation agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated June 30, 1997, from Dale A. Keasling to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated June 7, 1997, from Gene C. Koonce to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 2, 1997, from Vincent J. Lewis to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 10, 1997, from Dennis L. Newberry to Atmos Energy
Corporation agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated June 30, 1997, from Stirton Oman, Jr., to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 11, 1997, from Glenn B. Rogers to Atmos Energy Corporation
agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated June 30, 1997, from Timothy W. Triplett to Atmos Energy
Corporation agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.

Letter dated July 1, 1997, from George C. Woodruff, Jr., to Atmos Energy
Corporation agreeing to comply with the provisions of Rule 145.



I. Opinion Letters

197.

198.

189,

J.

Opinion Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Chapman and Cutler to Atmos Energy
Corporation.

Certificate of Officers of United Cities Gas Company to Chapman and Cutler.

Opinion Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Thompson & Knight to Chapman and
Cutler and Atmos Energy Corporation.

Opinion Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Mark G. Thessin, Vice President —
Regulatory Affairs, United Cities Gas Company, to Chapman and Cutler and
Atmos Energy Corporation.

Termination of United Cities Gas Company Common Stock Plans, FEffective

Registration Statements and Nasdaq Stock Market Listing

200.

Certificate of the Secretary of United Cities Gas Company dated July 29, 1997,
as to Resolutions of the Board of Directors of United Cities Gas Company
authorizing the termination of the Shelf Program, the United Cities Gas Company
Non-Employee Director Stock Plan, the United Cities Gas Company Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, the United Cities Gas Company Customer Stock Purchase
Plan and the United Cities Gas Company Dividend Reinvestment and Stock
Purchase Plan; authorizing the deregistration of the common stock of United
Cities Gas Company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and authorizing
the termination of the Nasdaq Stock Market Listing of United Cities Gas
Company.

K. Documents Relating to Lost Stock Certificates

201.

202.

203.

204.

Joint Written Unanimous Consent to Corporate Action by the Sole Shareholder
and Board of Directors of UCG Leasing, Inc., dated July 24, 1997, concerning
lost share certificates.

Joint Written Unanimous Consent to Corporate Action by the Sole Shareholder
and Board of Directors of UCG Energy Corporation dated July 24, 1997,
concerning lost share certificates.

Joint Written Unanimous Consent to Corporate Action by the Sole Shareholder
and Board of Directors of United Cities Gas Storage Company dated July 24,
1997, concerning lost share certificates.

Joint Written Unanimous Consent to Corporate Action by the Sole Shareholder
and Board of Directors of United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc., dated
July 24, 1997, concerning lost share certificates.



lll. Documents Delivered at Closing — Atmos Energy Corporation

A. Incorporation, Business Qualification and Authority Documents of Atmos Energy

Corporation

205.  Copy of Restated Atrticles of Incorporation of Atmos Energy Corporation certified
by the Secretary of State of Texas.

206.  Certificate of Existence dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of Texas
as to Atmos Energy Corporation.
Certification of Account Status dated July 22, 1997, from the Texas Comptroller
of Public Accounts as to Atmos Energy Corporation.

207.  Certification of Authority and Good Standing dated July 11, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Colorado as to Atmos Energy Corporation.
Bring Down Telegram dated July 28, 1997, from The United States Corporation
Company certifying that Atmos Energy Corporation is in good standing in the
State of Colorado.

208. Certification of Authority and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of lllinois as to Atmos Energy Corporation.

209.  Certification of Authority and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Kansas as to Atmos Energy Corporation.

210.  Certificate of Authorization dated July 23, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
the Commonwealth of Kentucky as to Atmos Energy Corporation.

211.  Certification of Authority and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Louisiana as to Atmos Energy Corporation.

212.  Certificate of Corporate Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary
of State of Missouri as to Atmos Energy Corporation.

213.  Certificate of Corporate Secretary of Atmos Energy Corporation dated July 29,

1997.

Exhibit A: Restated Articles of Incorporation of Atmos Energy Corporation

Exhibit B: Bylaws of Atmos Energy Corporation

Exhibit C-1:  Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of Atmos Energy
Corporation at a Special Meeting held July 19, 1996

Exhibit C-2:  Resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of Atmos Energy
Corporation at a Special Meeting held October 3, 1996

Exhibit D: Minutes of a Special Meeting of the Shareholders of Atmos
Energy Corporation held November 12, 1996

B. Incumbency and Officers Certificates of Atmos Energy Corporation

214.

Incumbency Certificate of Atmos Energy Corporation dated July 29, 1997.



215.  Certificate of Corporate Officers of Atmos Energy Corporation dated July 29,
1997.

C. Documents Relating to Corporate Status and Good Standing of the Subsidiaries of
Atmos Energy Corporation

216.  Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Atmos Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is
active and in good standing in the State of Delaware.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Atmos Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is
active and in good standing in the State of Colorado.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Atmos Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is
active and in good standing in the State of Kansas.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Atmos Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is
active and in good standing in the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Atmos Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is
active and in good standing in the State of Louisiana.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Atmos Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is
active and in good standing in the State of Missouri.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Atmos Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is
active and in good standing in the State of Texas.

217.  Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Egasco, Inc., a Texas corporation, is active and in good
standing in the State of Texas.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Egasco, Inc., a Texas corporation, is active and in good
standing in the State of Colorado.

218.  Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Enermart, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is active and in
good standing in the State of Delaware.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation

Company certifying that Enermart, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is active and in
good standing in the State of Texas.

19



219.

220.

221,

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Enermart Trust, a Pennsylvania business trust, is active
and in good standing in the State of Pennsylvania.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Trans Louisiana Industrial Gas Company, Inc., a
Louisiana corporation, is active and in good standing in the State of Louisiana.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Western Kentucky Gas Resources Company, a
Delaware corporation, is active and in good standing in the State of Delaware.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Western Kentucky Gas Resources Company, a
Delaware corporation, is active and in good standing in the State of Louisiana.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Western Kentucky Gas Resources Company, a
Delaware corporation, is active and in good standing in the Commonwealth of
Kentucky.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that Western Kentucky Gas Resources Company, a
Delaware corporation, is active and in good standing in the State of Oklahoma.

D. Opinion Letters

222.

223.

Opinion Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Locke Purnell Rain Harrell to United
Cities Gas Company.

Opinion Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Glen A. Blanscet, Vice President,
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Atmos Energy Corporation, to
Locke Purnell Rain Harrell and United Cities Gas Company.

E. Stock Certificate Legends

224,

225.

Stock Certificate Legend for certificates of persons who are affiliates for purposes
of Securities Act Rule 145.

Stock Certificate Legend for certificates of Charles R. Lowe.

F. Miscellaneous Documents

226.

227.

Stock Exchange Agent Agreement dated July 28, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and BankBoston N.A.

Atmos Energy Corporation’s Secretary’s Certificate as to Resolutions adopted by
the Board of Directors of Atmos Energy Corporation relating to Atmos Energy
Corporation’s Assumption of the First Mortgage Bonds of United Cities Gas
Company and the Amendment of the Atmos Energy Corporation Supplemental
Executive Benefits Plan for Gene C. Koonce.



228.

229.

230.

231.

282,

233.

IV. Documents Delivered at Closing — Third Parties

Pooling Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Ernst & Young, LLP to the Board of
Directors of Atmos Energy Corporation.

Bring-Down Comfort Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Emst & Young, LLP to the
Board of Directors of Atmos Energy Corporation.

Pooling Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Arthur Andersen LLP to the Board of
Directors of United Cities Gas Company.

Bring-Down Comfort Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Arthur Andersen LLP to the
Board of Directors of United Cities Gas Company and the Board of Directors of
Atmos Energy Corporation.

Assurance letter dated July 29, 1997, from Atmos Energy Corporation to Arthur
Andersen LLP.

Tax Opinion Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Locke Purnell Rain Harrell to Atmos
Energy Corporation.

Representation Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Atmos Energy Corporation to
Locke Purnell Rain Harrell.

Representation Letter dated July 29, 1997, from United Cities Gas Company to
Locke Purnell Rain Harrell.

Tax Opinion Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Chapman and Cutler to United
Cities Gas Company.

Representation Letter dated July 29, 1997, from United Cities Gas Company to
Chapman and Cutler.

Representation Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Atmos Energy Corporation to
Chapman and Cutler.

V. Documents Executed and/or Filed at
Or Contemporaneously with Closing

A. Merger and Organizational Documents

234.

235.

Amendment No. 1 to Plan of Merger dated July 28, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and United Cities Gas Company.

Certificate of Merger of United Cities Gas Company, an lllinois and Virginia
Corporation, into Atmos Energy Corporation, a Texas corporation, from the
Secretary of State of Texas dated July 29, 1997, and effective July 31, 1997, at
11269 pum.



236.

237.

Articles of Merger of United Cities Gas Company, an lllinois and Virginia
corporation, with and into Atmos Energy Corporation, a Texas corporation, filed
with the Secretary of State of Texas on July 29, 1997.

Exhibit “A” - Plan of Merger by and between Atmos Energy Corporation and
United Cities Gas Company, an lllinois and Virginia corporation.

Exhibit “A” - Restated Articles of Incorporation of Atmos Energy
Corporation as Amended.

Assumed Name Certificate for the assumed name “United Cities Gas Company”
filed with the Secretary of State of Texas on July 29, 1997.

Certificate of Merger of United Cities Gas Company, a Virginia corporation, into
Atmos Energy Corporation, a Texas corporation, from the State Corporation
Commission of Virginia dated July 29, 1997, and effective July 31, 1997, at 11:59
p.m.

Articles of Merger of United Cities Gas Company, an lllinois and Virginia
corporation, with and into Atmos Energy Corporation, a Texas corporation, filed
with the Secretary of State of Texas on July 29, 1997.

Exhibit “A” - Plan of Merger by and between Atmos Energy Corporation and
United Cities Gas Company, an lllinois and Virginia corporation.

Exhibit “A” - Restated Articles of Incorporation of Atmos Energy
Corporation as Amended.

Certification issued by the State Corporation Commission of Virginia dated July
31, 1997.

Certificate of Merger of United Cities Gas Company, an lllinois corporation, into
Atmos Energy Corporation, a Texas corporation, from the Secretary of State of
lllinois dated July 29, 1997, and filed with the Recorder of Cook County, lllinois
on August 1, 1997, and the Recorder of Sangamon County, lllinois, on August
15, 1997.

Articles of Merger, Consolidation or Share Exchange of United Cities Gas
Company, an lllinois and Virginia corporation, with and into Atmos Energy
Corporation, a Texas corporation, filed with the Secretary of State of lllinois on
July 29, 1997.

Exhibit “A” - Plan of Merger by and between Atmos Energy Corporation and
United Cities Gas Company, an lllinois and Virginia corporation.

Exhibit “A” - Restated Articles of Incorporation of Atmos Energy
Corporation as Amended.

Certificate of fact of merger from the Secretary of State of lllinois dated July 31,
1997.

]
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Application to Adopt, Change or Cancel an Assumed Corporate Name for the
name “United Cities Gas Company” filed with the Secretary of State of Illinois on

July 31, 1997.

B. Atmos Energy Corporation Long-Term Stock Plan for the United Cities Gas Company
Division

238.

239.

240.

241.

242.

243.

244,

245.

246.

247.

248.

249,

250.

251,

Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Atmos Energy Corporation to United Cities Gas
Company confirming the assumption by Atmos of all rights, duties and
obligations under the United Cities Gas Company Long Term Stock Plan of 1989.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July 25, 1997, by and between Atmos

Energy Corporation and David Anglin.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July

29,

Energy Corporation and Thomas R. Blose, Jr.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and Adrienne Brandon.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July

Energy Corporation and William C. Carmon.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and Robert M. Elam.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and James B. Ford.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and Clyde W. Guy.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July

Energy Corporation and Shirley M. Hawkins.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and Tom S. Hawkins.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and Herbert L. Haynes.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and Lynn L. Hord.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and Donald L. Howard.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July
Energy Corporation and Paul E. Kennedy.

23

29,

29,

25,

29,

29,

28,

29,

25,

29,

29;

29,

1897,

1997,

1997,

1987,

1997,

1997,

1997,

1997,

1997,

1997,

1987,

1997,

by

by

by

by

by

by

by

by

by

and

and

and

and

and

and

and

and

and

and

and

and

between

between

between

between

between

between

between

between

between

between

between

between

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos

Atmos



252.

253.

254,

255.

256.

257.

258.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Gene C. Koonce.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July 28, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Ron McDowell.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Gary W. Price.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July 25, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Anthony W. Slayden.

Cumulative Award Agreement dated July 25, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Mark G. Thessin.

Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 29, 1997.

Prospectus for the Atmos Energy Corporation Long-Term Stock Plan for the
United Cities Gas Company Division.

C. Waivers of Closing Conditions

2589,

260.

Waiver of Closing Condition regarding James B. Ford dated July 29, 1997.

Waiver of Closing Condition regarding Gene C. Koonce dated July 29, 1997.

D. Employment Agreements

261.

262.

263.

Employment Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and Thomas R. Blose, Jr.

Termination Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and James B. Ford.

Employment Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and James B. Ford.

Employment Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and Gene C. Koonce.

E. Atmos Energy Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Participation
Documents

264.

265.

Participation Agreement dated as of August 1, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Thomas R. Blose, Jr.

Noncompetition Agreement dated as of August 1, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Thomas R. Blose, Jr.



266. Participation Agreement dated as of August 1, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Gene C. Koonce.

267.  Noncompetition Agreement dated as of August 1, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and Gene C. Koonce.

F. Transfers of Franchises

268.  Ordinance No. 1301 of the City of Radford, Virginia, adopted February 10, 1997,
accepted by Atmos Energy Corporation on July 29, 1997, and filed with the City
Clerk of Radford, Virginia, on August 11, 1997.

269. Notice of Merger dated July 31, 1997, to the Town of Nolensville, Tennessee,
filed with the Town Recorder on August 8, 1997.

G. Assumption of United Cities Gas Company Indentures

270.  Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 29, 1997, by and
among Atmos Energy Corporation and First Trust National Association and
Russell C. Bergman, supplementing Indenture of Mortgage dated as of July 15,
1959.

271.  First Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 29, 1997, by and between Atmos
Energy Corporation and First Trust National Association, supplementing
Indenture of Mortgage dated as of November 15, 1995.

Officers’ Certificate Pursuant to Section 1101(C) of the Indenture.

Opinion Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Chapman and Cutler to First Trust
National Association.

VI. Post-Closing Documents

A. Business Qualification and Other Merger Filings

Georgia

272.  Certificate of Authority to Transact Business dated October 20, 1997, issued by
the Secretary of State of Georgia to Atmos Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Withdrawal of United Cities Gas Company as a foreign corporation
issued by the Secretary of State of Georgia on January 15, 1998.

Hlinois

273. Amended Certificate of Authority dated September 11, 1997, issued by the
Secretary of State of lllinois to Atmos Energy Corporation and filed with the
Recorder of Sangamon County, lllinois.

Report Following Merger or Consolidation filed with the Secretary of State of
llinois on September 11, 1997.



274.  Application for Certificate of Authority of Atmos Energy Corporation filed with the
Secretary of State of lowa on August 27, 1997, and Acknowledgment of
Document Filed.

Acknowledgment of Document Filed dated December 19, 1997, acknowledging
the filing of the Certificate of Merger (as issued by the Secretary of State of
lllinois).

Certificate of Revocation dated February 23, 1998, revoking the certificate of
authority of United Cities Gas Company.

Kansas

275.  Certificate issued by the Secretary of State of Kansas on November 19, 1997,
evidencing filing in the State of Kansas of the merger of United Cities Gas
Company with and into Atmos Energy Corporation, and being recorded in the
Deed Records of Shawnee County, Kansas.

Certificate issued by the Secretary of State of Kansas on December 2, 1997,
registering the service mark “United Cities Gas Company” to Atmos Energy
Corporation.

Kentucky

276.  Application for Amended Certificate of Authority of Atmos Energy Corporation
filed with the Secretary of State of Kentucky on August 27, 1997, and the Clerk of
the County Court of Franklin County, Kentucky, on August 28, 1997.
Application for Certificate of withdrawal of United Cities Gas Company filed with
the Secretary of State of Kentucky on January 22, 1998.

Missouri

277. Certificate of the Secretary of State of Missouri dated September 5, 1997,

evidencing the filing of the merger of United Cities Gas Company into Atmos
Energy Corporation.

North Carolina

278.

Certificate of Authority dated September 16, 1997, issued by the Secretary of
State of North Carolina to Atmos Energy Corporation.

Certificate of Withdrawal by Reason of Merger dated September 16, 1997,
issued by the Secretary of State of North Carolina as to United Cities Gas
Company.



South Carolina

279.  Certificate of Authorization dated October 28, 1997, issued by the Secretary of
State of South Carolina to Atmos Energy Corporation.
Certificate of Merger issued by the Secretary of State of lllinois as filed with the
Secretary of State of South Carolina on December 19, 1997.

Tennessee

280. Certificate of Authority dated August 27, 1997, issued by the Secretary of State

of Tennessee to Atmos Energy Corporation.

B. Filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission

281.

282.

283.

284.

285.

Form 15 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 31, 1997, to
de-register United Cities Gas Company common stock registered under any
remaining effective registration statements after the close of business on July 31,
1997.

Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-3 Registration Statement
(Registration No. 33-56799) of United Cities Gas Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 30, 1997.

Order of the Securities and Exchange Commission declaring Post-Effective
Amendment effective as of August 14, 1997.

Post-Effective  Amendment No. 1 to Form S-3 Registration Statement
(Registration No. 333-01221) of United Cities Gas Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 30, 1997.

Order of the Securities and Exchange Commission declaring Post-Effective
Amendment effective as of August 14, 1997.

Post-Effective  Amendment No. 2 to Form S-3 Registration Statement
(Registration No. 33-56983) of United Cities Gas Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 30, 1997.

Order of the Securities and Exchange Commission declaring Post-Effective
Amendment effective as of August 14, 1997.

Post-Effective  Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8 Registration Statement
(Registration No. 33-54759) of United Cities Gas Company filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on July 30, 1997.



C. Nasdaq De-Listing

286. Letter dated July 29, 1997, from Chapman and Cutler to the Nasdaq National
Stock Market de-listing the common stock of United Cities Gas Company.

D. Exchange of Share Certificates

287.  Letter of Transmittal from BankBoston, N.A., Exchange Agent to the holders of
shares of Common Stock of United Cities Gas Company concerning the
exchange of such shares for shares of Common Stock of Atmos Energy
Corporation.

288. Letter of Welcome dated August 1, 1997, from Robert W. Best, Chairman,
President and CEO of Atmos Energy Corporation, to the former shareholders of
United Cities Gas Company.

E. FERC Approval

289.  Order of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission dated November 5, 1997,
authorizing the transfer of the limited certificates of authority of United Cities Gas
Company to Atmos Energy Corporation.

F.  Recording of Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture and Related Merger
Documents

290. State and County recording information concerning the filing of the Twenty-
Second Supplemental Indenture, Articles and/or Certificates of Merger and UCC-
2 Statements in Georgia, lllinois, lowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Missouri, South
Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia.

G. Press Releases

291.  Form 8-K of Atmos Energy Corporation filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 13, 1997.

292. Press Release dated October 15, 1997.

VII. Closing Memorandum

293. Closing Memorandum and Checklist.
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I. Pre-Merger Documents

A. Merger Agreement and Related Documents

1.

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated July 19, 1996, by and between
United Cities Gas Company and Atmos Energy Corporation.

Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated October 3,
1996, by and between United Cities Gas Company and Atmos Energy
Corporation.

Letter Agreement dated March 14, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and Atmos Energy Corporation extending the date for the
consummation of the merger from March 31, 1997 to August 31, 1997.

Fairness Opinion dated July 19, 1996, from Merrill Lynch to the Board of
Directors of Atmos Energy Corporation.
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Board of Directors of United Cities Gas Company.

B. Hart-Scott-Rodino Filing

6.

Notification and Report Form for Certain Mergers and Acquisitions filed with the
Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice pursuant to the Hart-
Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.

Letter dated November 26, 1996, from the Federal Trade Commission to Locke
Purnell Rain Harrell confirming the early termination of the waiting period under
the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act.

C. Registration of Shares

7.

Form S-4 Registration Statement (Registration No. 333-13429) filed by Atmos
Energy Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 4,
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Bring Down Comfort Letter dated October 4, 1996, from Ernst & Young LLP to
the Board of Directors of Atmos Energy Corporation.

Bring Down Comfort Letter dated October 4, 1996, from Arthur Andersen LLP to
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Corporation.



10.

11,

Letter of Assurance dated October 4, 1996, from Atmos Energy Corporation to
Arthur Andersen LLP.

Order of the Securities and Exchange Commission dated October 4, 1996,
declaring the Form S-4 Registration Statement effective at 12:15 p.m., Eastern
Standard Time, on October 4, 1996.

Preliminary Summary Opinion dated October 4, 1996, of Locke Purnell Rain
Harrell to Atmos Energy Corporation concerning the requirements of state Blue
Sky laws relating to the issuance shares in connection with the merger.

Supplemental Opinion dated January 17, 1997, of Locke Purnell Rain Harrell
concerning the exemption of the issuance of shares from state Blue Sky laws
under the provisions of the National Securities Markets Improvements Act of
1996.

D. Listing of Shares

12.

Listing Application for 13,600,000 Shares to the New York Stock Exchange, Inc.
dated July 24, 1997, approved by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc.

E. State Regulatory Approvals

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Order of the Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado dated
September 11, 1996, authorizing the issuance by Atmos Energy Corporation of
up to 16,000,000 shares of its common stock.

Order of the Georgia Public Service Commission dated January 22, 1997,
authorizing the merger of United Cities Gas Company with and into Atmos
Energy Corporation and authorizing the issuance by Atmos Energy Corporation
of up to 18,000,000 shares of its common stock.

Interim Order of the lllinois Commerce Commission dated October 9, 1996,
holding that Atmos Energy Corporation is not required to incorporate under the
laws of the State of lllinois.

Order of the lllinois Commerce Commission dated June 25, 1997, authorizing the
merger of United Cities Gas Company with and into Atmos Energy Corporation
and authorizing the issuance by Atmos Energy Corporation of up to 18,000,000
shares of its common stock.

Order Canceling Hearing, Authorizing Discontinuance of Service and Terminating
Docket dated December 19, 1996, of the lowa Ultilities Board.

Order Approving Stipulation and Agreement dated February 26, 1997, of the
State Corporation Commission of the State of Kansas.

Order of the Public Service Commission of the Commonwealth of Kentucky
authorizing the issuance by Atmos Energy Corporation of up to 16,000,000
shares of its common stock.
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19.

20.

21.

22:

Report and Order of the Public Service Commission of the State of Missouri
dated March 31, 1997, authorizing the merger of United Cities Gas Company
with and into Atmos Energy Corporation and authorizing the issuance by Atmos
Energy Corporation of up to 16,000,000 shares of its common stock.

Order of the Public Service Commission of South Carolina dated February 13,
1997, issuing Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity to Atmos Energy
Corporation and authorizing discontinuance of service by United Cities Gas
Company.

Order of the Tennessee Regulatory Authority dated January 24, 1997,
authorizing the merger of United Cities Gas Company with and into Atmos
Energy Corporation and authorizing the issuance by Atmos Energy Corporation
of up to 18,000,000 shares of its common stock.

Order of the State Corporation Commission of the Commonwealth of Virginia
dated February 20, 1997, authorizing the merger of United Cities Gas Company
with and into Atmos Energy Corporation, authorizing the issuance by Atmos
Energy Corporation of shares of its common stock and authorizing the issuance
of certificates of public convenience and necessity to Atmos Energy Corporation.

Order of the State Corporation Commission of the Commonwealth of Virginia
dated March 12, 1997, approving certain affiliate arrangements between Atmos
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F. Consents from and Agreements with Lenders of United Cities Gas Company and its
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23.

24,

25,

Letter dated July 23, 1997, from NationsBank to United Cities Gas Company and
United Cities Gas Storage Company consenting to the merger of United Cities
Gas Company with and into Atmos Energy Corporation in connection with the
$11,500,000 Senior Secured Term Notes Due 2007 and the $1,000,000 Senior
Secured Floating Rate Note Due June 1, 1998.

Seventh Amendment to Credit Facility Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and
between NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A. and United Cities Gas Storage
Company.

First Amendment to Credit Facility Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and
between NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A. and United Cities Propane Gas of
Tennessee, Inc.

Guaranty Agreement dated July 29, 1997, executed by UCG Energy Corporation
in favor of NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A., regarding Credit Facility Agreement
dated December 15, 1995, by and between NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A. and
United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

First Amendment to Negative Pledge Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and
between NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A. and United Cities Propane Gas of
Tennessee, Inc.



26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

&t

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

Assumption and Modification Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between
United Cities Gas Company, Atmos Energy Corporation and First American
National Bank regarding Master Promissory Note dated June 25, 1997, in the
principal amount of $17,500,000.

Letter dated July 28, 1997, from Bank of Montreal to Atmos Energy Corporation
regarding United Cities Gas Company’s unsecured $17,500,000 Line of Credit.

Letter dated November 22, 1996, from NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A. to UCG
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certain Negative Pledge and Loan Agreement dated as of November 22, 1996,
by and between NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A. and UCG Energy Corporation.

Letter dated January 31, 1997, from NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A. to United
Cities Gas Company accepting Atmos Energy Corporation as borrower under the
$10,500,000 Line of Credit and Promissory Note of United Cities Gas Company.

Consents of Bondholders of United Cities Gas Company

Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
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Consent Agreements dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and Allstate Life Insurance Company.

Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and American United Life Insurance Company.

Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
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Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and Atwell & Co.

Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and Cudd & Co.

Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and First Colony Life Insurance Company.

Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and The Franklin Life Insurance Company.

Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Co.
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Company and Jefferson — Pilot Life Insurance Company.
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Consent Agreement dated June 17, 1997, by and between United Cities Gas
Company and John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company.

Consents from and Agreements with Lenders of Atmos Energy Corporation

Letter Agreement dated May 21, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and American General Life Insurance Company.

Letter Agreement dated June 3, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company.

Letter Agreement dated June 19, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and Mellon Bank N.A.

Letter Agreement dated May 21, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and Merit Life Insurance Company.

Letter Agreement dated May 21, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and NationsBank of Texas, N.A.

Letter Agreement dated June 11, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and New York Life Insurance Company.

Letter Agreement dated May 21, 1997, by and between Atmos Energy
Corporation and The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company.

Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between
Atmos Energy Corporation and John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company
regarding Note Purchase Agreement dated October 11, 1989.

Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between
Atmos Energy Corporation and John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company
regarding Note Purchase Agreement dated December 21, 1987.

Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between
Atmos Energy Corporation and Mellon Bank N.A., Trustee Under Master Trust
Agreement of AT&T Corporation Dated January 1, 1984 for Employee Pension
Plans — AT&T - John Hancock — Private Placement, regarding Note Purchase
Agreement dated December 21, 1987.

Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between
Atmos Energy Corporation, New York Life Insurance Company, New York Life
Insurance and Annuity Corporation, The Variable Annuity Life Insurance
Company, American General Life Insurance Company and Merit Life Insurance
Company, regarding Note Purchase Agreement dated November 14, 1994,
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Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 1997, by and between
Atmos Energy Corporation and The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company
regarding Note Purchase Agreement dated August 29, 1991.
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Atmos Energy Corporation and The Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company
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. Franchisor Consents

56.
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61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

Letter dated January 22, 1997, from the City Manager of Columbus, Georgia
consent to transfer of franchise not required in connection with merger.

Resolution BR 97-21 of the City of Gainesville, Georgia dated March 18, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 290 of the City of Altamont, lllinois dated January 27, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 342 of the Village of Beecher City, lllinois dated February 6, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 012197 of the Village of Brownstown, lllinois dated January 21,
1997, authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 1997-2-3-1 of the Village of Farina, lllinois dated February 3,
1997, authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 687 of the City of St. Elmo, lllinois dated April 7, 1997, authorizing
transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 1997-2-3 of the Village of St. Peter, lllinois dated February 3,
1997, authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 3998 of the City of Hannibal, Missouri dated February 18, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 97-03 of the City of Brentwood, Tennessee dated February 10,
1997, authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 97-06 of the City of Franklin, Tennessee dated March 25, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 4346 of the City of Kingsport, Tennessee dated February 18,
1997, authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance of the Metropolitan Government of Lynchburg/Moore County,
Tennessee dated February 17, 1997, authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 97-12 of the City of Maryville, Tennessee dated March 4, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.
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70.

1.

2.

73.

74.

/5.

76.

T

78.

78,

80.

Ordinance No. 97-0-11 of the City of Murfreesboro, Tennessee dated March 20,
1997, authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 2-97 of the City of Shelbyville, Tennessee dated January 9, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 97-1 of the Town of Spring Hill, Tennessee dated February 17,
1997, authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance of the Town of Abingdon, Virginia dated March 3, 1997, authorizing
transfer of franchise.

Letter dated December 6, 1996, from the Town Attorney of the Town of
Blacksburg, Virginia confirming that formal transfer of franchise is unnecessary
under Virginia law.

Ordinance of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia dated January 21, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 97-1 of the Town of Dublin, Virginia dated March 20, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance of the Town of Glade Spring, Virginia dated February 3, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 97-4 of the Town of Pulaski, Virginia dated January 21, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

Ordinance of the Town of Saltville, Virginia dated February 11, 1997, authorizing
transfer of franchise.

Ordinance No. 1077 of the Town of Wytheville, Virginia dated March 10, 1997,
authorizing transfer of franchise.

J. Consent of Woodward Marketing, L.L.C.

81.

Amendment No. 1 to Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. Transfer Restriction
Agreement, effective July 31, 1997, by and among Woodward Marketing, L.L.C.,
Woodward Marketing, Inc., UCG Energy Corporation, J.D. Woodward, Ill, and
James Kifer.

K. Consents of Lessors

82.

83.

Consent Letter dated May 31, 1997, executed by Appalachian Properties, Inc.,
authorizing assignment and assumption of Lease Agreement dated November 6,
1981, between Appalachian Properties, Inc., as Lessor, and United Cities Gas
Company, as Lessee.

Consent Letter dated May 31, 1997, executed by Bane & White, a Virginia
partnership, authorizing assignment and assumption of Lease Agreement dated



84.

85.

86.

87.

88.

October 29, 1992, between Bane & White, as Lessor, and United Cities Gas
Company, as Lessee.

Consent Letter dated May 31, 1997, executed by The Industrial Development
Board of Blount County, Tennessee, authorizing assignment and assumption of
Lease Agreement and Grant of Options to Purchase dated October 31, 1983,
between The Industrial Development Board of Blount County, Tennessee, as
Landlord, and United Cities Gas Company, as Tenant.

Consent Letter dated May 31, 1997, executed by Donald D. Jones and J.B.
McCarty, Jr., authorizing assignment and assumption of Lease Agreement dated
July 17, 1981, between Donald D. Jones and J.B. McCarty, Jr., as Lessor, and
United Cities Gas Company, as successor to Tennessee-Virginia Energy
Corporation, as Lessee.

Consent Letter dated May 31, 1997, executed by JTAR Rentals authorizing
assignment and assumption of Lease Agreement dated October 5, 1994,
between JTAR Rentals, as Lessor, and United Cities Gas Company, as Lessee.

Consent Letter dated May 31, 1997, executed by Knickerbocker Properties, Inc.
XXI authorizing assignment and assumption of Lease dated March 1, 1990,
between Knickerbocker Properties, Inc. XXI, as successor in interest to
Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, as successor in interest to Corporate
Woods Associates, as Landlord, and United Cities Gas Company, as Tenant.

Consent Letter dated May 31, 1997, exeucted by J. Blair Spillman and Betty E.
Spillman authorizing assignment and assumption of Lease Agreement dated May
18, 1994, between J. Blair Spillman and Betty E. Spillman, as Lessor, and United
Cities Gas Company, as Lessee.

L. Tenant Estoppel Certificates

89.

90.

Q1.

92.

93.

94.

Tenant Estoppel Certificate executed by Boat Locker Corporation of Franklin,
Tennessee, pertaining to Lease dated February 1, 1997, with United Cities Gas
Company, as Landlord.

Tenant Estoppel Certificate executed by Dr. Vital Chapa pertaining to Lease
dated June 24, 1996, with United Cities Gas Company, as Landlord.

Tenant Estoppel Certificate executed by Robert W. Dodd, Attorney, pertaining to
Lease dated June 24, 1996, with United Cities Gas Company, as Landlord.

Tenant Estoppel Certificate executed by Golden Sky Systems, Inc., pertaining to
Lease dated June 1, 1997, with United Cities Gas Company, as Landlord.

Tenant Estoppel Certificate executed by Independence Travel Service pertaining
to Lease dated May 1, 1997, with United Cities Gas Company, as Landlord.

Tenant Estoppel Certificate executed by Jean-Michael Link, D.D.S., pertaining to
Lease dated June 13, 1996, with United Cities Gas Company, as Landlord.



95.

Tenant Estoppel Certificate executed by Townley Manufacturing Company
pertaining to Lease dated February 29, 1996, with United Cities Gas Company,
as Landlord.

M. Other Third-Party Consents

96.

Consent Letter dated May 31, 1997, executed by Texas Gas Transmission
Corporation authorizing assignment and assumption of Agreement for Field
Operating Services dated June 8, 1989, between United Cities Gas Company, as
Owner, and TXG Engineering, Inc., as Engineer, as subsequently assigned to
Texas Gas Transmission Corporation by Engineer.

N. Consents of Merging Parties

97.

8.

Consent Letter dated February 17, 1997, from Atmos Energy Corporation to
United Cities Gas Company as to various matters requiring Atmos’ consent
under the Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, as amended.

Consent Letter executed on June 9, 1997, by United Cities Gas Company as to
various matters requiring United Cities’ consent under the Agreement and Plan of
Reorganization, as amended.

O. Termination of United Cities Gas Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

99.

100.

101.

102.

103.

104.

105.

106.

Minutes of a Special Meeting of the Board of Directors of United Cities Gas
Company on July 19, 1996, and excerpt from the Minutes of the Meeting of the
Board of Directors of United Cities Gas Company on May 2, 1997, authorizing
the termination of the United Cities Gas Company Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan (“SERP”).

Agreement dated August 7, 1996, between David L. Anglin and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 7, 1996, between Thomas B. Blose, Jr., and United
Cities Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 7, 1996, between Adrienne H. Brandon and United
Cities Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 23, 1996, between William Craig Carmon and United
Cities Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 7, 1996, between Robert M. Elam and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 1, 1996, between James B. Ford and United Cities Gas
Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 20, 1996, between Clyde W. Guy, Jr. and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.
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107.

108.

109.

110.

111

112.

11.3L

114,

115.

116.

117.

118.

119.

120.

Agreement dated August 1, 1996, between Shirley M. Hawkins and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 23, 1996, between Tom S. Hawkins, Jr. and United
Cities Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 1, 1996, between Herbert L. Haynes and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 1, 1996, between Lynn Hord and United Cities Gas
Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 1, 1996, between Don L. Howard and United Cities Gas
Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 14, 1996, between Paul Kennedy and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated October 25, 1996, between Gene C. Koonce and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 20, 1996, between Ronald McDowell and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 8, 1996, between Gary W. Price and United Cities Gas
Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 7, 1996, between Glenn B. Rogers and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 2, 1996, between Anthony W. Slayden and United
Cities Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Agreement dated August 22, 1996, between Mark G. Thessin and United Cities
Gas Company waiving and releasing rights and claims under the SERP.

Consent to Payment of Additional Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
Payments dated July 29, 1997, executed by Atmos Energy Corporation.

Letter dated July 29, 1997, from United Cities Gas Company to Atmos Energy
Corporation advising of the termination of the United Cities Gas Company
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan effective at 11:59 p.m., Eastern time,
on July 31, 1997.

P. Agreements Relating to United Cities Gas Company Benefit Plans

121.

Letter agreement dated July 23, 1997, between Atmos Energy Corporation and
United Cities Gas Company concerning the termination of the United Cities Gas
Company Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
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122, Letter agreement dated July 24, 1997, between Atmos Energy Corporation and
United Cities Gas Company concerning limited assumption of obligations under
United Cities Gas Company Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan.

Q. Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

123. Letter agreement dated July 23, 1997, between Atmos Energy Corporation and
United Cities Gas Company relating to the purchase by Atmos of directors and
officers liability insurance for the coverage of officers and directors of United
Cities Gas Company.

R. Pre-Merger Business Qualifications of Atmos Energy Corporation

124.  Certificate of Authority to Transact Business dated July 15, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of lllinois as to Atmos Energy Corporation, a Texas
corporation.

125.  Certificate of Authority to Transact Business dated July 21, 1997, from the State
Corporation Commission of the Commonwealth of Virginia as to Atmos Energy
Corporation, a Texas corporation.

Il. Documents Delivered at Closing — United Cities Gas Company

A. Incorporation, Business Qualification and Authority Documents of United Cities Gas
Company

126. Copy of United Cities Gas Company’s Articles of Incorporation and all
amendments thereto certified by the Secretary of State of lllinois.

127.  Certificate of Existence and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, as to United
Cities Gas Company from the Secretary of State of lllinois.

128. Copy of United Cities Gas Company’s Articles of Incorporation and all
amendments thereto certified by the State Corporation Commission of the
Commonwealth of Virginia.

129. Certificate of Existence and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, as to United
Cities Gas Company from the State Corporation Commission of the
Commonwealth of Virginia.

130. Certificate of Existence dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Georgia as to United Cities Gas Company.

Bring Down Telegram dated July 25, 1997, from the United States Corporation
Company certifying that United Cities Gas Company is in good standing in the
State of Georgia.

131.  Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, as to United Cities Gas
Company from the Secretary of State of lowa.



132.

133.

134.

135.

136.

137.

138.

Certificate of Authority and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, as to United
Cities Gas Company from the Secretary of State of Kansas.

Certificate of Authorization and Good Standing dated July 23, 1997, as to United
Cities Gas Company from the Secretary of State of the Commonwealth of
Kentucky.

Certificate of Corporate Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, as to United Cities
Gas Company from the Secretary of State of Missouri.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, as to United Cities Gas
Company from the Secretary of State of North Carolina.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, as to United Cities Gas
Company from the Secretary of State of South Carolina.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, as to United Cities Gas
Company from the Secretary of State of Tennessee.

Certificate of Corporate Secretary of United Cities Gas Company dated July 29,
1997.

Exhibit A-1:  Certified Articles of Incorporation and amendments — lllinois

Exhibit A-2:  Certified Articles of Incorporation and amendments — Virginia

Exhibit B: Bylaws of United Cities Gas Company

Exhibit C-1:  Resolutions of the Board of Directors of United Cities Gas
Company — Special Meeting of July 19, 1996

Exhibit C-2:  Resolutions of the Board of Directors of United Cities Gas
Company — Special Meeting of October 3, 1996

Exhibit D: Minutes of Special Meeting of the Shareholders of United Cities
Gas Company dated November 12, 1996

B. Incorporation, Business Qualification and Authority Documents of United Cities Gas
Storage Company

139.

140.

141.

142.

143.

Copy of the Certificate of Incorporation of United Cities Gas Storage Company
certified by the Secretary of State of Delaware.

Certificate of Existence and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Delaware as to United Cities Gas Storage Company.

Certificate of Authority and Good Standing dated July 25, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Kansas as to United Cities Gas Storage Company.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 23, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
the Commonwealth of Kentucky as to United Cities Gas Storage Company.

Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Tennessee as to United Cities Gas Storage Company.



144.  Certificate of Corporate Secretary of United Cities Gas Storage Company dated
July 29, 1997.
Exhibit A: Certificate of Incorporation of United Cities Gas Storage Company
Exhibit B: Bylaws of United Cities Gas Storage Company

C. Incorporation, Business Qualification and Authority Documents of United Cities

Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

145. Copy of the Charter of United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc. certified by
the Secretary of State of Tennessee.

146. Certificate of Existence dated July 28, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Tennessee as to United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

147.  Certificate of Authorization dated July 23, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Alabama as to United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

148. Certificate of Authorization and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of lllinois as to United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

149.  Certificate of Authorization dated July 23, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
Indiana as to United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

150. Certificate of Authorization dated July 23, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
the Commonwealth of Kentucky as to United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee,
Inc.

151. Certificate of Authorization dated July 22, 1997, from the Secretary of State of
North Carolina as to United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

152.  Certificate of Authorization and Good Standing dated July 24, 1997, from the
Secretary of State of Ohio as to United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

153.  Certificate of Authorization and Good Standing dated July 22, 1997, from the
State Corporation Commission of the Commonwealth of Virginia as to United
Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

154.  Certificate of Corporate Secretary of United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee,
Inc., dated July 29, 1997.
Exhibit A: Charter of United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.
Exhibit B: Bylaws of United Cities Propane Gas of Tennessee, Inc.

D. Incomporation, Business Qualification and Authority Documents of UCG Energy

Corporation

155.  Copy of Certificate of Incorporation of UCG Energy Corporation certified by the

Secretary of State of Delaware.





